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IN APPRECIATION
One of New Mexico's prime attractions, both to its own residents as

well as to outsiders,is its rich and deep history. Nowhere did Indian socie­
ty have greater historical impact, nor was there any area of the United
States to which imperial Spain bequeathed such an indelible legacy. The
pioneer period completes the trilogy and vies for historical attention.

With this historical background, today's society in the Land of En­
chantment has need for substantial information concerning New Mexico.
Chief vehicle for periodical publication concerning the state is the New
Mexico Historical Review, which was born in 1926. In it, articles of maxi­
mum value have appeared quarterly for over a half century, represen­
ting a great treasury of authoritative information. However, with the
passage of time some of the most important issues of the Review have
become unavailable, with these out-of-print issues accessible at high
prices at rare book shops, or sometimes unobtainable at any price. With a
growing population desirous of becoming better informed concerning
New Mexico, the need to provide availability to such important material
became apparent.

The present reprint program was only a scholar's dream until far­
sighted citizens became likewise convinced of the utility of making
available a storehouse of knowledge, particularly focusing their concern
on educational need for republication. Max Roybal, Bennie Aragon,
Robert Aragon, Mike Alarid and Adele Cinelli-Hunley provided effective
leadership. Legislators Don L. King and Alex Martinez presented Senate
Bill #8 to the 1980 session of the New Mexico State Legislature and used.
their influence and that of Governor and Mrs. Bruce King to insure
favorable consideration. The Board of the NMHR, speaking for followers
of New Mexico's important history, warmly thanks these friends for such
support.

Donald C. Cutter
Chairman, Editorial Board, NMHR

Cover design byJan Carley, graphic artist, College ofEducation, University ofNew
Mexico, Albuquerque.
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ANTOINE LEROUX, NEW MEXICO GUIDE

By GRANT FOREMAN

A NTOINE LEROUX was born of French Canadian parents
who ca~e to St. Louis at an early day. The dates which

Leroux himself gave at differe"nt times show some discrep­
ancy, but he seems to have been born in, or about, the year
1803.1 At the age of nineteen, he was one of the young men
who answered an advertisement of Sir William Henry Ash­
ley; and he got his first acquaintance of the Far West as a
member of the Ashley expedition of 1822. About two years
later, perhaps by the summer of 1824, he arrived in Taos,
New Mexico, and his written statement of March, 1853,
shows that he regarded Taos as his home from the time of
his marriage. This took place in November, 1833, as appears
from the marriage register now in the Archiepiscopal Ar­
chive of Santa Fe.2

It would seem that Leroux soon came to be regarded as

1. Since Ashley did not enter the fur trade until 1822, Leroux could not have
been employed by him in 1820 as he wrote in the statement for Senator Benton in 1858.
See below.

2. This marriage record is of such interest in several ways that its text is given
in full at the close of Mr. Foreman's paper.

A tradition at Taos has it that Leroux, in later life, moved across the mountains
into the Mora valley and died there. This was true of Antonio Ledoux (one of the
witnesses at the marriage of Leroux). The land holding in "los valles de Santa
Gertrudis de 10 de Mora," attributed by Twitchell (Spanish Archives. I, 143, title 478)
to Leroux, was really that of Ledoux. The burial record of the latter (Santa F~.

Archiepiscopal Archive, Book B-14, Mora. 1856-60), dated Nov. 16, 1859, shows that
Ledoux was born in 1779 and was husband, of Apolonia Lucero, resident of the
plaza of Santa Gertrudis. Leroux's connection was in the Taos valley and is listed
in Twitchell, Spanish Archives, I, 485, Private Land Claim No. 47.-editor.

367
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an honored citizen of the Taos valley. This is indicated by
the names of those who assisted at the marriage: Charles
Bent, Marfa Ignacia Jaramillo, Carlos Beaubien, Antonio
Ledoux. Moreover, his marriage identified him with the
prominent Vigil family, members of which had, in 1742,
secured a land grant that took in the choicest part of the
Taos valley-including the present village of Taos.a Acting
as agent for the heirs, Leroux had the Santa Fe firm of
Smith and Houghton 4 begin action for the confirming of
the grant. Because of this connection, the claim is known in
the records as the "Antoine Leroux Grant."5 Significant
also is an interlude in his engagements as guide during the
year 1849. It was in September, 1849, that nineteen dele­
gates assembled in convention at Santa Fe to prepare a ter­
ritorial plan of government for New Mexico and to elect a
delegate to congress. Three of the nineteen were from Taos
county: Ceran St. Vrain, Father Antonio Jose Martinez,
and Antonio Leroux.G

Leroux was one of a class of famous mountain men,
celebrated as a guide and scout, and spoken of with great
respect by all who knew that class of men. An early biogra­
pher of Kit Carson credited Leroux with character and
talents similar to those of his subject. The partisans and
friends of these early residents of Taos were wont to com­
pare them; but, the biographer says, "It is a just tribute of
praise due to both of these brave men, to say that they did
not sanction by word or deed either party to the controversy.
They came to appreciate each other, and as friends even felt

3. Santa Fe, u. S. Land Office. Land Claim. RectYrd, vol. II, 493-507, "Antoine
Leroux Grant." The original grant was made (Aug. 12, 1742) by Governor Gaspar
Domingo de Mendoza on petition of Pedro Vigil de Santillana, Juan Bautista Vigil
and Crist6val Vigil.

4. Probably Hugh N. Smith iB meant. He had been apPointed attorney general
in 1846, while Joab Houghton had served as chief justice 1846-49.

5. Action was started May 21, 1857, but was delayed by a protest of the Taos
Indians." They withdrew their protest in September 1861 after receiving a deed for
land which they claimed; and a few days later (Oct. 5. 1861) U. S. Surveyor General
A. P. Wilbar recommended confirmation of the Leroux grant; congressional approval
was dated March 3, 1869.

6. Twitchell, Leading Fact. of New Mexican Hist011/, ii, 269, note.
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elated, the one at the success of the other and vice versa ...
Their ranches were located in the same valley and in the
same town where, having lived together as fast friends in
life, they found their last resting place in the same grave­
yard."7 At least the last statement is a mistake, as we shall
see; but it is an interesting fact that their associates made
such a comparison between Carson and Leroux.

During the Mexican War, Leroux was a faithful and
efficient guide for army officers, notably for Col. Philip St.
George Cooke while, in 1846, he was taking his Mormon Bat­
talion from Santa Fe to California. Cooke acknowledged
his services in terms of high praise, and spoke of him as the
most sensible and experienced of guides.8

Leroux was the leader of the company of scouts
attached to an expedition made by Company G of the First
Dragoons, under Lieut. Joseph H. Whittlesey, that marched
from Taos in March, 1849, against the Utes. During the
next October, he and Kit Carson guided Maj. William N.
Grier in a fruitless pursuit of the Indians who, at Point of
Rocks, east of Taos, had captured Mrs. J. M. White and
daughter of Virginia, after killing her husband and other
members of their party.9

Leroux served as guide for Capt. Lorenzo Sitgreaves
during his exploring tour from Zuni to the Colorado River
and California in 1851, and contributed much to the success
of the expedition. 10 In San Diego in the following April,
desiring to return home, he offered his services to John R.
Bartlett who was engaged in surveying the Mexican boun­
dary. Bartlett says he gladly accepted the services of the
"celebrated guide" to get him through to New Mexico, and

7. Dewitt C. Peters, Kit Carson's Life and Adventures (Hartford, Conn., 1874),
p. 388.

8. House Executive Document No. 41, 30th Congress, 1st session, 4'Notes of a
Military Reconnoissance," p. 416, Report of Philip St. George Cooke.

9. Blanche C. Grant, When Old Trails Were New: the Story of Taos (New York,
1934). pp. 158-9.

10. Report of an Expedition down the Zuili and Colorado Rivers by Capt. L. Sit·
greaves, Corps of Topographical Engineers (Washington, 1854), 32nd Congress, 2nd
session, Senate Executive Document No. 59.
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turned his outfit to him to organize and manage.H When
they arrived at the Maricopa village on the Gila River, Bart­
lett says, "Leroux found a chief named Blanco who headed
the Maricopa Indians in a fight in 1827 with a party of
hunters and trappers from New Mexico, including Leroux,
who barely escaped with their lives."12

The year 1853 was a busy one for Leroux. Senator
Thomas H. Benton, though he had not been returned to con-.
gress, was immensely interested in promoting the proposed
Central Railroad route from St. Louis to California. Because
of the absence of Senator Benton and his son-in-law, Colonel
Fremont, from congress, and also because of the divergent
interest of Secretary of War Jeff Davis, attention had been
attracted to the Memphis or southern route to such an ex­
tent that in congressional consideration it had acquired a
great advantage over the central route. But the recent
authorization by congress for examination and surveys of
routes to California seemed to promise adequate considera­
tion of the central route. Senator Benton, relying greatly
on the explorations of Fremont, contributed many letters to
the press in which he quoted Fremont and other explorers to
demonstrate the advantage of this route through the present
Colorado.

In support of Senator Benton's efforts, Leroux appar­
ently had been induced to visit Washington, to contribute
his information to the subject. His efforts took the form of
an interesting account, obviously prepared at the instance of
Senator Benton, which reads as follows:

At the request of Col. Benton, I, Antoine Leroux, native
of St. Louis, of Missouri, and now an inhabitant of Taos, in
New Mexico, do make the following statement in relation
to the Pass at the head of the valley of the Del Norte, and of
the country on each side of that Pass; and also, as to the best

11. John R. Bartlett. Personal Narrative of Explorations and Incidents Con­
nected with the United States and Mexican Boundary Commis.•ion (New York, 1854).
I, p. 206.

12. Ibid. Evidently this trapping party did not go through to California, for it
is not one of "the four times" mentioned below by Leroux.
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road from Missouri to California. And first I tell how I
got acquainted with the country.13

In the year 1820 when I was in my nineteenth year,14
I joined Gen. Ashley and Major Henry in an expedition of
hunting and trapping to the Upper Missouri and Rocky
Mountains; and after near two years in that part I went to
Taos, in New Mexico, and afterwards married there,15 and
have made it my home ever since; and from that place I
carried on the business of a beaver trapper for about fifteen
years, generally on the waters of the Great Colorado of the
West; and have trapped the whole country, every river,
creek, and branch from the Gila to the head of the Grand
River fork of the Upper Colorado, and out to the Great Salt
Lake, and on the waters of Wah Satch Mountain, and out to
the Virgin River, and have been four times to California,
and guide to a great many American officers employed in
Mexico, and know the country from New Mexico to Cali­
fornia.

At the head of the Valley of the Del Norte there is a
broad pass about eight miles wide, called by the Utah In­
dians Coo-cha-tope, and by the Mexican Spaniards, EI
Puerto, and which signifies in both languages, the Gap, or
the Gate,. and has been known to the Spaniards ever since
they settled in New Mexico, and by the Indians always. It
is made by the Sie1'ra San Juan, which comes up from the
south on the west side of the Del Norte and gives out there;
and by the Sierra Blanca, which comes in from the east
like it was going to join the San Juan, but turns off north
round the head of the Arkansas and towards the Three
Parks, and is eight miles wide. Here between these two
mountains is the pass 16 which goes out level from the valley
of the Del Norte (and looking like a continuation of it),
which leads to the upper waters of the Great Colorado of the
West. The Del Norte does not head in this pass, but in the
San Juan mountains, a little south of the pass where there

13. For a biographical account of Leroux see Des Canad£ens de L'Ouest by
Joseph Tasse (Montreal, 1878). 231 fT.

14. As noted above. the year here should read "1822." A still greater error
appears in the record of a carta de naturaleza (naturalizati')n paper) issued at Santa
Fe on Sept. 17, 1830, to "Antonio Loruo," one of a group of French Canadians from
St. Louis. With little doubt this was Antoine Leroux, but his age was given as "35"­
which would place his birth in 1795.--editor.

15. Santa Fe, Archiepiscopal Archive, Book M-40, Marriages, Taos, 1323-45, fT.
4v-5r.

16. Cochetopa Pass of today.
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is also a summer pass,17 but none for the winter on account
of the snow in it. There is a small creek in the pass 18 called
by the same name, Coo-cha-tope, which comes out from the
end of the San Juan and goes about eight miles east towards
the Del Norte, but stops in a small lake, out of which a little
stream gets to the Del Norte-which shows how level the
country is. The pass is heavily timbered with large pine
trees, and with pinon, and there may be some small oaks, but
I am not certain. There is not much snow in this pass,
and people go through all the winter; and when thpTe is
much snow on the mountains on the Abiquiu route (which is
the old Spanish trail to California), the people of Taos go
round this way and get into that trail in the forks of the
Grand and Green rivers. There are trails through it, but
after you get through there are many trails, some going to
the Abiquiu road, and some up or down the country. This
pass is laid down on a map I saw in the War Office made py
Lieut. Parke and Mr. R. H. Kern, and is there named after
me, because I gave Lieut. Parke information about it. It is
the only map I have seen that shows that pass, and the best
one I have seen in that part of the country, and with a little
correction would be perfect. As for the country on each side
of the pass, I will describe it, and on the east side first.

There is a large valley to the east, about 50 to 60 miles
wide, and near 100 miles long, reaching from the Coo-cha­
tope to the Taos settlements, at the Little Colorado.19 The
Del Norte runs through this valley, which is the widest and
best valley in all New Mexico, and can hold more people
than all New Mexico besides. It is all prairie except on the
creeks, and on the river, and on the mountain sides, which
are well wooded. It is a rich soil, and covered with good
grass, and wooded on all the streams. The Spaniards called
it EI Valle de San Luis, and it was formerly famous for
wild horses and buffaloes; and ever since Taos was settled
by the Spaniards, the inhabitants drove their sheep and
cattle there to winter. Before the Utah Indians became so
bad, the stock, as many as 50,000 or 60,000 head of sheep and
cattle have been driven there to winter, which they did well,
feeding on the grass during the day, and sheltering in the
woods about the shepherd's camp at night. Most of the win­
ters, there is no snow along the foot of the mountain on the

17. Probably Spring Pass of today, Leroux Pass on the Parke Map.
18. Again speaking of Coehetopa Pass.
19. Red River of today, 20 miles north of Taos where the San Luis valley begins.
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north side of this valley, being sheltered from the north,·
and open to the sun to the south. .

The United States have established a military post in
this valley, not far from the pass of EI Sangre de Cristo, and
about two hundred families have gone there to live, chiefly
near the fort, and raised crops there last year, and now
that they have protection, the valley will soon be all settled,
and will be the biggest and best part of New Mexico. About
three families more were preparing to move there. The post
is called Fort Massachusetts.2o

This valley has several passes through the Sierra
Blanca into the prairie country, on the Upper Arkansas and
Kansas, the best of which is called El Sangre de Cristo, at
the head of the little streams called Cuchadas, which fall into
the Huerfano, a small river falling into the Arkansas not
far from Bent's Fort. It is a good pass, and Bent and St.
Vrain's wagons have passed through it, and it is passable
the worst of winters; for Col. Beale's dragoons passed
through it the same winter, and nearly the same time, that
Col. Fremont went· through another pass further west.
The distance through these passes is not more than five
miles. This is the description of the country on the east side
of Coo-cha-tope Pass.

On the west side of the pass the country opens out
broad and good for settlement, and for roads, and is the best
watered country I ever saw out to the Wah-satch Mountains
and to Las Vegas de Santa Clara. After that the water and
grass became scarce, and the land poor. It is called a desert,
though travelers find camping grounds every night, and
the great cavalcades of many thousand head of horses from
California to New Mexico annually pass along it. After you
go through the pass at the head of Del Norte, there are many
trails bearing southwest toward the great Spanish trail by
Abiquiu, which they join in the forks of the Grand River
and Green River (forks of the Great Colorado of the West),
where it is a great beaten road, easy to follow day or night.
The country is wooded on the streams with prairies between,
and streams every three or five miles, as the Great Colorado
here gathers its head-waters from the Wah-satch and Rocky
Mountain ranges, which are covered all over with snow in
the winter, and have snow upon .'their tops in the summer,
which sends down so much water, and cool, clear and good.
And this is the case generally out to the Wah-satch Moun-

20. On Utah Creek, two miles north of Fort Garland. By "Col. Beale" in ·the
next paragraph, Leroux means Lieut.-Col. Benj. Lloyd Beall.
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tains and Las Vegas de Santa Clara-a distance of near five
hundred miles from the head of Del Norte. 'Wagons can now
travel this route to California, and have done it. In the year
1837, two families named Sloover and Pope, with their
wagons and two Mexicans, went from Taos that way.

Col. Fremont was looking for Coo-cha-tope Pass in the
winter of 1848-9, and was near enough to have seen it, if
it had not been hid by the lapping of the mountains, when
his guide led him off into the mountains, instead of keeping
up the dry valley, which he wished to do, and which would
have taken him through easy. It was the worst winter for
snow, but he could travel all the time in the valleys and
passes. I was below him on the waters of the Arkansas at
the same time, acting as guide to Col. Beale, who was out
after the Apache Indians with a detachment of dragoons,
and we heard of him at the Pueblos. He went as high as
Hard Scrabble, and got corn before he crossed into the valley
of San Luis, and we got corn at the Greenhorn Pueblo on
the San Carlos Creek, about 50 or 60 miles below him, and
heard that he had passed along, and supposed that he had
gone safe through, and knew.no better till he got back to
Taos, when I told him how near he had been to the place he
was looking for. We passed with the dragoons through the
Pass EI Sangre de Cristo (Blood of Christ) and got through
easy, and that was the dead of winter and the greatest snow
we ever had.

There is a way also up the Arkansas to get to the waters
of the Great Colorado. It is by Bent's Fort, by the
Pueblos and Hard Scrabble (at all which places corn and
vegetables are raised), and by Witham's fishery, and at the
head of the river, leaving the Three Parks to the north.
Horsemen and stock can go that way. Maxwell, of Taos,
drove out between four and five thousand head of sheep and
cattle last summer, intending to take them to California,
but went to the Great Salt Lake and sold them there.

A wagon can now go from Missouri to California
through the Coo-cha-tope Pass, without crossing any moun­
tain but the Sierra Blanca (and there have the choice of three
good passes), and without crossing any swamp or large river,
and nearly on a straight line all the way. only bearing a little
south. And supplies of grain and cattle can be had from the
Pueblos on the Upper Arkansas, and also from the Mexicans
in the valley of the St. Louis, and also from the Mormons at
Ojo San Jose, and at their settlement on the Nicollet river,
and at Las Vegas de Santa Clara.
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I have been from New Mexico to California four times,
namely, the way I guided Col. Cook, the way I guided Capt.
Sitgreaves, and the Salinas route, and the Abiquiu route,
and of these four the one I guided Capt. Sitgreaves is, as I
informed Mr. Seward,21 the best and shortest from Santa
Fe or Albuquerque; but from places farther north, and
especially from Missouri, the Coo-cha-tope Pass is best and
shortest, and has most water, grass, wood and good land on
it; and has most snow, but not enough to prevent winter
travelling; so that when there is much snow in the trail by
Abiquiu, people from Taos go that way, as I have already
said. The snow in that country is dry, and the moccasins
that we wear do not get wet.

And being asked by Col. Benton to state the best way
from Missouri to California, I answer: Start as the people
now do, going to New Mexico, from the frontier of the State
of Kanzas or Independence, and for summer travelling go
through the prairies up towards Bent's Fort, and up to the
Huerfano to the Pass EI Sangre de Cristo; then out by the
Coo-che-tope Pass, following a trail to the great Spanish
trail. The winter travel will be to start from the same point,
but follow the Kansas River valley for the sake of the wood,
and when that gives out, cross to the Arkansas, which is not
far off, and level between, and follow that up for wood. The
prairie is the way in the summer, but winter travelling must
have the protection of woods and timber against snow-storm.
And everything that I tell I can show, and would undertake
to guide a party safe through with wagons now.

ANTOINE LEROUX

Senator Benton addressed a communication to the
people of Missouri, incorporating Leroux's account which
was published in the Missouri Democrat.22

When Leroux started on his return from Washington
to Taos, he apparently travelled by way of St, Louis, and
then by the Santa Fe Trail. Edward F. Beale was on his way
from Independence to California in 1853, to assume his post
as superintendent of Indian affairs, and, at a crossing of
the Neosho River on the Santa Fe Trail on May 20, he over-

21. Evidently William H. Seward of Auburn, N. Y., at this time in the U. S.
senate. Later, his interest in the Far West brought the purchase from Rus.ia of
Alaska, then caUed "Seward's FoUy."-editor.

22. Copied in the New York Daily Tribune, March 16, 1853, p. 5, cols. 4-6.
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took Leroux. Beale congratulated himself on his good for­
tune in securing the services of so experienced a guide. But
Leroux seems to have been in charge of a train which he felt
obliged to conduct safely over a few bad places along the
route, and so was not able to join Beale at once; but he prom­
ised to overtake him in a short time.

However, when Beale arrived at Fort Atkinson, he
found Leroux there under the care of the post surgeon, too
ill to travel, and was obliged to proceed without him. Beale
had a good deal of difficulty on his route, and in July he again
called on Leroux at his home in Taos where he had recently
arrived from Fort Atkinson; but again Leroux was unable
to accompany him.

At this time, Capt. J. W. Gunnison, with his party or­
ganized to survey the middle railroad route on the 38th and
39th parallels, passed Fort Atkinson and Fort Bent; and
subsequently, on August 13, he arrived in the vicinity of
Fort Massachusetts near the more recent Fort Garland
in Costilla County, Colorado. Here he sent Lieut. H. E.
Beckwith and Lieut. Lawrence S. Baker to Taos, to secure
the services of Leroux if possible. After a ride of over a hun­
dred miles, they reached Taos, spoken of by Gunnison as
the "headquarters of many of the most reliable and experi­
enced of these mountain men."23

There they succeeded in engaging Leroux, subject to a
prior engagement with Lieut. A. W. Whipple for later in
the fall; and after thirty hours of travel, on the 19th they
arrived back at Gunnison's camp. Leroux joined them the
next day, and the party set out under the direction of this
guide, who agreed to accompany them as far as the Span­
ish Trail which intersected their route in the vicinity of the
present Mora in Utah. They crossed the mountain range
and descended the Gunnison River; but after passing the
site of the present Grand Junction to about where is now the
western boundary of Colorado, Leroux was obliged to leave

23. House Document No. 91, vol. 2, Report of Lieut. E. G. Beckwith of the
Route Explored by Capt. John W. Gunnison.
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them, September 25, and return to Tabs, a month before the
unfortunate Gunnison and some of jhiS companions were
killed by the Indians near Sevier Lake. With three com­
panions, travelling principally by night, and relying on his
skill and knowledge of the country, Leroux successfully
passed through the hostile bands of Indians, and reached
his home in Taos in good season to keep his engagement
with Whipple.

Lieutenant A. W. Whipple, in charge of the Pacific Rail­
road survey along the 35th parallel, arrived at Albuquerque
early in October, 1853, where they remained about a month,
making their preparations for continuing the journey west
to the Pacific Ocean.

Here Whipple met Leroux whom he had engaged as
guide for the remainder of the journey.24 Leroux's services
from this time on are described in considerable detail by
Lieutenant Whipple in his report. It is obvious that Leroux
was relied upon greatly by Whipple, who was much im­
pressed with the judgment and knowledge of his guide.

Antoine Leroux died at Taos in the summer of 1861,
two months before the land grant which was associated
with his name received favorable action by the surveyor
general in Santa Fe. The brief burial record states that
on August 1, 1861, burial was given to the remains of "An­
tonio Leroux, husband of Juana Vigil, in the nave of the
parish church."25 In all the burials at Taos during a period
of fifteen years, including for example that of Carlos Beau­
bien, no one received such signal honor in his place of burial
as did this old French guide and mountainman.

24. Pacific Railway Survey Repo·rls. Vol. I, p. 22.
25. Santa Fe, Archiepiscopal Archive, Book B-42, Burials. Taos. 4/23/850·

8/27/865. f. 453r. An interlineation by a later and vcry different hand is misleading.
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MARRIAGE RECORD OF

ANTONIO LEROUS AND JUANA CATARINA VIGIL

In this curacy of Taos on November 4 of the year 1833, I, the
parish priest Don Antonio Jose Martinez, having obtained the matri­
monial dispensation [required] for any stranger and transient for the
benefit of Antonio Lerous, bachelor from North America, legitimate
son of Antonio Lerous and Elena Josi, so that he may contract mar­
riage with Juana Catarina Vigil, single, from the curacy of San Juan
[de los Caballeros] in this Territory, legitimate daughter of Juan de
Jesus Vigil and Maria Paula Baldes, residents of the precinct of San
Fernandes: the said dispensation having been dated on October 6 just
passed in the city of Santa Fe by the very Illustrious Bishop Don Jose
Antonio Luriano de Subiria 20 [and] returned with the application
which I sent, so that I might file it, as I did; and having admonished
them (read the banns) on the 20th and 27th of the said October, which
were the twenty-first and twenty-second Sundays in the order of
Pentecost, and also on the first day of the present feast of All Saints,
and since no kind of impediment appeared, and having read to them
the said dispensation, following confession and communion, I married
and blessed them in facie Ecleciae (in due form of the Church). The
padrinos (god-parents) were Charles Bent27 and Maria Ignacia Jara­
millo; attending witnesses were Don Carlos Beaubien 28 and Antonio
Ledus, all residents of the ba1'l'io (ward or precinct) of San Fernandes,
with the other [witnesses] who were present. The said auto (ceremony)
was in the Church of Our Lady of Guadalupe, a chapel of this parish;
and for attestation I signed it.

Antonio Jose Martinez (rubric)

26. Don Jose Antonio Laureano Zubiria. Bishop of Durango, was making an offi­
cial visit and S2cms to have been in New Mexico for at least three months, July­
October. of 18:l3.

27. The original readg "Carlos Vente," but there is no mistaking the famous
Charles BCllt, while the second padl'lno was ]atcl' to be his wife.

28. Another name which helps to make this marriage record impressive. Beau~

bien was one of the most prominent and influential of the "foreigners" then in New
Mexico. Comment has already been made (note 2 above) r('garding Antonio Ledoux
(Ledus) .



NEW MEXICO'S FIGHT FOR STATEHOOD (1895-1912)

By MARION T)ARGAN

V. THE SILENCING OF THE OPPOSITION AT HOME

C ITIZENS of New Mexico were probably more outspoken
in opposing the admission of the territory to the union

in the middle of the 1890's than they were ever to be again.
Less than two years after the defeat of the proposed con­
stitution of 1890 by an overwhelming majority of the voters,
leaders were already seeking to work up a boom which would
crystallize sentiment in favor of statehood. Thus in Feb­
ruary, 1892, the Las Vegas Optic announced that representa­
tives of the territorial press would meet during an irrigation
convention at Las Vegas "to discuss the question of state­
hood and to agree, if possible, on the attitude of the press of
New Mexico, towards that question."I The Optic added:
"There can be little doubt that whatever view may be adopted
and pressed by the papers of the territory, that is the view
which will prevail." Three months later the same newspaper
asked: "Would it not be well to have statehood meetings in
every county, and every town of any considerable size in
each county?"2 Repeating this suggestion three days later,
the Optic added:

If we are to have any concert of action in this
Territory, in favor of statehood, it is time the pre­
liminary steps were taken. Nothing could exercise
greater influence than statehood meetings all over
the Territory, among the native people as well as in
the Anglo-American centers. Let congress see that
we want statehood, regardless of race or political
differences. But time presses, and nothing is being
done.3

How many meetings actually resulted from these sug­
gestions, it is impossible to say. Certainly the action of the

1. Las Vegas Optic. Feb. 26. 1892.
2. Ibid .• May 13. 1892.
3. Ibid.• May 17. 1892.
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democrats in "stealing" the legislature in January, 1895,
ruined all hopes of any concerted action on the part of citi­
zens of the territory, irrespeLtive of party affiliations. When
congress met in December, however, the hope sprang to life
that T. B. Catron, the new delegate, with his "brains and
energy," would succeed where Antonio Joseph had failed.
On January 14 of the following year, the republican terri­
torial central committee adopted the following resolution:

Resolved, that we recognize that the early
attainment of statehood is the matter of paramount
importance to the people of New Mexico at present
and insist that no partisan or personal advantage
shall stand in the way of that object, of which the
republican party has always been the champion,
and we call on all patriotic citizens to unite in the
strongest possible effort to secure this boon to our
people at the earliest possible moment.4

The people, however, refused to be aroused by mere
resolutions adopted by party leaders. Six years later in
January, 1902, the Denver Republican, concluded that "the
chief stumbling block in the way of the territories has been
the indifference of their own residents to the question of
statehood."" The claim that this attitude had disappeared
by that time, however, was at least partly true. The terri­
torial press and the politicians had worked up a popular
movement to "boom" statehood. Many who had formerly
been indifferent now supported the cause. Others, however,
opposed the crusade-some openly, and some in secret.

Apparently, the passing of less than a decade had
brought about quite a difference in the attitude of statehood
workers toward their opponents. On Dec. 15, 1893, the
Santa Fe New Mexican had said:

This is a fine country, and if anyone wants to
kick generally, he or she has the privilege; but the
men who are now secretly kicking on the admission
of New Mexico are making a grand and grievous

4. Ibid., Jan. 15, 1896.
5. Denver RepulJUcan, quoted in Albuquerque Citizen, Jan. 27, 1902.
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mistake and one that will react on themselves and
the territory; ...6

This comment was prophetic of the tendencies of the
time. Champions of statehood still professed to respect the
rights of the "antis," but threats were already forcing the
latter to fight secretly rather than in the open.

In the spring of 1901 statehood workers united to
arouse popular enthusiasm to a high pitch and to put pres­
sure on the opposition. The outstanding leader in this
crusade was Bernard S. Rodey of Albuquerque, who had
been elected delegate to congress the preceding year.7 On
assuming leadership of the statehood movement in March,
1901, Rodey gave out an interview in Washington in which
he pointedly said, "Every man who doesn't want statehood is
our enemy."8 Economic forces at work in the middle Rio
Grande valley made a push for statehood most opportune at
this time, and provided a new worker for the cause. This
was Dr. Nathan S. Boyd, an Englishman, who was the head
of a company that was attempting to construct a dam across
the Rio Grande at Elephant Butte, about 150 miles north of
EI Paso.9 Legislation pending in congress and a proposed
treaty with Mexico arouse'd great concern lest the right to
use the waters of her principal river be taken from citizens
of the territory and be conferred on the republic of Mexico
and on land speculators of the EI Paso areaJo Accordingly,
Dr. Boyd wrote the Albuquerque Oitizen, urging that New

6. The following editorial, quoted by the New Mexican from the Eddy Citizen,
suggests that that paper had already become very intolerant toward the opposition:
"No one can afford to fight the statehood proposition. It means everything to New
Mexico, and the man who would put 80 much as a straw in its way will go on record
BS a traitor to himself, to his country and all its interests. Do you want to be thus
branded? Do you want to be known the world over as uncouth, uneducated, a link of
antediluvian days, in fact a creature uncivilized, unfit to bear the glorious title of
'an American citizen'? If so. vote against statehood." New Mexican, Dec. 18. 1893.

7. Rodey's personality and work for statehood will be discussed fully in the
next article in this Meriea.

8. Farmington Hustler, March 28, 1901.
9. Coan, Charles F., A History of New Mexico (Chicago, 1925), vol. II, p, 466.
10, For Governor Otero's part in defeating this treaty, see his My Nine Years

as Governor, 1897-1906 (Albuquerque, 1940). The territorial newspapers also con­
tain frequent references to this fight.
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Mexico needed immediate statehood in order to fight the Cul­
berson-Stephens bill and to save her waters for the use of
her own farmers and ranchers.u He stated that he had
persistently sought to induce the leaders of the two political
parties of the territory to organize "a plan of campaign,"
and had tried to win over his friends, although some of them
had not been convinced. He urged the editor to take up
strenuously the cause of statehood, and to make it "the key
note of his editorial policy. Two days after the publication
of Dr. Boyd's letter, Ralph E. Twitchell contributed a letter
to the Citizen, suggesting that friends of the movement
undertake "to smoke out of their holes" those who were
opposed to statehood.I2 The way to do this, he pointed out,
would be to go to the leading business men and biggest tax­
payers of the territory and ask them to endorse statehood
in black and white so that it could be shown to the commit­
tee on territories and others in congress. If they refused,
they would probably find out if the business prosperity
which they enjoyed from relations with a people "they
vilified on the quiet" would continue. The writer denounced
the motives of "the antis" as selfish and narrow, and
asserted that they would not dare to give the real reasons.

Apparently these suggestions led to an intensification
of the movement. Certainly the territorial press was soon
making a zealous campaign for statehood and against all
who opposed it. The latter were described by the Citizen as
"people who are making a fortune in the territory, and who
are afraid to trust the people,"13 while the New Mexican
asked objectors the pertinent question, "If you are not for
statehood, what are you for ?"14 The "antis," were compared
to "birds of passage'" who had no interest in the country and

11. Citizen, April 23, 1901. The bill took its name from Senator Charles Allen
Culberson and Congressman John Hall Stephens, who had introduced separate bills
into the senate and the house. These were later combined into the Culberson-Stephens
bill.

12. Citizen, April 25, 1901.
13. Ibid., May 9, 1901.
14. New Mexiean, Oct. 15. 1901.
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to "the Tories of 1776 who preferred British rule."15 They
were said to spend their time in idle tirades againstpolitical
conditions in the territory and in abusing the native people.10

They were not good American citizens because they favored
an imperial form of government instead of government by
the people,17 They should live in autocratic China or Russia,
and should not be allowed to celebrate the fourth of July,
since it meant nothing to them.18 "Mossback" seems to
have been the chief epithet hurled at the opposition. The
Journal-Democrat declared that the best thing that could
happen to the territory would be for the miserable pessimists
who had been making a fortune in New Mexico, and who
were lukewarm for statehood "to die and get out of the way
of the wheels of progress."19

The spring and summer of 1901 found the statehood
boom in full swing. In April the Citizen predicted:

Before the coming summer is over, the antis
will be such a small minority that they will be
afraid to express themselves. Our advice to the
young men of this territory is, make no mistake,
get on the right side: remember the world never
goes back: statehood is New Mexico's destiny,
and you might as well be in the band wagon when
the bon fires of progress are lighted a year from
next falPo

In May the N ew Mexican said:

The enthusiasm for statehood for New Mexico is
growing so among the people that it is beginning

.to be like it is during time of war, everybody who is
not enthusiastically for it is put down as against it
and treated accordingly.21 .

During the latter part of the summer and in the fall

15. Citizen. Oct. 17. 1901.
16. Ibid.• July 31. 1901; Nov. 1. 1901.
17. Journal-Democrat. July 25, 1901.
18. New Mexican, July 3. 1901.
19. Journal-Democrat. August 30. 1901.
20. Citizen, April 12. 1901.
21. New Mexican, May 11, 1901.
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the statehood press claimed remarkable success for their
campaign of propaganda. In July the New Mexican an­
nounced:

Since the agitation for statehood began in the New
Mexican and other papers, the few people who
were inclined to be lukewarm on the question have
come around, and now that they have examined the
question, and know that there is absolutely no
argument against it and every argument for it, the
territory appears to be practically a unit on the
subject. This is as it should be. There is no room
for two opinions on the question as to whether or
not the people in the territory shall organize a state
government.22

In August the Journal-Democrat declared: "The few ter­
ritorial papers that for a time decried statehood are keeping
mum on the subject these days. Let them take off their
muzzle and join in a solidly united effort to secure the desi­
deratum."23 Two months later the New Mexican announced
significantly:

There is no longer a single newspaper that seri­
ously opposes statehood. One after the other the
Democratic and Populistic newspapers have furled
their anti-statehood banners and have joined the
forces that demand statehood. The people of New
Mexico are emphatically a unit in demanding from
congress an enabling act. Can congress do other­
wise than accede to this demand ?24

The press, of course, did not claim that 100 per cent
of the population supported the movement. The Citizen
claimed merely "a large majority," while the New Mexican
declared that carefully compiled reports from all over the
territory indicated that fully nine-tenths of the people
favored statehood.25 The Santa Fe paper admitted that a

22. New Mexican, July 2, 1901.
23. Journal-Democrat, August 9, 1901.
24. Ncw Mexican, Oct. 21, 1901.
25. Citizen, Nov. 20. 1901. Nc'lI' Mcxican, quoted by Journal-Democrat, Oct. 28,

1901.
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small minority would continue to "cry out" against state­
hood "as loudly and as strongly as it possibly can," but de­
clared that their efforts were like those of "Mrs. Partington
in trying to keep back the waters of the sea with a broom."26

The desire to unite all the citizens of the territory occa­
sionally led to attacks on individuals. Surprisingly enough,
two who were thus singled out were not only among the most
prominent native leaders of the time, but were both pub­
licly identified with the movement to secure the admission
of the territory to the union. Those were Col. J. Francisco
Chaves and Solomon Luna, both of Valencia county. The
former had favored statehood while a delegate to congress,
and had been quite active in 1889 and 1890, when he had
been the president of the constitutional convention.27 A man
of 68 years of age in 1901, he held the position of territorial
superintendent of public instruction, The latter belonged
to a family that controlled the politics of Valencia county
for half a century.28 A good and just man who had at heart
the interests of his people, he was said to be the wealthiest
sheep owner in New Mexico. While he might have had any
office in the territory, he was modest enough to content him­
self with a place on the republican national committee, which
he held from 1896 until his death in 1912.

In September, 1901, the San Marcial Bee, an in'fluential
Republican paper, charged in an editorial that these two
republican leaders "and other native friends of theirs" were
"secretly knifing" the statehood cause.29 The Bee declared
that Luna feared that statehood would bring in new laws,
which would f~rce him to enumerate his vast herds of sheep
on the tax rolls, and that both he and Chaves feared the

26. New Mexican, Oct. 30, August 26, 1901.
27. Chaves is mentioned several times in the third article of this series. See the

Review, XV, pp. 168, 181, 182.
28. Twitchell, op. cit., p. 661; vol. 6, PP. 3-4.
29. No copy of this issue of the Bee is available, but the editorial was reprinted

in the Journal-Democrat and the New Mexican for Sept. 24, 1901. The editor of the
Bee was a Canadian, Henry Hammond Howard, who exerted a strong influence in
political circles. History of New Mexico (Pacific States Publishing Co., Los Angeles,
1907), vol. I, pp. 478-479.
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coming in of new settlers which might reduce their own
importance in New Mexico. The editorial closed with the
comment that, while it was difficult to believe such rumors,
"they have recently reached us from a quarter that leaves
but scant hope" that the suspicions they aroused were
"groundless."

Other republican papers indignantly denied these
charges,30 and both Chaves and Luna issued statements to
the press, reminding the people of their public activities in
behalf of the cause.31 The Bee was said to have retracted its
charges,32 but in the spring of 1902, together with "El
Republicano and other staunch republican newspapers of
the territory," it asserted that there was "a sudden apathy"
of the people toward statehood, and that this was "due to
the influence of large sheep and cattle interests, the same
interests that favor a lease law in order to perpetuate ·their
holds upon the public domain to the exclusion of everyone
else."33 The New Mexican admitted that there might be
truth in these charges, and called upon the opposition to
come out in the open, since "Congress had the right to know
whether New Mexico wants statehood or not and the men
who shout for statehood at political conventions and then
turn their backs upon the cause or even work against it
secretly are political tricksters" who deserve contempt.

Considering the pressure put on the opposition, how­
ever, it was only natural for the "antis" to resort to. secret
tactics at times. Whatever the attitude of the leaders named,
old timers suggest with a good deal of plausibility that some
of both the cattle and sheep men and the native leaders may
have entertained misgivings regarding the future. Advo-

30. The Citizen defended the two men as follows: "It has been the life work
of Colonel Chaves to help make New Mexico a state. For a quarter of a century he
has faithfully advocated statehood. Mr. Luna is a faithful worker for statehood, and
will go to Washington next winter and urge the admission of the territory." Citizen,
Sept. 23, 1901.

31. New Mexican, Sept. 24, 1901.
32. Ib.i<l.,.._Sept. 30, 1901. The Bee later reprinted the statements issued by

Chaves and Lun~. New· Mexican, Oct. 4, 1901.
33. Ibid., March 11, 1902.
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cates of statehood always claimed that it would bring in a
rush of immigrants. The former may have feared that this
increase in population would put an end to their use of the
public domain, as well as raise their taxes. The latter may
have feared that the native people would then lose control
of New Mexico, as they had already done in Texas and Cali­
fornia. Certainly native leaders felt some anxiety when
statehood did finally come, since Luna and Larrazolo both
took pains to see that clauses were inserted in the state con­
stitution to protect their people.

The crowning effort in the statehood boom was a state
convention called by Governor Otero at the request of Dele­
gate Rodey and leaders of both parties.34 It met in Albu­
querque on October 15, 1901, in connection with the terri­
torial fair. One purpose was to demonstrate to congress that
the people of New Mexico were united for statehood.35

Colonel Chaves, whose loyalty had recently been under fire,
was introduced as "the father of the statehood movement."
One of the speakers, Governor Murphy of Arizona, paid
particular attention to objections heard in the territories
against their admission to the union.30 Resolutions were
adopted presenting the claims of New Mexico and demand­
ing action from congress. There can be little doubt that the
convention served to crystallize sentiment in the territory,
and to silence the opposition.

Following the convention, statehood boomers denied
that the opposition at home amounted to anything. Thus two
weeks later the New Mexican anounced that it declined "to
treat the attacks on the statehood movement in this territory
seriously."37 Frank Clancy, district attorney for the second
judicial district, visited Washington in December, 1902, and
expressed much the same idea. He told a reporter for the
Washington Star:

34. 'The original proclamation by Governor Otero calling the convention is in
possession of the University of New Mexico. It is dated Sept. 13, 1901.

35. Quoted from the Chama Tribune by th'e Journal-Democrat, Aug. 30, 1901.
36. Journal-Democrat, Aug. 27, Oct. 6, 1901.
37. New Mp,,,ican, Nov. I, 1901.
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There are some foolish persons opposed to
statehood, who greatly magnify their own numbers
and importance when they talk at all, but they are
few. The vote at the last election showed this.
There always had been such people in every ter­
ritory seeking admission to the union.38

On the other hand, some who favored the admission of
New Mexico were quite ready to admit that they were
greatly impressed by the strength of the opposition. Thus
Isidoro Armijo, Jr., of La Mesa, said in a letter to the El
Paso Herald: "It is most surprising to notice amongst those
in the opposition the leading merchants, the leading bankers,
the leading cattlemen, the leading men, the leading Ameri­
cans."39

Much of this opposition was doubtless expressed in
conversation and went unrecorded. Occasionally an "anti"
might give an interview to some newspaper published out­
side of the territory. Or, if he happened to be an editor who
was out of line with the statehood movement he would natur­
ally use his own paper to present his arguments to his
readers. But scarcely to posterity. For the most part, the
newspapers of the time that have been preserved were the
more progressive ones that favored statehood. Hence our
information regarding the opposition is largely drawn from
unfriendly sources. Unfortunately, pro-statehood editors
showed little fairness toward those who differed from them.
Human nature being what it is, they thought it more effec­
tive, or perhaps found it easier to belittle the motives of the
opposition than to attempt an honest appraisal of their line
of thought.

This being the case, we can scarcely do more than
identify a few men who wrote against statehood, or whose
opposition is referred to in the press. To avoid repetition,

38. Washington Star. From an undated clipping in the Rodey Scrapbook. p. 26.
The interview evidently took place between Dec. 3 and Dec. 10, 1902, as Clancy stated
that the Beveridge report was being held for revision.

39. EI Paso Herald, Feb. 1, 1900.
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the arguments advanced by different "antis" will then be
summarized together.

One of the most destructive "knockers," according to
the San Marcial Bee, was A. A. Freeman of Carlsbad.40 He
was a Tennessean whom President Harrison had appointed
associate justice of the territorial supreme court. As he had
practiced law in Socorro after his term of office expired, the
Bee declared "we of Socorro county know the gentleman
very well." While confessing great respect for southern
gentlemen of the old school, the editor described the judge as
"A Moss-Covered Citizen," and denounced him as a "carpet­
bagger" and a "self-seeker." In his reply Freeman defended
himself by declaring that Coronado, Alvarado, Kearny,
Chief Justice O'Brien and a host of others who had played
a part in the history of the territory had all been "carpet
baggers."41 His objections to statehood were put in the
form of rather striking questions. The Bee pronounced them
"silly twaddle," but it quoted some of them at least. If
Freeman advanced any more serious arguments, they are
not given in the papers available. While in the East in 1900,
Judge Freeman told a reporter for the Washington Post:
"As to Statehood, there is a division of sentiment on that
question, but I believe a majority of the people favor it."42

Apparently one of the most prolific sources of objec­
tions to statehood was S. M. Wharton, editor of the White
Oaks Eagle. Unfortunately no issue of this Lincoln county
weekly is available, or even a single editorial quoted in an
exchange. That Wharton was an outstanding opponent of
statehood, however, may be surmised from the amount of

40. Editorial from the San Marcial Bee, as given in unidentified press clipping In
the Rodey Scrapbook, p. 97.

41. Judge Freeman's reply appeared in the form of a letter to Delegate Rodey
published in the New Mexican, Oct. 14, 1901. In commenting on this letter, the New
Mexican said "People are struck with the fact that Judge Freeman answers nothing.
It is evident that the judge is a great pessimist in politics and judges New Mexico
politics by Tennessee or Kentucky politics, in which governors are assassinated, gov..
ernors legally elected are deprived of their office. men shot down for opinions sake ...It

Ibid., Nov. 6, 1901.
42. Washington Post, Oct. 5, 1900.
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newspaper space which Bernard S. Rodey used in replying to
him. And, fortunately for us, the delegate did not confine
himself to flinging epithets-he gave a resume of the argu­
ments he sought to refute.43

The Red River Prospector showed less courtesy to J. H.
Crist of Monero, Rio Arriba county, who, so the Taos
county weekly stated, "has got himself interviewed in the
Antonito Ledger and says he is opposed to statehood."44 He
was reported to have declared that, if an enabling act were
passed by congress, he would "go into every precinct in Taos
and Rio Arriba counties and oppose the proposition of state­
hood." Crist had a previous record as an "anti," since he had
been one of the speakers who had campaigned against the
constitution of 1890.45 Evidently he was eager to debate the
issue eleven years later, but the Prospector refused to credit
him with sincerity. Old enmities which he had aroused as a
democratic politician, as the editor of the defunct Santa Fe
Sun,46 and as the district attorney who had instituted dis­
barment proceedings against T. B. Catron and Charlie
Spiess in 1895 help to account for this attitude. At any
rate, the Prospector was full of surmises as to his motives.
The item, which appeared with the title "One of the Kind
who is Fighting Statehood," was concluded as follows:

Good, we will know from now on where to find
Mr. Crist. Perhaps the gentleman is still a little
sore over his defeat for the council last fall and
therefore, the majority of the people are not com­
petent for statehood. Perhaps, the gentleman
knows of certain parties who oppose statehood
because they are afraid they will not then be able
to dodge paying their honest taxes. Then again,
perhaps, the gentleman fears that if New Mexico
should become a state that its population would in-

----
43. See New Mexican, Journal-Democrat, and Las Vegas Record for Sept. 21, 1901.
44. New Mexican, Nov. 11, 1901, quoting the Red River Prospector. The Antonito

Ledger was a weekly published in Conejos county, Colo. This county is just across the
Colorado line from Taos and Rio Arriba counties. No file of the paper is listed in
Gregory, Union List of Newspapers.

45. See the Review, vol. XV, p. 167.
46. Optic, Aug. 3. 1892.
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crease to such an extent that certain politicians
would not have as big a pulI 81 they now have. In
fact, it is such persons who fear they cannot con­
trol wages or have a piece of the political pie, that
are fighting statehood.

When one of the most prominent business men in New
Mexico gave an interview opposing statehood to the El
Paso Herald,47 he was shown much greater respect. This
was no less a person than Jefferson Raynolds, one of the
most prominent bankers in New Mexico and a friend of
William McKinley since boyhood. Indeed there is little doubt
that he had been responsible for the appointment of Miguel
A. Otero as governor of the territory only four years before
this. Such an opponent. of statehood-powerful in both
financial and political circles-was not to be sneered at.
Consequently pro-statehood papers such as the New Mexican
and the Citizen treated him with discreet silence.

Colfax county in the northern part of the territory
seems to have been a center of opposition to the statehood
movement. A large proportion of its inhabitants were Anglo­
Americans. From time to time there was talk of separating
from the Spanish people in New Mexico, and forming a new
state with its. capital at Raton, or at Trinidad, Colorado.
Possibly Captain T. W. Collier, a candidate for the gover­
norship of New Mexico in 1897, was the most influential of
these men. As editor of the Raton Range, he expressed his
opposition with great regularity. Another resident who op­
posed statehood was M. W. Mills of Springer, who was said
to be "the owner of extensive land and stock interests in
Southf'rn Colfax county." While in Kansas City, he gave an
interview on the question to the Kansas City Journal. While
the New Mexican admitted that he "kept within bounds"
in his opposition, it declared that his arguments were
"flimsy."48 Hugo Seaberg, a lawyer, and Andrew Morton,
a banker, were prominent among the signers of "A Petition

47. El PaBo Herald, Jan. 18, 1901.
48. New Mexican. Nov. 12. 1901.
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Endorsed by Colfax County, New Mexico, Taxpayers to Be
Presented to Congress," whi ~h is said to have appeared in
the Optic. While this is a rather forceful document, state­
hood papers apparently ignored it, and we have no evidence
that it ever reached Washington. Fortunately for us, a copy
is preserved in the files of the EI Paso Hemld.4fJ

This same paper also mentioned "Don Martin Amador,
one of the wealthiest citizens of Carlsbad, New Mexico," as
one of the property owners of the territory who opposed
statehood because of the higher taxes which it would bring.50

The Herald added: "It seems that the same sentiment per­
vades in other sections of the territory as well," and quoted
a telegram the editor had received from Roswell.

The arguments of these opponents of statehood may be
summarized as follows :51

Fear of democracy, or "Mexican domination."o2
New Mexico is "ring ridden and boss ruled,"

and conditions would be worse if the bosses could
control the election of the governor, judges and
other officials. The change to statehood should not
be made until "the corrupt ring" which governs the
territory is broken.53

Statehood should be postponed until the fran­
chise has been limited by educational qualifica­
tions.54

49. El Paso Herald, Jan. 19, 1901. The two sponsors named are mentioned in the
letter of Isidoro Armijo, Jr.

50. Ibid., Jan. 5, 1903. The Herald 8eems to have been quite interested in the
opposition to the statehood movement within New Mexico. The EI Paso News. on
the other hand, is said to have published a leading article, administering u a well
merited rebuke to the few papers in New Mexico that are working in oppositio'n to
statehood for the territory... · Journal-Democrat, Aug. 30. 1901.

51. The references given are intended to be suggestive rather than exhaustive.
52. Attributed to Editor Wharton of the White Oaks Eagle. Journal-Democrat.

August 30, 1901. Another citizen, R. S. Benson of Florence, N. M., also had a very poor
opinion of the voters of the territory. While in the East, he explained to a reporter
for the Washington P08t that the republican party in New Mexico was "burdened
with the greasers," while "the many fugitives from justice" that had congregated in
the territory were almost always democrats. Washington 1'08t, July 4, 1900.

53. See the anonymous letter signed "Fair Play," given at the close of this
article. Also Journal-Democrat, OGt. 13, 1901; Optic, Oct. 8, 10, 1901; Santa Fe
Capital, Jan. 10, 1903; Deming Headlight, July 18, 1903.

54. Optic, Oct. 15, 1901.
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Under the territorial form of government,
property is secure because everything the officials
do is subject to revision by the Washington author­
ities. There would be far less security under a state
government, since the majority of the citizens are
not tax-payers and are not thoroughly imbued
with the principles of free government.55

Millions of dollars have come into the territory
under Governor Otero's administration, so what is
to be gained by our admission to the union ?56

Statehood failed to stimulate immigration to
some of the newer states and it will be the same
way with New Mexico.57

The maintenance of a state government will
increase taxation to a burdensome degree, and will
have a depressing effect on business.58 Are the
people going to sweat and toil any harder and enjoy
their heavy taxation, merely because it will enable
two excellent gentlemen like Gov. Otero and Dele­
gate Rodey to occupy apartments at Washington
as United States senators ?59

Will statehood cause the falling of any more
rain, or the growing of any more grass? Will it re­
build the tumbled walls of hundreds of adobe huts
that mark the course of our Nile? Will sheep grow
heavier wool or cows more calves ?60

If a majority of the people desire statehood,
then there is no reason for so much whipping in.61

The "antis" certainly had their fling in the territorial

55. Jefferson Raynolds. El Paso Herald, Jan. 18, 1901. The following quotation
from the Raton Range is given by the Optic, Jan. 10, 1894, and is a good illustration
of this argument: "If the last New Mexico legislature is a fair example of what tbis
Territory has and will select for its lawmakers, and we believe it was. we are of the
opinion that property will be less secure under statehood than it is now. Under present
conditions, congress has supervisory authority over the· Territorial legislature which
exercises considerable restraint over the average assembly. Remove that by making
the territory a state, and can any· one conceive a bill of any nature that could not
have been brought through the last legislature? This is one strong reason why
we doubt the advisability of statehood for New Mexico at this time."

56. Attributed to another Carlsbad paper by the Carlsbad Argu8, June 14, 1901.
57. Attributed to Wharton by the New Mexican, Sept. 17, 1n01.
58. Citizen, Jan. 27, 1902.
59. Judge Freeman. New Mexican, Oct. 14, 1901.
60. Attributed to Judge Freeman by the Rio Grand" Rep"biican, Oct. 25, 1901.

This is a quotation from the Bee, and is available only a3 a press clipping in the Rodey
Scrapbook, p. 97.

61. Judge Freeman. New Mexican, Oct. 14, 1901.
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press during 1901. But their freedom of speech was soon
taken from them. During the greater part of the following
year there was much ground for hope that congress might
pass an enabling act at any early date, and it was regarded
as treason to say anything that might be capitalized by the
opposition. Evidently the statehood boom hushed up most
citizens of the territory who remained unconverted. In an
interview which appeared in the Citizen for February 17,
1902, J. H. Purdy, a Santa Fe lawyer, described the situa­
tion as follows:

There is a wide divergence of opinion on the
subject of statehood. The talk one hears in public
places is largely for statehood, but in quiet places
where men talk privately together and "heart to
heart," as the phrase goes, grave doubts are ex­
pressed that the territory is ready to try self­
government.

The events of the following months made men still less
inclined to oppose statehood openly. The passage of a state­
hood bill by the house in the spring led to the coming of a
senate committee to the southwest in the fall. New Mexico,
as well as Arizona and Oklahoma, must seize this unpre­
cedented opportunity to make a favorable impression on the
visiting Solons. These interesting developments lie beyond
the scope of the present article, and will be discussed fully
later. One piece of testimony taken by the committee, how­
ever, as well as a part of the report made to the senate, is
pertinent to the present discussion.

The eighty-five citizens who appeared before the com­
mittee were examined behind closed doors. Yet it is signifi­
cant that only one expressed himself as being opposed to
statehood. This individual, Martinez Amador, was a volun­
teer witness who was examined at Las Cruces. After iden­
tifying himself as a native of Mexico and a farmer, 64 years
of age, he gave the following testimony:

Question-Is there any statement which you
want to make to this committee?
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Answer-Well, I want, if you will allow me, to
make a statement about our population,

My people all belong to the Mexican race.
They come from old Mexico, and I think our people
is not able now to support statehood, because most
of the people here is ignorant; and I do not think
we are ready to support statehood yet for about ten
years, until our children grow up, We got good
schools now, and we send our children to school,
and they doing well; but the old residents are
mostly Mexicans, you know. You take them in the
election time, and you take them what you call the
emblem; they go by that, and they do not know who
they vote for. They do not know who is on the
ticket-the majority of that kind of people. As a
consequence, I think there is one great fault of our
people-they have not got education, the old timers;
the old timers, like me. I never been in the schools,
except the primary schools, you know, but I been
picking up here and there to know just the little I
know now, and that is about all; but I never been in
the schools. My children are all well educated.
They have been to school in St. Louis and they have
been in the schools here. My children, they are able
to support statehood and compete with the major­
ity as far as people, you know, but the others, I am
very sorry to say it, they are not able to do that.62

The committee evidently regarded this particular wit­
ness as a real find, and it was assumed that he represented
accurately the inarticulate class to which he belonged.
Special attention was called to his testimony in the following
section of the report made to the senate:

MANY NEW MEXICANS AGAINST STATEHOOD

In conclusion, the truth must be stated that
many New Mexicans do not want statehood. The
testimony of Martinez Amador, a Mexican farmer,
who (unsubpoenaed and unasked, because un­
known to us) sought out the committee at Las
Cruces, and who impressed every member with his
sincerity, wisdom, and truthfulness, proves this.

----
62..57th Congress, 2nd Session, Senate Documents, No. 36, vol. 5 (Government

Printing Office, 1902), p. 105.
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The testimony is pathetic as it is convincing, and
we call to it particular attention.

The committee is further convinced that this
opposition to statehood for New Mexico is by no
means confined to this simple Mexican farmer and
the great class for whom he spoke. It is true that
no other rancher, farmer, or merchant appeared
before the committee to the same effect; but the
committee has sound reasons for believing that
large numbers of them are earnestly against the
proposition of New Mexican statehood. It is not
believed that any advocate of New Mexican state­
hood competent to speak will testify, under oath,
that there is unanimity in favor of the proposition
even among the most substantial business men,
farmers and cattlemen of the Territory.

It is the further belief of the committee that a
large portion of the people are indifferent to and
ignorant of the question. (Testimony of Martinez
Amador, p. 105). If it be said that they voted in
favor of it, the answer is that nothing is easier than
to appeal to a people like the native New Mexican
with a statement that there is something which he
has not (and which will be of value to him) in
order to make him desire it, without understanding
in the least just what it is that he is deprived of.
It is a cheap and familiar device, formerly used
in our own States, but now happily abandoned
before the enlightenment and independence of
civic action which comes with increased education
and highly developed civilization. If it be said
that this argument is not sound, the answer is that
the people have more than once rejected a consti­
tution for statehood.63

Little did this Spanish-American citizen realize, when
he gave his testimony, that ten years would really pass be­
fore New Mexico was admitted to the union. He never lived
to see the day. In a little over three months he was dead.
His widow wrote Senator Beveridge:

I doubt not but what the disease that carried
him off was brought on by the constant worry and

63. 57th Congress, 2nd Session Senaf;e Report., No. 2206, vol. 1 (Government
Printing Office, 1902), part 1, PP. 29-30.
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mental strain caused by those who declared them­
selves his bitter enemies, for the truthful testimony
rendered unsolicited by him to the commission of
which you were a prominent member.64

Meanwhile all hopes had been lost that the fifty-seventh
congress would admit any of the southwestern territories.oll

Five or six months later the Journal-Democrat printed an
anonymous letter signed "FAIR PLAY." At any other time,
it would probably have been suppressed, but at the moment
the editor probably decided that it would do no harm. Con­
sequently it appeared as follows:

THE OTHER SIDE

A Citizen of New Mexico Who Has No Enthusiasm for
the Cause of Statehood

Editor Journal-Democrat
In Sunday's issue of the Journal-Democrat

there appeared the following editorial paragraph:
"There never was a fight made for the rights of

64. Mrs. Martinez Amador to Senator Beveridge, March 20, 1903. Amador died
Feb. 27, 1903. The Washington Post, a strong champion of the admission of the
southwestern territories, evidently referred to him in the following Uanecdote":

"Senator Beveridge is charged with causing an aged farmer down near Las
Cruces to receiving a terrible beating.

"When the statehood subcommittee went through 'that neck of the woods' they
tarried to take testimony. Some witnesses had been subpoened. Others pressed for­
ward in the grand cause. Close to the door was an aged farmer, who eyed the 'senator
men' from Washington in wonderment.

" 'See that that old duffer don't get a chance to testify,' said one of the busy New
Mexican workers to an official of the subcommittee. 'He's cranky,' which Pickwickian
observation was accompanied with a wise wink and a slight tapping of the head.

"However, when the indiana Senator asked if anyone else wished to be heard,
the aged farmer, who told the Senators he was born in old Mexico, pressed forward.
There was nothing to do but let him talk. He launched into a diatribe against
Statehood.

"The incident has been brought fresh to mind since Congress took a recess by a
report from Las Cruces that when the old farmer returned to his domicile his good wife
met him at the threshold and administered a sound beating. The neighbors took it up,
siding with the Amazon, and there have been veritable hot times for that aged
Mexican around his own hacienda." Ibid., Jan. 5, 1903.

65. The Durango (Colo.) Evening' Herald for Jan. 15, 1903, referred to secret
opposition within'New Mexico as follows: "It is reported that certain New Mexico
officials, while outwardly working for statehood, are secretly opposing admission, BS

it would cost them their positions. Such policy does not rellect much credit on the
honor of the aforesaid individuals!' .
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the people, where the people themselves apart from
the press, did so little to help their own cause along,
as the people of New Mexico have done for them­
selves in the statehood fight."

:The reason for this apathy on the part of the
people is so obvious that it is strange you did not
complete the statement by adding: for the reason
that statehood is not wanted by the people. That
is the logical conclusion of the paragraph, and
also the real sentiment of the voters in the terri­
tory, aside from a small number of politicians and
their parasites who see in statehood greater oppor­
tunity for plunder than under a form of govern­
ment where national supervision interposes some
restraint, no matter how ephemeral or fictitious
that restraint is.

It is true that for three years past the noise
made by statehood agitators has been louder than
ever before, yet the fact remains that the demand
for admission to the union has not come from the
solid, conservative element of the people. The
"fight made for the rights of a people" has been
made by the press of the territory and not by the
people, as it should have been, and will have to be,
before statehood will be granted. The editors of
New Mexico are, as a rule, bright men, and it is
strange they have been so easily hoodwinked into
misrepresenting the opinions and desires of the
voters on this subject. If a canvass were made of
the territory and the opinion of each man secured
-not an opinion for publication, but the honest
wish given in confidence-there would be little or
no more cock-sure editorial writing concerning
the demand made by the people for statehood.

The reason for the failure of the people to
grow enthusiastic over statehood is easily found.

Bernalillo is not the only county in the terri­
tory where public affairs are conducted by a ring,
the boss or bosses of which look upon the public
office as a "private snap." There are so many
others that New Mexico is ring ridden and boss
ruled. Rumor even goes so far as to insinuate that
should a fearless man go to Santa Fe and insti­
tute an investigation into territorial affairs the
jar of dodging stunts would loosen the foundation
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of the capitol, and that building would no longer
be a safe place of meeting for New Mexico's mar­
velous legislatures. The thinking portion of New
Mexico's business men, ranchers, and miners,
reason something after the following manner:

If, under a territorial form of government,
such conditions obtain, what would they be if all
supervision and restraint were removed, and the
bosses could control the election of the governor,
district judges, and all other officials? A question,
by the way, which ought to make Delegate Rodey
take a second thought for once on the statehood
question, and cause territorial editors to cease
bemoaning the fate of disfranchised thousands.

In many places it has been assumed that those
opposed to statehood are few in number because
they have not been vociferous in their opposition.
While this silence-except in numerous instances
where quiet work has been done in Washington­
had had the effect of giving apparent unanimity to
the "hollering" of the delegate and press of the
territory, it has been caused and secured by the
brutal methods adopted by the senatorial toga
hunters and political bosses to prevent disaster
overtaking their ambitions, and not from any
desire on the part of the people for statehood. Men
have no desire to be publicly denounced as traitors,
snakes-in-the-grass or carpet-baggers, no matter
what the source of denunciation may be, and the
fear of such malicious vilification keeps hundreds
quiet who would openly oppose statehood were there
fair treatment accorded those honest in their doubt
as to the advisability of the proposed change. How­
ever, the silence thus procured is as fatal in the end
as open hostility.

The fact that corrupt commonwealths are al­
ready states is no argument for the admission of
another rotten member into the union, although the
statehood boomers would have it appear so. Under
honest conditions and honorable officials the people
of New Mexico would welcome the admission of
the territory as a state, but until such time as good
government leagues can bring about much needed
and desired changes, and examples be made of plun­
derers, boodlers, and bribe-givers and takers as
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will assure honest and equal enforcement of law,
they are willing to live under a territorial form of
government.

If the editors of New Mexico really desire help
from the people in securing statehood, there is one
way to secure that assistance; let them join hands
in a fight for honesty in public life; for the election
of none but men of fitness, ability and integrity to
office, and when that has been accomplished there
will be no difficulty encountered in securing indi­
vidual statehood for New Mexico.

FAIR PLAY 66

While the statehood boom at the beginning of the cen­
tury failed to bring about the passage of an enabling act by
congress, it did much to accomplish one thing. The opposi­
tion within the territory was largely suppressed, although
the Deming Headlight, true to its old traditions, continued
to publish editorials on "Why Statehood Is Not Wanted
by the Intelligent People of New Mexico." Meanwhile a new
phase of the movement developed during which it was pro­
posed to admit Arizona and New Mexico as one state. During
the decade that passed before congress finally conferred sep­
arate statehood on the territories, citizens of New Mexico
frequently expressed themselves as opposed to "joint
statehood." Almost invariably, however, they explained
that they favored statehood, but were opposed to a union
with Arizona. The present study then closes with the year
1903, as during the remaining nine years of the territorial
period there is little available evidence of the kind of oppo­
sition we have been considering.

66. Journal-Democrat, August 18, 1903.
67. Deming Headlight, June 27, 1903. The Headlight declared "Many of our

people feel grateful to Teddy for beating statehood, but as he did this work under
cover, there is no special reason for special demonstration of this feeling of gratitude."
I1Jid., April 11, 1903. When the Citizen appealed to the people of Luna county to
rebuke the Headlight for its opposition to Statehood, that paper assured editor Hughes
"four fifths of the voters of Luna county are opposed to your statehood schemes."
Ibid., Sept. 19, 1903.



THE CORONADO-BOCANEGRA FAMILY ALLIANCE

By LANSING B. BLOOM

A s THE fir~t white man who entered and explored the
country of the Pueblo Indians, Don Francisco Vazquez

de Coronado will always be a figure of great historic interest
in our Southwest. He and his army left the land of Cibola
after spending two winters in this region but they left behind
them among the natives a first acquaintance with manners
and customs very different from their own. On the other
hand Coronado and his men, back again in "the land of
Chri~tians," forgot much of the hardships they had expe­
rienced and started a tradition of "the new country" (as it
was popularly called) which was to endure through the next
half century until colonization began.

During our search in 1938-39 at the Archivo de Indias
in Sevilla for documents relating to Vazquez de Coronado,
we came across a curious paragraph in a letter of 1563 to
the king which revealed a close alliance between Coronado's
family and that of Hernan Perez de Bocanegra.! This clue
led to other "Bocanegra" documents and so to a rather curi­
ous bridging of that half century of New Mexico history
which lay between its discovery by Coronado and its first
colonizing by Don Juan de Onate.

Francisco Morales was relator of the Audiencia in
Mexico City. He had come to the Indies in 1537, and in his
old age it was his predilection to keep the king informed of
conditions and events in the colonies. In this closely written,
six-page letter of May 17, 1563, he discusses various cases
of encomenderos who (in his opinion) have acquired their
holdings contrary to law-holdings which properly should
revert to the crown.

1. AGI, Mexico 97, LBB title 528a. The references thus cited are to photostatic
copies in the Coronado Library, University of New· Mexico. The Spanish text of
this letter may be found. also in Colccci6n de documento8 inedito8 lJara la historia de
Ibero-America, I, 357-868.

401
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The treasurer Alonso de Estrada (who served as gov­
ernor of New Spain while Hernan Cortes was absent)
gave one daughter in marriage to Jorge de Alvarado; and a
son of the same name had inherited very rich properties in­
cluding the repartimiento of his father. And Morales con­
tinues:

Moreover the same treasurer and governor, Alonso de
Estrada, left another daughter who was married to Fran­
cisco Vazquez Coronado, whom Don Antonio de Mendoza
brought from Spain; and although she was the wife of a
governor of New Galicia and daughter of a governor of New
Spain, they gave her a repartimiento called Tlapa and its
subjects, the revenue of which is worth 3,000 pesos [a year],
and notwithstanding this, Don Antonio de Mendoza gave to
Francisco Vazquez the Indians, an allotment worth more
than 5,000 pesos, which had belonged to Juan de Burgos,
and although Your Majesty did not wish to approve that
encomienda since it was by way of withdrawal [by Bur­
gos] ,2 yet these two allotments have been, and are being held,
one by the daughter of Francisco Vazquez and her husband
Bernaldino de Bocanegra, and the other by Dona Beatriz,3
all contrary to law and both allotments belonging [of rights]
to Your Majesty for the reasons stated.

Moreover Hernan Perez de Bocanegra, father of Bernal­
dino, has another rich allotment which, without his being a
conquistado1', former governors turned over to him by
release [of the previous owner], and he has a second son
named Nuno de Chavez who married a second daughter of
Francisco Vazquez de Coronado and they all claim that he
[Nuno] must succeed to the Indians and allotment of his
father, and [there is] a third son of the above said who
married a third daughter of Francisco Vazquez. They claim,
and have made an agreement and contract that he [the third
son] should succeed to the pueblo and allotment of Tlapa,
though all three of the allotments have been and are for the
said reasons [properties] of the royal crown and no one of

2. Burgos petitioned Viceroy Mendoza for p('rmis~ion to 8urrender this C:ICO­

mienda in favor of Vazquez Coronado; on 14 OctobC'r 1536 Mendoza approved ,uld
gave the· permission asked. subject to appro,yal hy the king. '"dice de documenfus de
Nueva Espaiia (Mexico 1932), IV, D. 5D4. Mora1es wn~ not aware that the transfer
was confirmed by a royal cerlula. AGI, Mexico 10S8, lihra C-3. LEB titl"" 800.

As to Tlapa ahove. Morales is corruborated by a li~ting of encomicndas drawn IIp

in 1560. Paso y Troncoso, Rpistoletrio de Nueva ES]Jaiia" IX, p. 36.
3. Estrada's second dnughter, widow of Viizquez Coronado.
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them [the claimants] can have, possess, nor inherit them
by the death of anyone of the owne_s.4

The fact that three sons of a single family married three
daughters of Francisco Vazquez de Coronado was enough
to fix our attention on this Bocanegra family as a possible
lead for the finding of more information about Coronado
himself. And as the search in the Archive continued, vari­
ous Bocanegra documents were photographed for later
study.

It now appears that, as Vazquez Coronado had come to
Mexico City in 1535 in the train of Viceroy Antonio de Men­
doza, so Hermin Perez de Bocanegra h~d arrived nine years
earlier (1526) in company with LUIs Ponce de Leon.5 Those
who knew him testified that Ponce treated Perez as a rela­
tive, a tie further indicated by the name of Perez' third son.

Ponce de Leon died the next year, and the treasurer
Alonso de Estrada who shortly became acting governor,
thought so highly of Perez that he made him an alcalde
mayor.6 In 1529, Perez married Dona Beatriz Pacheco,
daughter of a conquistado1', Francisco de Chaves.7

We find Perez as one of the two alcaldes ordinarios of
Mexico City in 1537; the cabildo made him one of the two
alccddes de mesta. the next year while Vazquez Coronado
secured the office of one of the four new aldermen when this
was resigned in his favor by its original holder, Francisco de
Santa Cruz.s It appears that there were sixteen aldermen al­
together, half of whom were appointed by the king and the
others by the governor or viceroy. The office secured by
Coronado belonged to the former class, and his title was con-

4. Nevertheless Tlapa seems to have remained in the family at least to the
fourth generation. Dorrantes de Carranza, Sumaria rclaci6n de las cosas de Ia Nueva
Espana (Mexico 1902), p. 285, tells us that a "Don Alvaro has the encomienda of
Tesapa which belonged to his great-grandfather the Governor Francisco Vazquez de
Coronado." 44Tes8pa" was evidently a misprint or a misreading for "'Tlapa."

6. AGI, Mexico 97, LBB title 626. "Facultad a Hernlin Perez de Bocanegra par"
fundar mayorazgo en la Ciudad de Mojieo."

6. Ibid., testimony of Bernaldino de Castillo.
7. Ibid., testimony of Antonio de Olivez. See also F. A. de Icaza, COnquj8t.adore8

y Pobladores <Ie Nueva EBpana, No. 436.
8. Cavo, LOB TreB Siglos de Mejieo (Mejico, 1862), pp. 23, 38, 39.
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firmed by the king in the following document, dated at
Toledo on March 29, 1539.9

Don Carlos, by the grace of God always august Em­
peror [and] King of Germany; Dona Juana his mother and
the same Don Carlos, by the same grace, Kings of Castile, of
Leon, of Aragon, of the Two Sicilies, of Jerusalem, &c, &c.

In order to do benefit and favor to you, Francisco Vaz­
quez Coronado, recognizing your sufficiency and ability and
the services which you have done for us and which we hope
that you will do for us in the future, and in some return
and remuneration therefor, it is our favor and good will
that, now and henceforth so far as it be our pleasure, you be
our Regidor (alderman) of the City of Mexico in New Spain
in place of, and by the resignation of the said office made in
your favor by, Francisco de Santa Cruz, regidor of the said
City. For he so besought us by a petition and resignation
which he sent, signed by his name and notarized by a public
scrivener. And do you use the said office in the matters and
things thereto pertaining, and by this our letter or by a
copy of it signed by a notary public we command the council,
court and regidores, knights, squires, officials and [all] good
men in the said City that, together in their cabildo and
ayuntamiento according to their usage and custom, they take
and receive from you, the said Francisco Vazquez de Coro­
nado the oath and avowal which is required in such a case
and [which] you must make; and when this has been done
by you, that they have, receive, and hold you for our Regidor
of the said City in place of the said Francisco de Santa Cruz,
and that they proceed with you in the said office in the mat­
ters and things thereto pertaining and that they accord to
you, and see that you are accorded, all the rights and salaries

9. AGI, Mexico 1841, LBB title 515, If. 8v-5r.
A. S. Aiton in his "Later Career of Coronado" (Am.,.;"an Historical Review, XXX,

298·304) seem. unaware of these two cla••es of regidore., and also of the fact that"
real provi8i6n could be, and often. was, issued by a viceroy as if he were the king
himself. Dr. Aiton brings out the interesting fact that, on the viceroy's request, Coro­
nado was seated as a regidor by the cabildo at their meeting on June 14, 1538, but this
simply means that they recognized that the king's appointee had renounced the office
in favor of Coronado. The Actas de Cabildo, as printed in 1859 and quoted by Aiton,
have an error in date. As appears by the document here given, the king's confirmation
of the transfer was dated at Toledo on March 29, 1539 (not March 21). From the same
source, Dr. Aiton notes that the king's confirmation reached the cabildo on October
18, 1589. Coronado may have accompanied Fray Marcos de Niza on his return to
Mexico, arriving there late in August after the friar'. famous journey to the "Seven
Cities of Clbala."
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and other things pertaining to the said office, and safeguard
to you, and see that you are safeguarded in all the honors,
favors, grants, franks and liberties, preeminences, preroga­
tives and immunities, and all the other things and each one
of them which, by reason of the said office, you ought to have
and enjoy and [which] must be safeguarded for you accord­
ing as was done for our other regidores in the said City,
fully well and completely in such manner that you may not
lack anything, and that in [the office] nor in any part of it
they do not place for you, nor allow to be placed, any em­
bargo or obstacle.

Wherefore by this present [letter] we receive you, and
hold you for received to the said office and to the use and
exercise thereof, and we give you power and authority to
use and exercise it in case that by them or by anyone of
them you should not be received therein. We are making you
the said grant with the proviso that'you are not now a crown
cleric and if at some future time it should appear that you
are or had been such, by this mere fact without any other
decision or pronouncement you have lost and do lose the said
office. Likewise it is provided that you have to appear, and
do appear, with this our letter in the cabildo of the said City
within fifteen months of the date thereof, and if you should
absent yourself from the said City for eight months without
our permit (unless you are away on matters of our service
or on matters decided by the city) likewise you have lost
the said office. Do not the one nor the other in any manner.

Given in the City of Toledo on the 29th of March, 1539.
I the King. (And I, Juan de Samano, secretary of their
Caesarean and Catholic Majesties, caused it to be written at
their order &c.)

And endorsed on His Majesty's real provision were the
following names and signatures: Doctor Beltran; Licenciate
Juares de Carvajal; Doctor Bernal; Licentiate Gutierre
Velasquez. Recorded [by] Juan de Paredes for the Chan­
cellor BIas de Saavedra &c.

The archive from which we are quoting gives not only
the above record of how the regimiento came to Coronado,
but immediately following we learn how he in turn passed the
office on to the betrothed of his eldest daughter who was then
about fifteen years of age.10

10. In 1554 Bernaldino de Bocanegra was about twenty-two years old.
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Sacred Caesarean Catholic Majesty:
I, Francisco Vazquez Coronado, citizen and regidor of

the great City of Mexico in New Spain, state that Your
Majesty was pleased to make me the grant of the said regi­
miento of the said City of Mexico, in which I have served
Your Majesty but at present I cannot do so as I desire, by
reason of the infirmities from which I am suffering; where­
for I am renouncing the said regimiento in favor of Bernal­
dino de Bocanegra, citizen of the said city, who is a well
known caballero hidalgo and an able and sufficient person
who can exercise [that office] in the service of Your Majesty.
Therefor I pray your Majesty to be pleased to grant him
the said regimiento and in the meantime that Your Majesty
might not be so pleased I am retaining [the office] myself, to
continue serving Your Maj esty therein according as I
should and am obligated to do, and I so grant it [the regi­
miento] as stated. In the said City of Mexico, before Pedro
de Salazar, one of the notaries public of that city, on the
21st of June in the year of the birth of our Lord Jesus Christ
1554. And I signed it with my name, there being present
as witnesses Gongalo Nuno and Rodrigo Bezerra notary of
His Majesty and Alonso de Medina, they being in the said
City of Mexico.

And the said Francisco Vazquez de Coronado declared
and said that the said Bernaldino de Bocanegra was be­
trothed with Dona Ysabel de Luxan, legitimate daughter of
him and of Dona Beatriz de Estrada his legitimate wife.
(witnesses, the above named) (signed) Francisco Vazquez
de Coronado. Certified by me, Pedro de Salazar, notary pub­
lic; and I Pedro de Salazar, one of the notaries public for
His Majesty in this said City of Mexico, who was present
and who know the grantor, affixed my seal in testimony of
truth. Pedro de Salazar, notary public.

From the archive in which the above two documents
were embodied we learn the following facts: that Coronado
continued to serve as regid01' until his death which occurred
in Mexico City on September 22, 1554; that on November 9,
Hernan Perez de Bocanegra (Bernaldino's father) began
steps to secure royal confirmation of the re,qimiento for his
son-but that this had not been effected up to April 22, 1557.
It appears also that the marriage of Bernaldino and Dona
Isabel was not consummated until after Coronado's death,
yet they had been married some time before April 1557.
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The immediate occasion for this document, however,
was the fact that young Bocanegra, in April 1557, had been
condemned by the Audiencia to five years of exile from
Mexico; three years from the court and city of Mexico and
its environs and two years more of exile from all of New
Spain, for having killed Juan Ponce de Leon.H Don Bernal­
dino sent a "power of attorney" to Luis Alfonso de Estrada12

and to his sister Dona Leonor Ponce de Leon,13 both of them
residents in Castile. He charged them (either or both) with
two matters: (1) to get the sentence of banishment removed
by the king; and· (2) to secure from the king confirmation as
regidor in succession to his father-in-Iaw-or if by chance
that office had now been given to another, that he be given
another regimiento in the same body.

As the first matter involved an alleged crime, doubtless
it had to be taken up first, and doubtless it was handled suc­
cessfully; at least, three years later, the young blade was
back in Mexico City.

The second matter was brought to the king's attention
by Estrada in Valladolid on January 7, 1558, and a notation
shows that it was referred to the Council of the Indies for
advice. The principal document in this case is a probanza
started by the father before the Audiencia of Mexico on
November 9, 1554, less than two months after Coronado's
death. Following the regular procedure in such matters,
Don Hernan submitted a list of twelve questions to be asked
each of the witnesses whom he offered. The firGt ques­
tions were to show whether the witnesses knew or had
known, the parents, and that Bernaldino and Isabel were
of legitimate birth; then they were to answer:

(6) Whether they knew that the said Francisco Vaz-

11. Icaza, op. cit.. No. 205, lists a Juan Ponce de Lean, con.quistador, as D.f
about the year 1551, who may be the one who met violent death. No details are
given, but the family name suggests some relationship.

12. Evidently a powerful relative of his young wife. Coronado's father-in-law
had been the well known Alonso de Estrada.

13. Widow of Don Alonso de Montemayor. When he wrote the letter, Bocanegra
was in Cacojuca (Zacatula 7) already in exile it would seem.



408 NEW MEXICO HISTORICAL REVIEW

quez de Coronado, deceased, was a prominent caballero
hidalgo, a very distinguished person in New Spain and gov­
ernor of New Galicia, and had given very distinguished
service for His Majesty in the discovery of Cibola, where he
had gone as captain-general and in many other commissions
in the service of His Majesty and [that] the said Dona
Beatriz de Estrada is legitimate daughter of Alonso de
Estrada who was governor for His Majesty in this New
Spain.

(7) Do they know that the said Governor Francisco
Vazquez de Coronado, for many years and until he died, was
a regidor for His Majesty.

(8) Do they know that the said Francisco Vazquez de
Coronado died and passed from this present life on the night
of a Saturday which was accounted the 22nd day of Septem­
ber of this year of '54 and do his witnesses so know because
they saw him dead and buried.

The concluding questions were to establish the dis­
tinguished rank and services of Hernan Perez; also that his
son was betrothed with Dona Isabel and was a caballero 22
years old, well esteemed and of good judgment and under­
standing, and well qualified (if the king so pleased) to
assume the office formerly held by Coronado.

This document had been concluded in December 1554
and no reason is shown for the delay of over three years
which followed. But the efforts of Bernaldino's agent in
1558 must have been successful in this matter also, for in
our next records he is a regidor.

In 1561, the father, Hernan Perez de Bocanegra was
seeking royal permission to create a mayo1'azgo from his
properties both in New Spain and Old Spain,-an entailed
estate for his "oldest son" and the corresponding heir in
each later generation, Because of the connections shown
between the Coronado and Bocanegra families and because
this is a good example of such a procedure, an analysis and
partial translation is here given.14

14. AGI, Mexico 97, LBB title 526: "Facultad a Herm\n Perez de BocanClrra para
fundar mayorazgo en la Ciudad de Mejico." A complete translation would run to 8

hundred pages.
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Authority to Hernan Perez de Bocanegra for
founding a mayorazgo in the City of Mexico.

This expediente consists of four parts: (1) the brief
petition addressed by Bocanegra and his wife to the king,
accompanied by (2) the Informacion de officio, taken before
a designated member of the Audiencia of Mexico; (3) the
informacion de parte (which in procedure came before that
de officio) ; and (4) the brief favorable recommendation by
the Audiencia to the king.

1. Royal Caesarean Majesty:
Hernan Perez Bocanegra and Dona Beatriz Pacheco his

wife, residents of the City of Mexico and among the early
settlers of the said province, state that they have served
Your Majesty as good and loyal subjects in every way that
has offered in that Kingdom for more than twenty years
until now, as Your Majesty will see by certain testimonials
and informations which they present; and it is thus that, to
keep their [services] in memory and so that their successors
may better serve Your Majesty, they wish to entail their
goods and property-both those which they have and may
have in Spain as in New Spain, and from them to create a
mayorazgo for Bernaldino Pacheco de Bocanegra, alderman
of the said City of Mexico and their son, and (in case of his
default) for some other of their sons or descendants; and
since in them [the petitioners] there are present the requi­
site qualities for such a matter-as will appear from the
said informations-wherefor they ask land pray Your
Majesty to show them grace in ordering that they be given
the said permission and authority in the form and manner
usual when Your Majesty orders the issuing of such permits
and as have been given to other residents of that city and
province, so that they may make the,. said entail and mayo­
razgo of all their said properties, or of such part of them as
they wish, for the said Bernaldino Pacheco de Bocanegra or
in case he is unavailable for whichever other son or heir
they may select, notwithstanding that they may have other
sons and heirs. And in this Your Majesty will do them favor.
(rubric)

Turning this leaf, we find the following record made
after the papers reached Spain, a record in four different
handwritings:
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(endorsed): "Hernan Perez Bocanegra and Dona
Beatriz Pacheco"/ /

(again:) "To Sr. Doctor Francisco Hernandez" / /
(again:) "Give it to him" (desela) / /
(again:) "Let the authority be sent to him in the accus­

tomed form to make a mayorazgo of his prop­
erties."15

2. Information de oficio taken in the royal audien­
cia of New Spain as to the quality and merits of
Hernan Perez de Bocanegra. To be brought before
His Majesty in his Council of the Indies.

In the City of Mexico on April 20 of the year 1562, the
senores president and judges of the Audiencia of New Spain
being in session (en el acuerdo) attended by me, Pedro de
Requena, scribe of the chamber in the said Royal Audiencia,
they said that, on behalf of Hernan Perez de Bocanegra,
resident of the said City of Mexico, it has been asked that
an information be received as to the quality and merits of his
person and of the fact that he is a caballero, an hijodalgo,
and that he has served His Majesty in these parts on all
occasions which have offered as his good vassal, and that he
has his house peopled with his wife and many children, and
also has, and generally has had, in his house many persons
of nobility and quality, and his Spanish c1'iados, arms, and
horses for the service of His Majesty, all in great abundance;
and that from having so many expenses and small revenue he
cannot maintain himself according to his quality. And so of
all this he intends to advise His Majesty so that he may make
him remunerative grants, and it has been ordered that the
said information [de parte] be received. And since more­
over this Royal Audiencia has been directed to take an infor­
mation de oficio for the better determining of what therein
may appear, they ordered that the said inform.aci6n de aficia
be received before the judge Doctor Villanueva, and that it

15. These endorsements are understandable if we visualize the procedure. Neither
the king himself nor his Council of the Indies could give immediate attention to all
the many and voluminous documents which were continuously coming in from all
of Spain's colonies. Such a document as this, therefore. would on receipt at the court.
be referred first to a relator or perhaps (as here) to onc member of the Council; the
former would prepare a digest or summary for the convenience of the Council, the
latter would go further-reporting back with hiB own opinion or recommendations.
The king's decision ia indicated by "Give it to him"; and the last endorsement was
routine-to make that decision effective.
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be brought, upon completion, before the Audiencia for the
giving of their parecer. And so it was ordered. Pedro de
Requena, clerk.

Following this preamble, record follows immediately
(in a different handwriting) of the informacion de oficio
which was begun four days later (April 24, 1562). But it
will be best to follow the actual procedure by turning next
to the 3rd part of the record. Here we find that Bocanegra
had given his "power of attorney" to his son Bernaldino
more than ten months earlier (7 June 1561) ; and it was
the latter who brought the case before the Audiencia and
arranged for the informacion de parte, submitting the list of
questions to be asked and witnesses to testify on their be­
half. This part of the proban(}a begins with a similar but
shorter preamble:

3. In the City of Mexico on April 20 of the year 1562,
the president and judges of the Royal Audiencia of New
Spain being in session, and I, Pedro de Requena, clerk of
the chamber being present, appeared Bernaldino Pacheco
de Bocanegra, resident and alderman of the said City of
Mexico, in the name of Hernan Perez de Bocanegra his
father, resident of the said city, and presented a petition
with certain questions and the poder which he had from his
father, their tenor being as follows:

(text of the poder or "power of attorney" follows in the
usual verbose and legal form, dated at Mexico City on 7 June
1561, and certified by Pedro Sanchez dela Fuente, escribano.
Next is the list of questions to be propounded:)

Very puissant senor

I, Hernan Perez de Bocanegra, resident of this City of
Mexico, state that it is in accord with my right to inform
Your royal person of how I am a caballero well known and
hijodalgo of house and land, known according to the fue1'o
of Spain, and [also] how I have served, and the time Ihave
employed in serving, the royal crown of Castille, so that I
may be given some remunerative grants. Wherefore I ask
and pray Your Highness that an informacion thereof be
received from me before one of your judges (the fiscal being
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present) and that the witnesses be examined by the follow­
ing questions:

1. Let them be asked first whether they know Hernan
Perez de Bocanegra and how long have they resided in New
Spain. Let them state what they know.

2. Do they know that the said Hernan Perez came to
New Spain thirty six years ago a little more or less, together
and in company with Luys Ponce de Leon who was your first
governor of this New Spain.l6

3. Do they know that the said Hernan Perez from the
said time until now has continuously had and maintained
many arms and horses, and many caballeros hijosdalgo and
persons of other qualities so that they should remain in the
service of His Majesty in the pacifying of this land, in which
he has spent a great sum and many thousands of gold pesos
from his own goods and property. Let them state what they
know.

4. Do they know that the said Hernan Perez in the con~

quests and pacifying of New Galicia and Jalisco was en­
gaged with his arms and horses, and served as captain well
and loyally and no one excelled him in the service of His
Majesty, and he spent on his own expenses and equipment a
large amount of money supporting soldiers in the war. Let
them say what they know.

5. Do they know that, at the time when the Indians of
J alisco took refuge in the cliffs and rose in revolt against the
Spaniards and against the royal crown of Castille twenty
years ago a little more or less, the said Hernan Perez de
Bocanegra set out from this city of Mexico with the viceroy
Don Antonio de Mendoza of good memory, designated and
appointed captain of cavalry and served in the said pacifica­
tion as a good knight and captain and expended of his own
property a large amount of money. Let them state what
they know.

6. Do they know that, at the time when the viceroy
Don Antonio de Mendoza of good memory had men of war
enlisted here in New Spain to send to Peru to succor the
Maestro dela Gasca against Gonzalo de Pizarro and against
the soldiers of the rebellion about fourteen years ago a little
more or less, the said viceroy was sending his son Don Fran­
cisco de Mendoza with the post of captain general and the

16. As already noted. the third son of Hernan Perez had the same name as this
Hfirst governor" of New Spain.
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said Hernan Perez de Bocanegra was appointed by the said
viceroy as captain of cavalry, in which all the people were
enlisted and outfitted in a very splendid way together with
two of his sons and, although the expedition was not carried
out, he expended many thousands of pesos. Let them state
what they know.

7. In what is indicated in the questions before this one,
do the witnesses know, and believe, and hold it for certain,
that the said Hernan Perez de Bocanegra will have spent
and been able to spend 50,000 castellanos. Let them say
what they know.

8. Do they know whether it is thirty three years more
or less since the said Hernan Perez de Bocanegra married
according to the law of the holy Mother Church with Dona
Beatriz Pacheco his wife17 and during their married life
they have begotten and had many legitimate children, of
whom at present six survive, and they have served His
Majesty as opportunity has offered; that they have been and
they are very ready and well equipped with many and very
good horses and arms to be and do likewise whenever op­
portunity to serve may offer.
. 9. Do they know that the said Hernan Perez is a weII­

known caballero and hijodalgo of house and land, native of
Cordova, legitimate descendant of very noted caballeros and
titled lords and has been treated as such and is and has been
had and held in general respect in this New Spain and in the
kingdoms of Castille.

10. Do they know that the said Hernan Perez Bocane­
gra merits the granting of mercedes, which will be well
employed on him and on his said sons.

11. Do they know that [all] the above and every item
thereof is public and notorious.

The petitioner closes with a request that, after the
informacion has been taken, he be given a certified copy of
it and of the parecer of the audiencia with which he may
bring the matter before His Majesty and the Council of the
Indies: and the scrivener Juan Lopez then certified (Mexico,
20 April 1562) that Bocanegra had presented the above

17. Dona Beatriz was daughter of Francisco de Chavez and of Dona Leonor
Cabrera de Sosa his wife who was a lady in waiting of Queen Juana of Portugal.
Dorantes de Carranza, op. cit., 284.
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petition before him so that it might be brought before the
audiencia.

The said petition and interrogatorio of questions having
been presented [in the audiencia] and the said president and
judges having seen them, they said that they were ordering,
and did order, that, with that judge officiating whose weekly
turn it was, His Majesty's attorney should take and receive
the said infol'maci6n. And they so ordered. Pedro de
Requena.

The record then indicates (as of April 20-the same
day on which Bocanegra presented his petition) that the
"muy magnifico senor Doctor Villanueva" should have taken
this informaci6n; but he was busy on matters "convenient
to the king's service and the execution of justice" and there­
fore directed a king's scrivener, Juan Lopez Tavera, to
conduct the questioning of Bocanegra's witnesses. Lopez
qualified on the 22nd before the fiscal of the Audiencia, Doc­
tor Sedeno ; and next day the hearing was held.

The first three witnesses questioned were Cristobal de
Onate, Pero Nunez, and Gon<;alo Gomes. Their testimony
was a routine affirming of the facts propounded in the
interrogatorio, but some supplementary details of interest
may be gleaned.

Onate at this time was about sixty years of age and was
not a relative of Hernan Perez Bocanegra. The latter and
Luis Ponce de Leon, who had been first governor of New
Spain, "treated each other like cousins."

Pero Nunez had known Hernan Perez from his infancy
'''in his father's home in the city of Cordova and in the villa
of Marchena," and knew that he had come to New Spain
thirty-five or thirty-six years ago-because he himself had
come in his company; and Nunez was now about eighty-six
years old. Both of them came with Luis Ponce de Leon when
the latter was sent as governor of New Spain; and Ponce and
Perez acted like relatives and were so regarded. He was
present at the marriage of Perez with Dona Beatriz Pacheco
in Mexico City about thirty-three years ago; also he knew his
parents and his grandparents both paternal and maternal,
and knew that they were closely related to the Duque de
Arcos and the Conde de Palma and to other chief nobility of
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C6rdova, because this witness was a criado of the Marques de
Caliz and of the Duque de Arcos wLo succeeded in the senorio
and (who) had much dealings and friendship with his grand­
parents both paternal and maternal, so he knew that [Perez]
was related to the Duque de Arcos and to the Conde de Palma
and to many principal knights of C6rdova. Moreover Perez
was reared as a relation in the house of the Duque de Arcos,
well treated by him and by his wife Dona Isabel Pacheco.
Other criados in the house of the Duque de Arcos were his
brothers Alonso Hernandez de Leon and Luys Ponce de
Leon. Any merced by His Majesty to Perez and his sons
would be well placed.

Gongalo Gomes was about sixty-five years old and was
not related to Perez whom he had known for about thirty­
five years, since he arrived from Castile. The witness had
participated in the pacifying of J alisco and testified to the
good services of Perez as a Captain of cavalry. He knew
that Perez had been married in Mexico with Dona Beatriz
Pacheco at the time stated and they had had many children,
of whom he (Perez) had three sons in this city and had sent
to Spain two others and Dona Leonor, widow of Don Alonso
de Montemayor (who is in Castilla if she is alive), besides
other children who have died. The two sons who are in
Spain, as is well known, are studying at Salamanca so as to
serve His Majesty as caballeros and let1·ados.

Continuing the informacion de parte and acting for his
father, Bernaldino de Bocanegra, next offered as witnesses
Bernaldino del Castillo, Garcia Alonso, Pedro de Solis, and
Antonio de Carvajal, who were all duly sworn.

Castillo was about 60 years old, had been a page of the
Duque de Arcos and had known Hernan Perez for about
forty years. He was neither his relative nor an enemy. After
the death of Ponce de Leon and while Alonso de Estrada was
governor of this land,18 the latter appointed Perez alcalde
mayo1' because of the great confidence he reposed in him,19

18. Luis Ponce de Le6n, with whom Hernan Perez had come to Mexico and for
whom his third Bon was named. had served as "first governor" lor only a short time.
He died in July 1526 and Liccnciado Marcos de Aguilar became acting governor:
but he also died within a few months and the treasurer, Alonso de .Estrada BUC"

ceeded him. He served as governor from March 1527 until the first audiencia arrived
the following year.

19. This appointment of Perez has not been noticed. elsewhere. It is not in Cavo,
op. cit.
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Garcia Alonso was about forty-eight years old, and had
known Perez for about forty years. He had known Bernal­
dino de Bocanegra, father of Hernan Perez, who was re­
garded as a relative of the Duque de Arcos.

Pero de Solis was more than sixty years old and had
known Perez for about thirty years and was not related to
him. Ponce de Leon had treated Perez as a relative.

Antonio de Carvajal was about sixty years old and had
knawn Hernan Perez since he came to New Spain with
Luys Ponce de Leon. He regarded them as relatives, and
held Perez to be "a good Christian and servant of His
Majesty."

(Certification of the above copy was made on May 8,
1562.)

Turning back now to the second part of the "facultad,"
following the preamble already given,20 the informacion de
officio continues:

After the above in the said City of Mexico on the 24th
day of April of this said year (1562), for informacion re­
garding the above said, by order of the said Sr. Doctor
Villanueva, oidor of this Royal Audiencia, oath was taken
and received in legal form, by God and by Holy Mary and
by the words of the Holy Gospels and by the sign of the
cross on which each one placed his right hand, from the
Maestro Bustamante and from Antonio de Olivez and Gon­
l;alo Gomez Castillejo and from Luis de Godoy and Bernar­
dino de Alb6rnoz, alcaide of the Royal arsenals of the city;
each of whom promised to state truly what they might know
as to the questions asked them, and that which each stated
and declared secretly and by hImself is the following,21

Bernaldino de Alb6rnoz had known Hernan Perez from
the time when he arrived in New Spain with Luys Ponce de
Leon. He confirmed the facts alleged about the campaign in
Nueva Galicia and Jalisco; the maintaining in his house
of knights and others equipped at large expense to himself;
his expense incurred for the intended expedition against
Gonl;alo Pizarro. Within three years after coming to New
Spain he had married Dona Beatriz Pacheco, and they had

20. As there noted, the following text is in a handwriting different from that of
the preamble.

21. The record here i. not by ~uestion and answer but by a statement of what
each witness testified. Even so, it is legal and verbose and it is best to brief it.
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six sons 22 who were equipped and ready with their arms
and horses to serve His Majesty. He regarded Hernan Perez
as a well known caballero hijodalgo and had never heard it
questioned that he was of very illustrious blood, native of
Cordova, and one of the chief nobility of that city. He
deemed him well worthy of royal favor.

On April 27, oath was taken from Juan Bec;os who also
had known Perez for thirty-six years since he arrived with
Ponce de Leon. His testimony was similar to that of the
other witnesses; and he thought that Perez might well have
spent 50,000 pesos on his house and armed retinue. He
knew of his marriage with Dona Beatriz Pacheco thirty­
three years earlier, and that he had six grown sons ready
always to serve their king.

On April 28, oath was taken from Francisco de Olmos
a conquistador and resident of Mexico City whose testimony
was similar to that of preceding witnesses. Hernan Perez
had arrived with Ponce de Leon about thirty-five years be­
fore, and his house was frequented by many caballeros and
others whom Perez kept prepared for the king's service,
etc., etc. He was more than sixty years of age and not
related to Perez.

Martin Lopez, conquistador and resident, also of about
sixty years, next testified on the same day and with no sig­
nificant variation in detail; and was followed by Diego
Gutierrez, another resident, "more than 42 yrs. of age,"
who had known Hernan Perez for twenty-three years. Tes­
timony of the latter, therefore, was partly from hearsay and
added nothing of importance.

The next witness (apparently on the same day) was
Maestro BIas de Bustamante, fifty-five years old, who had
known Hernan Perez for thirty-three years. His testimony
also, as recorded, adds no details.

Antonio de Oliuez, conquistador and resident of Mex­
ico next testified, fifty-six years of age, he had known
Hernan Perez for about thirty-five years since he arrived
with Ponce de Leon. He knew that Hernan Perez had mar­
ried Dona Beatriz Pacheco, daughter of Francisco de

22. This was doubtless true at the time of this testimony. Dorantes. op. cit., p.
285, lists as the fourth Bon l'Don Joan Pacheco who died without succession." Another
explanation is suggested by the testimony of Olivez, below. which refers to Leanor's
husband. Alonso de Montemayor.

The witnesses in the information de parte speak of only five Bans, two of whom
were studying at Salamanca. But these two were to be back in Mexico in time to
become involved in the conspiracy of 1566. See below.
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Chavez,23 a highly honored caballero and native of Trujillo
(in Spain). Children of this marriage were Bernaldino de
Bocanegra, "resident and regidor of this city," Nuno de
Chavez, and Luys Ponce de Leon, and Dona Leonor de Bo­
canegra, and two others whose names the witness did not
then recall; and Dona Leonor married Don Alonso de Monte­
mayor. He agrees with preceding witnesses that any favor
shown Hernan Perez and his sons by the king would be well
placed.

The last two witnesses in this ynformaci6n de officio
were heard on May 3. They were Angel de Villafane (more
than fifty years old, not related but he had known Perez for
more than fifty years) and Gomez Castillejo (also more
than fifty years old, not related, but had known Perez for
more than forty years).

On May 8, 1562, a copy of the entire probanza was
completed for the use of Hernan Perez de Bocanegra, and a
certification of its correctness was added at the close of
each hearing, de parte and de officio. This was in compliance
with the petitioner's request already noted.

The fourth and closing part of this expediente is a brief
parecer of the Audiencia:

[4. Opinion of the Court]
Sacred Caesarean Majesty :
Upon petition of Hernan Perez de Bocanegra resident of

this City of Mexico, an inf01'maci6n was received in this
Royal Audiencia as to the quality and merits of his person
so that he might come before Your Majesty with it and ask
for certain favors and remunerations. According as Your
Majesty has commanded, this de olicio was received, by
which are shown his quality and merits. Hernan Perez de
Bocanegra is had and held to be a caballero hijodalgo and he
is so treated. He is married, having wife and married
children.24 His home is well supplied with arms and horses.
He holds in encomienda for Your Majesty the town of

23. Francisco A. de Icaza, Diccionario autobiogrcijico de conquistadores 11 pobla­
dores de Nueva E.,pana (Madrid 1923), I, p. 227, gives data regarding Francisco de
Chaves as of about the year 1550. Of three marriageable daughters, only one was
married-and she with Bocanegra. The "seven grandchildren" therefore were hers.

24. Coronado's three daughters must all have been married while still in their
'teens; and Bocanegra's daughter Leonor was already a widow in 1557.
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Acambaro and its subjects. He is in need. In view of his
quality, the merced which Your Majesty may be pleased to
order given to him has room in his person.
don Luys Doctor el doctor el doctor el doctor
de Velasco Corita Villalobos Horozco Villanueva

The king's favorable decision was endorsed, as we have
already noted, on the first leaf of the expediente by the la­
conic phrase "Desele" (Let it be given him) ; and the last
endorsement indicated that this order was fulfilled. There is
nothing in this entire document or in any endorsement on it
to show when the facultad was actually issued, but from an­
other Bocanegra document to which we now turn we learn
that the facultad to Don Hernan was dated November 8,
1562, and the mayorazgo was formally established on Octo­
ber 11, 1564.

Strange as it may seem, it was hardly two years after
Don Bernaldino had solemnly knelt and kissed the hands of
his parents, upon receiving from them title to the mayorazgo,
when he was trying to get from the king permission to
transfer his estate to the home land by disposing of his en­
tailed properties in New Spain. Again we have a document,25
a complete translation of which would run to a hundred
pages, but at no place in it do we find the explanation for this
extraordinary procedure.

This we must find elsewhere, but a clue is given by the
initial petition which appears in this document. Bernaldino's
first petition was referred, as was customary, to a member
of the Council of the Indies for his opinion; and this Li­
cenciado Zorrilla endorsed his disapproval: "There are no
grounds for giving him the permission which he asks. Feb­
ruary 28, 1567. Lic'do Corilla."

Now this date falls in the midst of the furore which
centered around the person of the second Marques del Valle,
oldest son and heir of Hernan Cortes, the conqueror of Mex­
ico, and whose mother also was a daughter of Moctezuma.

25. AGI, Mexico 99, LEB title 538: "Bernardino Pacheco de Bocanegra,
sobre Que se Ie de facultad para vender los bienes vinculados que tiene en Mexico."



420 NEW MEXICO HISTORICAL REVIEW

In the preceding July, this Martin Cortes and two younger
brothers had been arrested under charges of high treason.
The alleged conspiracy was that Don Martin and his friends
had plotted to set up a new monarchy with him as king,
and the encomenderos were to have their allotments of na­
tives in perpetuity.26 Three weeks later two Avila brothers
who were regarded as chief conspirators were beheaded,27
and meanwhile a considerable number of other most prom­
inent citizens were under arrest and suffered various pen­
alties. 28 One author names sixteen specifically, and five of
of the sixteen are Bernardino Pacheco de Bocanegra, Nuno
de Chavez, Luis Ponce de Leon, Fernando de Cordova, and
Francisco Pacheco-the five sons of Don Hernan Perez de
Bocanegra !29

This gives understanding to the fact that Bernaldino
was in Spain in February 1567, and that he says in his pe­
tition: "As is known to Your Highness, the judges who went
under commission to the said city (Mexico) condemned me
to perpetual exile from the Indies and brought me a prisoner
to these kingdoms"-reason enough, surely, for wanting to

26. For more than twenty years, it had been the persistent policy of the Spanish
monarchs to take back "under the crown" all of these repartimientos possible, and
the result was much hard feeling and intense dissatisfaction of the aggrieved encomen­
deros.

27. One of the two who were put to the torture and whose heads were picketed
atop a public building was Alonso de Avila. Since he had married a daughter of Alonso
de Estrada, he was a brother of Coronado's widow, and uncle of the three Coronado
daughters.

28. E~rly in January, 1568, one of two who were publicly disgraced, hanged, and
Quartered was named Crist6bal de Onate. Because of his name, some have confused
him with the former lieutenant-governor of Nueva Galicia under Guzman and later
Coronado, and father of the first governor of New Mexico. (e. g., H. I. Priestley,
The Mexican Nation, 94) This is a mistake, because the one who was put to the
torture and executed in 1568 was called "el joven" to distinguish him from the
other. (Rh'a Palacio, Mexico a traves de los siglos, II, 394, note.) Under repeated
torture, he "confessed" many things which, true or false, were used against his asso­
ciates: perhaps for this reason his family ceased any mention of him. He is said
to have been a relative of the other-we have an idea that he was a son of that
Crist6bal's brother Juan (an uncle of the New Mexico governor)-but we have
no documentary proof.

29. Cavo, Los tres siglos d. Mejico (Mexico 1852), p. 66, citing Torquemada,
Monarchia indiana.
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move the mayorazgo if allowed to do so, and also, as he said,
to bring Dona Isabel de Luxan, his wife, from Mexico.

Doubtless Dona Isabel did join her husband in Spain
and it would be interesting to know whether they left any
direct descendants of Francisco Vazquez de Coronado in
that country; at least, they faded out of New World rec­
ords.30 As to the mayorazgo, after the rebuff in Madrid in
February 1567, Don Bernaldino proceeded to get, through
an agent in Mexico City, a notarized record of the properties
in New Spain which had been entailed and the long detailed
restrictions under which Don Hernan and his wife had
created the mayorazgo.31 With this record in hand, Don
Bernaldino made another effort early in May 1573 to get
permission to transfer his mayorazgo to Spain, but with­
out avai1.32 An order from the king (at San Lorenzo el
Real, 15 May ~573) to the Audiencia in Mexico directed that
the mother and Don Nuno be notified of what Bernaldino
wanted. That body on 27 February 1574 read and endorsed
the king's order; the mother's approval was recorded at
"the mines of Guanajuato on 11 December 1574," and that
of Nuno de Chavez in Mexico City on 5 February 1575!

30. Historians have accepted without question the statement of Dorantes de
Carranza in 1604 (Sumaria Relacion de las Cosas de la Nueva Espana (Mexico 1902),
pp. 279, 284) that this couple had no children. See most recently, for example, Paul
A. Jones, Coronado and Quivira (ed. 1937), pp. 190-1, and Hammond and Rey. Nar­
ratives of the Coronado Expedition, p. 3.

31. This took the form of an informacion. showing initial date of Dec. 22,
1569. and it makes up the bulk of the document last cited above, AGI. Mexico 99, LBB

. title 538.

32. His second petition is at the front of the entire document (without date),
followed by his first (original) petition. The endorsements show the following ·se­
quence of action in Madrid:

(l) "Let those interested in the mayorazgo be summoned. Madrid. 6 May
1573. Licenciado Vanegas."

(2) In Madrid on 20 May 1573. a notarized statement of their approval of
the proposed sale of estate properties in New Spain was signed by
Luis Ponce de Le6n. Fernando Bocanegra de C6rdova. Francisco Pa­
checo. and Dona Leonor Ponce de Le6n.

(3) On May 25, Vanegas recommended (to the Council of the Indies)
"that what they ask is not allowable; and as has been ordered, let the
others interested in the mayorazgo be cited. Madrid 25 May 1573.
Lieenciado V anegaa." This referred. of course. to the mother and
the one remaining brother, both in Mexico City.·
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What reasons there were for such procrastination we do not
know. Final notations show that the report finally reached
Madrid on 19 October 1575 and was "placed with the (papers
of the) mayorazgo." Nearly nine years after Bernaldino
first made his petition, apparently this was the net result.

Whether or not this oldest Bocanegra son died child­
less, if he could dispose of his entailed properties in Amer­
ica, the view is doubtless correct that these properties came
to the second brother, Don Nufio. As described when the
mayorazgo was created in October 1564,33 the properties
included:

(1) "the principal houses of our residence which
we have and possess in the said city of Mexico, in
the plaza of the monastery of Sancto Domingo
which adjoin on one side the houses of Christobal
de Ofiate34 and at the rear the houses of Gonc;alo
de Salazar35 and in front and on one side the two
royal streets because it is on a corner."

(2) "the enclosed estate which we have and possess
in Apac;eo and the River with all the pastures and
springs, both those acquired by grant and by pur­
chase; also the sheep ranches which are within
the said enclosure and the ranch site at the source
of the River of Apaceo, and the mills and houses
and gardens which we have there and in the cattle
ranch which belonged to Juan Pacheco and in the
ranch of the little fountain which belonged to
Martin Zofre and the lands belonging to the said
ranch."36

33. AGI, Mexico 99, LBB title 532.

34. Already mentioned for his services in Nueva Galicia; one of the four famous
discoverers of the Zacatecas mines.

35. Native of Granada in Spain, who had come to New Spain in 1523 as factor
of His Majesty, and who later served as a reaidor and in other capacities. Listed as
a conquistador in Icaza, op. cit., I, 189, No. 368.

36. Text of the grant titles (both to Perez and to those from whom he bonght)
are in AGI, Mexico 99, LBB title 538, and show dates 30 October 1543, 20 August
1543, 20 June 1541, 9 October 1556, 7 June 1546.
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From this point in our study of the Coronado-Bocanegra
alliance, it is difficult to distinguish the fortunes of the two
families-nor is it necessary to do so. As one result of the
tragic events entrained by the Marques del Valle conspiracy
in 1566, the entire Bocanegra family was driven from
America except the widowed mother and the one son NUllo;
while in the family of Francisco Vasquez de Coronado we
know of no succession except through the wife of this NUllo
de Chavez.

The site of the Vasquez Coronado residence in Mexico
City has been identified as on the south side of the old plaza
known as the "Volador." As the National Palace faces west
on the Zocalo, anyone who wishes today can easily see where
Coronado's house stood by walking around the south flank
of the Palace and looking across the Volador plazaP

The Bocanegra residence must not be confused with
that of Coronado; as described above, it was on the plaza of
Santo Domingo three blocks north from the Zocalo. Today
the site is identified as the corner of Santo Domingo and
Perpetua streets and facing west on the plaza.38

In this Bocanegra residence, doubtless; NUllo de Chavez
had been reared and there is little doubt also that he later
took it over as a part of the mayorazgo, by default, as it were,
of his oldest brother.

Of interest also is the identifying of NUllo with the
other part of the mayorCizgo, the vast estate in the Guana­
juato region. We are told39 that "Don NUllo de Chaves Pa­
checo de Cordova y Bocanegra" was the third "Sellor de
los Apaseos." As the original grant to "Apaceo" was made

37. Paul A.' Jones, Cor<m.ado and Quivira, pp. 192, 197, shows the Coronado
location on an old map and by a modern photograph. This author credits his chapter
uThe Coronado Genealogy" to a Mexican scholar, Luis L. de la Barra, Jr., who found
the data for him.

38. The church of Santo Domingo which faces the same plaza on the north
dates only from the eighteenth century, yet it marks the burial place of Coronado
and doubtless other members of these two families-because it was built directly over
the original church which had sunk completely below the surface. Naturally Coro­
nado's bones went with it. Jones. op. cit. Chapter VI.

39. Jones, Ope cit., p. 193, based on Barra.
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in 1543 by Viceroy Mendoza to Hernan Perez de Bocanegra,
he would be the first "Senor" of that grant (with subse­
quent additions by grant or purchase), and Bernaldino
would be the second. Contemporary evidence is given us by
Dorantes de Carranza who wrote in 1604 that the father
Hernan Perez "had in e1tcomienda the pueblos of Acamaro
and Apaceo, which his grandson possesses today,"40 Since
each of these two towns became the head of a partido in the
State of Guanajuato, the grandfather's "enclosed estate"
above described can be though of as being as large as "two
counties."41

The "grandson" mentioned above by Dorantes was Don
Francisco Pacheco de Cordova y Bocanegra who, the very
next year (1605), was petitioning the king for four favors:
"(1) 10,000 pesos of revenue for life in unallotted Indians,
and that among them be included the Encomienda of the
towns of Acambaro which he now has in the third genera­
tion. (2) a title of Marquis or Count for his mayorazgo of
Apaceo, and [that] of Adelantado for life of the province of
New Galicia.42 (3) a habit of the Order of Santiago. (4)
that His Majesty employ him in his Royal House, and in the
governorships and presidencies of the Indies."43

40. Dorantes, <>p. cit., p. 284.
41. Perez Hernandez, Dicci.ona1"io gcografico ... de la RepUblica Mexicana

(Mexico 1874), I, p. 523, describes Apaseo as "a partid<> of the department of
Celaya, in the State of Guanajuato, which includes the villa of the same name and
the towns of Apaseo el Alto, San Bartolo Ixtla, and San Pedro Tenango." In the
same volume, p. 26. Aciimbaro is described 0.8 u a villa, head of its municipality and
partido, in the department of Celaya, State of Guanajuato; it was "on the bank of
the copious River Lerma."

42. Instead of being satisfied with being known as "fourth Senor of Apaceo,"
he wanted a genuine title of nobility. His claim to the honorary title "Adelantado"
was evidently based on the services of his maternal grandfather. Francisco Vazquez
de CoronadQ-{)f whom he has more to say presently.

43. AGI, Mexico 124, LBB title 172. This is a twelve-page document, a "brief"
apparently of a very voluminous and much documented petition. prepared in Mexico
City and sent to an agent in Spain who should bring it before the Council of the
Indies. In Spain the brief, or summarized draft, was printed and this copy was
legalized by the signature at the end of Liceneiado Alfonso Fernandez de Castro,
who also affixed his rubric at the foot of each printed leaf. It is now separated from
any accompanying papers, but so validated it is of interest for the picture it gives
of the third generation of the two families.
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The brief continues:

There areinformaciones de oficio and de parte, [re­
ceived] in the Audiencia of Mexico before Licenciate Pedro
Xuarez de Longoria in the year 1605 and done according to
what is required by the royal cedulas [showing] that the
suppliant is the legitimate and only son of Nuno de Chavez
Pacheco de Cordova y Bocanegra and of Dona Marina
Vasquez de Coronado, his wife; paternal grandson of Cap­
tain General Hernan Perez de Bocanegra y Cordova, and
of Dona Beatriz Pacheco his wife; maternal grandson of
the Governor and Captain General Francisco Vazquez de
Coronado, and of Dona Beatriz de Estrada his wife;

Maternal great grandson of Alfonso de Estrada Gov­
ernor and Captain General of New Spain.

A page of text then summarizes the services of Hernan
Perez; three pages, those of Vasquez Coronado; one page,
those of Estrada; five and a half pages, those of the suppliant
himself. At the end we read:

At foja 1, there is a testimonial by the treasury officials
of Mexico, given by order of the Audiencia on 14 October
1605 in which they certify that, down to the date of the tes­
timonial, neither to Hernan Perez, nor to NUllO de Chavez,
nor to Vazquez de Coronado, nor to Governor Estrada, nor to
Dona Beatriz de Estrada (his parents and paternal and
maternal grandparents), nor to the suppliant himself; has
any grant or gratification been paid from the treasury of
Mexico by His Majesty nor by the viceroys nor by the
Audiencia.

There is a parecer from the Viceroy and Audiencia of
Mexico (dated) 10 November 1605. Letters from the Vice­
roy, Cabildo and City of Mexico should be read; and [those]
from the Church of Mexico, and the City of Los Angeles
(Puebla). And there are letters for His Majesty in which
private individuals testify to the said services and beg that
[the king] honor and reward the suppliant, so that other
faithful and good vassals may be encouraged to serve him
as the suppliant has done.

The petition from which we are quoting was written
in 1605 when the Tierra Nueva, "the new country" which
Coronado and his followers had found in 1540-42 had been
rediscovered and now, renamed "New Mexico," was being
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colonized permanently. Repeatedly during the half century
after the Coronado expedition, Spaniards had besought the
king for royal favors as reward for services which they or
a father or grandfather or a wife's relative had given in
"the land of Cibola." It is possible that we today are un­
duly impressed by the bitter disappointment voiced by some
of Coronado's contemporaries and by the depreciation
voiced by some of his modern critics. Of course the follow­
ing statement of his services was gotten together in 1605
by a scion of the Coronado-Bocanegra family alliance, but
yet as we read it, we can remember that it is merely a sum­
marized account based on the legal, formal questioning of
witnesses under oath.

Services of the Governor and Captain General Francisco
Va.zquez de Coronado, maternal grandfather of the sup­
pliant. By the said informaciones it appears:

That he was Governor and Captain General of the
Provinces of New Galicia and Guadalajara, and Compostela
from the year 1539 until an Audiencia was placed there
which succeeded him in the government. At foja 55, it so
appears from the title [issued] in Toledo on 18 April 1539.44

Further that the time of his government was consumed
in conquering and pacifying the Provinces and the rebellion
of Suchipila [Xochipila], and that of Guaxathlan, and Iocot­
Ian [Xocotlan] and their Provinces, and it was consumed
in pacifying completely the second rebellion of Xalisco
where (before the said Governor went to that assignment)
His Majesty had had very great expense.45

In person he conquered the Provinces of the Tecol­
quines, Calacanes, and that of Chiametla and the Valley of
Coronado (to which he gave his own name).

With very great expense from his own estate and con-

44. The "foja" (leaf) citations here and below were for convenience in referring
from the brief to the larger document which was bei.ng summarized-and which we
do not have.

Again we must distinguish between a provisional appointment by the
viceroy and a confirmatory appointment by the king, Actually Coronado had been
serving as governor of Nueva Galicia for about nine months before he could have
received this title of 18 April 1539; but in addressing the king in 1605, the grand­
son would have the tact to Cite the king's title to Coronado rather than the viceroy's
earlier provisional one.

45. The type-setter in Spain had trouble with unfamiliar names of Indian towns.
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tinuous toil of his own person and good planning and strat­
egy he brought the Provinces under the Royal Crown. In
the battles which he had, many times he came out badly
wounded, even to the point of death.

He peopled the said Provinces with cities and villas of
Spaniards. He distributed encomiendas of Indians among
the Conquerors and settlers with fairness and disinterest.

By his order were discovered many silver mines in the
said Provinces in which His Majesty aild the Royal fifths
have been, and are, well profited. Putting the said mines
(such as those of Compostela, Chimaltlitlan, Xocotlan, and
Chiametla, and the other places and camps which are main­
tained even to the present day) in good order and neatness,
serving as a very faithful and important vassal of His
Majesty.

The Emperor our lord [Charles V] in a letter written
to the said Governor on 21 June 1540 (see foja 66) thanks
him for his services and commands him to continue them,
and says that he is pleased and under obligation for the
work he has done and the care he has taken, and is taking,
in the pacifying and settling of those provinces, and in the
good treatment of the natives who live in them and he
charges him so to continue.

(It appears further) that after having effected the
said conquests and pacifications, while still in the said office
of Governor, he was entrusted by the order of His Majesty
with the discovery and conquest of the "new country" and
the Kingdoms of Acuz (Hawikuh), Zivola, Matlatlan (Ma­
rata), and Tontintlac (Totonteac), for which [undertak­
ing] His Majesty sent a cedula to the Viceroy Antonio de
Mendoza that it should be taken away from the Marques
del Valle, Don Hernando Cortez, to whom this conquest had
been committed and it was given to the said Governor
Francisco Vazquez de Coronado who was named Captain
General of the conquest.

It is shown by the provision (foja 57) given him by
Don Carlos (Charles V) etc., with an account of the whole
matter ,and insertion of the cedula by which the said con­
quest was taken from the Marques del Valle and given to
the said Francisco Vazquez de Coronado on 6 January
1540.46

46. This briefing would be intelligible to the Council of the Indies, but it is not
so for the general reader. The provisi6n here credited to the king himself was
aetually a real provisi6n issued by the vieeroy at Meehuacan on 6 January 1540.
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(It appears further) that he made the said journey at
the head of the most brilliapt army that has gone out from
New Spain, with very great cost and expense, and many
retainers (criados) , prominent caballeros, horses" weapons,
supplies, and many herds [of stock], going more than a
thousand leagues overland with great expense, privations,
and personal toil. He conquered the Province of Corazones
where he founded with Spaniards the villa of San Geronimo.

He conquered the valleys and plains of Senora [Sonora],
and in the battle which he had there, many of his army were
killed, and he came out wounded even to the point of death.47

By that route he discovered the land of Florida.48 From the
labors and wounds which he suffered in the said conquests
and discoveries, he became gravely sick, but he had done
and executed at great personal expense what is stated and
all that His Majesty ·had commissioned and ordered him to
do, and had placed under His Majesty's dominion what he
conquered and had performed very great and considerable
services. After his return to Mexico, from the continuous
labors and from the infirmities which the said journey
brought on, he died within a very short time, leaving his
daughters very poor because of the great expenditures he
had made.

There is an informacion de parte (foja 59) in Mexico
before Doctor Antonio Rodriguez de Quesada, oidor (judge)
of Mexico, in the year 1545, which contains in general the
expenses which he incurred in the said conquests and jour­
neys, and the witnesses say that at the time that he made
the [one to Cibola] he had much revenue from Indians in
encomienda and much inherited property of his own and
of his wife which at the said time was very rich and produc-

47. This is somewhat overdone; also the grandson seems to have the fight at
Hawikt'ih taldng place down in Sonora.

48. While out on the "plains of Cibola," the Spaniards heard through the
natives of other white men to the east, and inferred that they were the expedition
o~ Hernando de Sata exploring Florida. Long after the year 1605, maps Bhowed
Florida and New Mexico as spanning the continent-representing Spanish territorial
claims which rested back on the Sata and Coronado expeditions.

Hammond and Rey, op. cit., pp. 6. 83-86. state the matter correctly but give only
part of the text, with the real cedula of 17 April 1535 in a footnote. There are com­
plete copies in AG1. Justicia 336. 339, and 1021 (LBB titles 2, 4, and 5) ; also it has
been published by A. S. Aiton (Hispanic American Hi8torical Review. XX [Feb.•
1940]. pp. 83-87). but his foreword to the text is more confusing than helpful. The
viceroy did not have to wait for a real provisiOn, as he himself could issue one-­
and here did 80.
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tive, and after his return from the said conquests and jour­
neys he was poor and in want, from having spent-more than
50,000 ducats and they (the witnesses) were a,stonished that
His Majesty had not rewarded his great services, if he had
been informed about them.

From the said in/or'maciones de parte and de ojicio it
appears that, having and possessing in New Spain the
Indians (pueblos is meant) of Aguatlan, Cacatlan, Xalamez­
quitlan, Xalacingo, Teguacan, Quicinque and Guatlan49 with
their inhabitants, which brought in a large amount of rev­
enue, the Royal audiencia took them away from him and re­
stored them to the Royal Crown on the grounds that he had
been governor in the Province where he had some of the
said pueblos, although when he was given title for the said
conquests, he was assured that they would not be taken
away from him nor removed at any time; and although
Juan Vasquez de Coronado, Commendador of Cubillas,
brother of the said governor,GO secured an executive order
that they should be returned to him, they were not returned,
because at the time when the said order arrived, he was
dead,51 so that they have not been returned to him nor to his
daughter, Dona Maria Vazquez de Coronado, mother of the
suppliant who is his only grandson.

49. The typesetter made a sorry meS8 in "reading copy" on the names of the
Indian towns. For any who may be interested, we quote from Coronado's petition­
when, only a few months before his death. he was stilI trying to recover his en­
comienda rights. He states that he had had

"Ia mytad de los pueblos de Aguacatlan. y Xala con sus estancias y subjetos,
y la mytad de las estancias de Myzquytlan. y Guaxacatlan. que son en el
valle de guaxacatlan con 8UB estancias y subjetoB como 10 vno y 10 otro
todo entero 10 tenia' Franco de Villegas difunto y la mytad de los pueblos y
estancias de tepuznacan. Y m'llzquytlan Y amaxaque y amatlan. con BUB

subjetos como 10 tenya Albaro de Bra~amonte y el pueblo de quyn.cique con los
yndios chichimcc8s otomyea questan· en 8U comarca . . . " AGI. Justicia
336, LBB title 2: "Francisco Vasquez Coronado con el fiscal sobre ciertos
yndios" (1663.4).

60. Francisco Vazquez de Coronado was the second of four brothers, the oldest
being Gonzalo Vazquez de Coronado, and the other two had each the name Juan Vaz­
quez de Coronado. Of these one was Adelantado of Costa Rica and the other was the
brother here mentioned. He was "Comendador of the military order of San Juan" and
was also called "Comendador de Cubillas." While residing on his encomienda at that
place in Leon, the king sumnloned him to the command of four vessels under Don Juan
of Austria, with whom he fought in some naval battle-evidently that of Lepanto (7
October 1672). AGI, Indiferente 1240, LBB title 87a.

61. An endorsement at the beginning of AGI, Justicia 336. title 2, shows that
this Coronado plieto was received in Spain on 22 March 1664, which was exactly six
months before Coronado's death. It is interesting to know that restitution of his
holdings was ordered, even if this was not realized.
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In the title as Captain General which was given him for
the said conquests (foja 58), he is assured. and promised in
the name of His Majesty that, because he was going to serve
as stated, the Indians whom he had in encomienda either in
New Spain or elsewhere would not be taken away from him
at any time. It is shown that he was despoiled of all the
said Indians and they have not been restored.

There is a royal cedula (foja 64) which was given him
on 29 September 1550 so that the said Indians should be
returned to him, and it does not appear that they have been
returned. The suppliant reduces the matter to asking a
favor and "arrears in rent" (so as not to carryon a lawsuit
with His Majesty), together with the rest of the services of
the said Governor and his other grandparents, and his own
services; and asks in recompense the favors which he has
expressed.

The Emperor our lord in a letter of 21 June 1540 (foja
66) thanks him for the work he had done in the conquests
he had made and for his other services, and [said] that he
appreciated the care he was taking and had taken in the
conquests and in the pacifying of the rest of the Provinces,
and his good treatment of the natives, and he says that he
had learned from letters of the Viceroy, Don Antonio de
Mendoza, that, in his [the king's] name, he [Mendoza] had
sent him [Coronado] as Captain General of the other con­
quests and settlements of the country which Fray Marcos
de Niza discovered,52 by which he felt content because he
hoped that, with his [Coronado's] going, Our Lord would
be well served and the Royal Crown increased and that,
through his industry, that country would be placed under
the yoke of the Royal lordship and he would bring the
natives here to a knowledge of our holy Catholic Faith, and
he enjoins him that, with all prudence and good order, he
labor to effect this.53

Many witnesses tell (foja 27) how he returned from the
conquests and how they received him in Mexico [City] ,
and one of them relates that, when he returned from the

52. The king is referring, of course. to the viceroy's real provisi6n of 6 January
1540.

53. Unfortunately we do not have the complete original text of this letter from
the king to Coronado of 21 June 1540. However, it can be seen that it was not in
reply to the letter from the Viceroy to the king on 17 April 1540. (Hammond and
Rey, Narratives of the COTO'nadO Expedition. 156-161.) But in that letter. notice
Mendoza's citation from an earlier letter which he had written on "the last of
February." This one also is missing,
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said conquests and discoveries after haviIlgcompleted their
conquest and pacjftcatiQn, the Viceroy don Antonio de
Mendoza and_tlie Audiencia went out to receive him with the
same solemnityimd style in which viceroys are received, thus
showing their appreciation of what he had discovered and
conquered.54

[It appears also] that Dona Marina Vasquez de Coro­
nado, mother of the petitioner, has inherited any benefit
from the services of her said father, because, of the three
daughters whom he left, two died without leaving succes­
sion and there is no other descendent except the said Dona
Marina Vasquez de Coronado, mother of the petitioner; she
is suffering from great want, both because of the expenses
incurred by her said father and because the Indians whom
her father had in encomienda have not been restored to her,
and those of Cuc;amala and Tenango which he had, have also
been taken away, and she has no others, and the said serv­
ices [of her father] are today still unrewarded. Her son,
the said Don Francisco Pacheco, is keeping and supporting
her out of the small revenue which he has.

We do not know what favors, if any. VliTe .(':0t!·0n lw this
scion of the Coronado and Bocanegra families. As an in­
dividual he is a matter of minor importance, although it is
interesting to speculate that through his descendants the
blood of the Coronado family may, later, have returned to
his "Tierra Nueva" and be concealed today under the name
of "Chavez" or some other ancestral name. But more im­
portant is the fact that we cannot dip into these old records
of Coronado, his contemporaries and heirs, without our­
selves, in some small degree at least, getting back into their
times and facing the problems and hardships of life as they
had to face them. A correct understanding of their times
gives a more correct evaluating of the_conquistadores and
their accomplishments.

54. This is rather different from the story of Suarez de Peralta that, when Coro­
nado came to kiss the viceroy's hand. "he found him very sad."



BOOK REVIEWS

Western America: The Exploration, Settlement, and De­
velopment of the Region Beyond the Mississippi. By
LeRoy R. Hafen and Carl Coke Rister. (Prentice-Hall,
Inc" New York, 1941. Pp. xxvi, 698, bibliography,
illustrations, index.)

Professors Hafen and Rister have written a new text­
book in Western history, one obviously intended to accom­
pany a course specializing in the history of the western
United States. There are thirty-five chapters, each followed
by a select bibliography, and there is an index. The whole
volume includes more than seven hundred pages.

The authors state that it was their purpose to treat
primarily the "exploration, settlement, and development of
the trans-Mississippi West," and this plan should be borne in
mind in evaluating their work. For example, the first four
chapters are "concerned with the achievements of the
Spaniards and the French in establishing themselves in the
Southwest, on the Pacific Coast, and in the Mississippi
Valley," but, of course, no one would expect a very com­
plete study of the beginnings of Spanish and French ex­
ploration and colonization in America in such limited space,
in addition to the later achievements of these nations in the
trans-Mississippi West. As a consequence, the volume con­
tains only the most cursory reference to the early Spanish
and French activities in the New World, and, in fact, the
same is true of the exploration and colonization by the
English along the Atlantic seaboard. In this latter case,
the authors assume that their readers are already familiar
with English settlement in America before 1763, and there­
fore their story emphasizes the period of expansion across
the United States beginning with the settlement of the
trans-Appalachian region.

From this point on, the authors follow consistently the

432
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path of westward expansion, dealing with the Old South­
west, the Old Northwest, the Louisiana regiop, the fur trade,
Oregon, Santa Fe trail, Texas, the Mexican war, California,
Mormon settlement, and, in the period following the Civil
war, the sod-house frontier, mining frontier, overland
communication and transportation, the Indian' question,
coming of the railroads, range cattle and sheep industries,
new states, outlawry and vigilance committees, and evolu­
tion of Western culture.

It is clear ,that Professors Hafen and Rister have at­
tempted to bring the story to about 1890, when the frontier
had, in a sense, ceased to exist.

It is difficult to criticize a text book, for individual needs
and points of view differ where such a great variety of sub­
ject matter is concerned. Bearing in mind the limitations
set by the author, the book is well proportioned, the style
is good, and the format excellent. It is written in narrative
form, without the familiar box heads common to text books,
and, as a matter of Western American history, is a contri­
bution to the literature of the subject.

GEORGE P. HAMMOND
The University of New Mexico

Colorado, The Centennial State. By Percy Stanley Fritz.
(New York: Prentice-Hall, 1941. 518 pp., maps and

. illustrations. $5.00.)

This publishing house has given us another of their
excellent series ,of State histories. The press work is very
commendable with one exception: why must we be imposed
upon by books which are needlessly heavy? The stock used
in this volume is so thick that it balances Caughey's Cali­
fornia (by the same house), although the latter is a third
larger. Either is a burden which consciously irritates the
reader.

For a one.-volume history, Dr. Fritz has made a very
reasonable allotment of his space. Statehood (from 1876)
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occupies the last half, following three much shorter "Parts"
devoted to background, the pioneer period (1581-61), and
the territorial period (1861-76). On the whole, the selected
bibliographies at the end of the chapters seem very satisfac­
tory, although some important titles of the last few years are
not found. Nevertheless there are various mistakes as to
fact or interpretation which suggest a lack of acquaintance
with studies of much longer standing. When shall we learn
to avail ourselves of friendly criticism before we rush into
print?

In other reviews of this book we have seen corrections
offered, touching the territorial and statehood periods, e. g.,
by Geo. L. Anderson in The Colorado Magazine of last
March, pp. 77-78. We offer some observations as to earlier
times. The chapter on "The Indians" is a good portrayal
of that subject, but we might expect at least reference to
"Folsom Man" (p. 19), while the suggestion that any of
Coronado's army saw, or heard of the cliff ruins is absurd
(p. 20). The "Army of the West" under Kearny in 1846
numbered, not 250, but 1,558 men; and Price was not with
him but followed with a second division of 1,700 men
(pp. 48-49).

We are told (p. 53) that "Indian names slightly over­
shadow the Spanish in Colorado," seven counties, e. g., have
Indian names. But the names of the state itself and of nine­
teen counties are Spanish! And why should the some 60,000
Spanish-American citizens of Colorado be affronted by the
term "Mexicans" (p. 69)? It would be on a par for them
to call Dr. Fritz a "German."

The brief section on "Spanish Exploration" (pp. 58-
69) is perhaps the most mediocre of the book. The author
repeats the old mistake that the "land of Cibola" was named
from the buffalo; he is unfamiliar with the terms of the con­
tract given to Soto; the alleged quotation (59-60) is not
found in Castaneda's account, nor was the review of Coro­
nado's army held on Easter Sunday. Coronado was trav­
eling southeast (not northeast) prior to sending his main
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army back to Tiguex; Santa Fe was not founded in 1609 nor
by Onate, nor did Onate secure "129 soldiers to protect the
colonists"-the heads of families themselves were the sol­
diers. Neither Coronado nor Onate was the complete fail­
ure indicated: the one laid the foundation of vast Spanish
territorial rights, the other began permanent occupation.
As to Vargas, we have the remarkable statement that he
"regained the land but not the Indians." The Escalante ex­
pedition is not understood as one detail of the Spanish plan
to integrate the widely separated parts of the enormous
Spanish borderlands, also the Anza route of 1774 from
Sonora to California is overlooked. Spanish names are mis­
spelled (Melgares, Alencaster) and a petty officer at Santa
Fe is confused with Salcedo in Chihuahua (p. 77). As to
poor old Lalande, it was shown years ago that he asked
leave to depart but was restrained by the Spanish author­
ities.

Fortunately, as the author carries his narrative into
the nineteenth century he is on historical .ground which has

. been well worked, and his text is rich, informative and well
presented. The illustrations are very good, but for some
reason there is no list of them.-L. B. B.

Government Handout:A Study in the Administration of the
Public Lands, 1875-1891. By Harold Hathaway Dun­
ham (Edwards Bros., Inc., Ann Arbor, Mich. 1941.
Index and Bibliography. 364 pp.)

The title indicates that the author approached his
subject with a definite slant. He sets out to prove that what
other historians might designate as development was in fact
exploitation; that, in the main, the growth and progress of
the West was rooted in disregard of public rights and wel­
fare. What others might ascribe to inefficiency and mis­
takes in administration which under our form of govern­
ment are often unavoidable, to the author becomes the evi­
dence of bribery and perversion.
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In analyzing the actions and motives of high officials,
from the Supreme Court and members of Congress, down
to the employes of the General Land Office, the author fol­
lows a trail which to him proves iniquity in the application
of the federal land laws. Of the late U. S. Senator Teller,
while he was secretary of the interior, it is written, for
instance: "Unfortunately he had aligned himself with the
predatory interests which did not care for the proper solu­
tion for those needs." and again: "He adopted some of
the most pernicioull rules and practices ever credited to a
Secretary." Yet the writer admits: "In all fairness to the
Secretary, however, it should be observed that many of his
reports sound sincere in seeking revision of particular
laws," and again: "Secretary Teller should be credited for
urging a solution of survey and forfeiture problems."

The most flagrant exhibit of the author's apparent bias
is his treatment of the Maxwell Land Grant litigation. An
entire chapter is devoted to it under the heading "The
Maxwell Land Grant Fraud." In it, Dunham sets his opinion
against the judgment of the United States Supreme Court
and reflects upon the character of men who were the soul
of honor and to whom New Mexico, in fact the .entire South­
west and even the entire Nation, owes a debt of gratitude.
He credits the Democrats with reforms resulting "from
their efforts to check corruption in New Mexico," although
he admits that "one effort for improvement was undertaken
by President Hayes when he appointed General Lew Wal.
lace governor with instructions to leave no stone unturned
in achieving order." He disputes Historian Ralph E.
Twitchell's account of partisan machinations in New Mex­
ico during the Cleveland administration, and upholds the
record of Surveyor General Julian who, becau:;;e of his pre­
judices, newspaper reports, and actions, "helped to make
New Mexico a by-word for land law violations." Of these
Twitchell in his Leading Facts of New Mexican History re­
marked: "An assault on land titles to lands in New Mexico
was inaugurated which, for virulence of action and incapa-
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city of management," had never been equaled. It can be fur­
ther stated that the government could not convict the alleged
guilty. One of the most noted of these cases was that
brought against the late Colonel Max Frost, proprietor and
editor of the Santa Fe New Mexican, whose criticism
of Julian and the administration subjected him to the fury
of partisan persecution.

Dunham's approach to the discussion of the Maxwell
Land Grant matter is as follows: "Influence in the land de­
partment is evident in Secretary Teller's rulings and in
Commissioner Williamson's action for the Maxwell grant
patent. On the whole, bribery at least in a direct form,
seems to have been unnecessary for obtaining favorable
action. Lax enforcement, liberal interpretations and biased
and reversed rulings gave predatory interests all they
could wish." In a biographical sketch of Lucien Maxwell,
the founder and first president of the First National Bank of
Santa Fe, the author says that Maxwell bought out the
interest of the Beaubien children by "paying not more than
$3,500 for each share," and "a close friend of Maxwell's re­
ported that in 1866 the latter was willing to sell the entire
'rancho' for $75,000." Maxwell finally sold for ten times
that amount. The author further impugns the motives of
Stephen B. Elkins, and of W. W. Griffin, both of whom suc­
ceeded Maxwell as presidents of the First National Bank,
Griffin having surveyed the grant and John Elkins, brother
of Stephen, having been on Griffin's bond. Chief Justice L.
Bradford Prince, later governor and president of New
Mexico Historical Society, is referred to as "a member of
the Santa Fe Ring," who "three seconds before midnight
. . . signed the decree of foreclosure to complete what
seemed like a rascally piece of judicial legerdemain."

Despite the decision of Judge Brewer in favor of the
Maxwell Grant claimants, the case was taken up to the
United States Supreme Court. Judge Brewer had £aid in
concluding his opinion: "I leave the case with the final ob­
servation by the government with all the means and facili-
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ties at its command, the officers of the Government (deputy
surveyors and the surveyor general) and the claimants
stand without a stain upon the rectitude of their conduct,
and the boundaries of the grant as finally surveyed and
patented, if not absolutely accurate and correct are at least
shown to be as nearly so as any known testimony can de­
termine."

Reprehensible to the last degree is the author's dictum
that the Hon. Frank Springer, as upright, unselfish and
patriotic a citizen as New Mexico has ever honored, "was
guilty of false statements, that he contradicted himself
materially, ignored important points and skillfully con­
fused the question of boundaries." Yet, Dunham admits:
"Mr. Frank Springer of New Mexico, presented the main
argument for the Maxwell Company. He denied that there
had been any fraud; he upheld the accuracy of the surveys,
defended the claim against limitations of the Mexican law
and made a strong plea for a finality to attacks on the com­
pany's rights and property. His points were careful, clever
and bold to a high degree-thoroughly able. It is said that
he received the thanks of the Court for the ability with
which he presented his case." The U. S. Supreme Court
denied a rehearing and from then on, began an era of
development of the grant which had cost the owners an
estimated $12,000,000, that ushered in the growth and
prosperity of what is now Colfax county, a development
otherwise unattainable. There was more litigation but the
Maxwell Grant company won in every instance.

Dunham has brought together a mass of official data and
current comments on federal land matters which prove his
indefatigable industry as a research student. His literary
style runs easily and makes the formidable volume quite
readable. While recognizing his bias and his evident eager­
ness to prove his theme that the disposal of the public lands
was a scandalous "Government Handout," the volume may
be considered a noteworthy exposition of a very important
but controversial historical subject.-P. A. F. W.
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REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE ON HISTORY AND NECROLOGY OF
THE NEW MEXICO BAR ASSOCIATION, SANTA FE,

NEW MEXICO, OCTOBER 9, 1941

EVENTFUL have been the days since the last annual meet­
ing of the New Mexico Bar Association. The fate, not

only of nations, but virtually of civilization, has rested in the
hands of men of the legal profession. From the president of
the United States down to minor key positions in the public
service, members of the bar have made the decisions deter­
mining the trend of events. New Mexico lawyers, too, have
been called to service in the Army, the Navy, and in civil
life to cooperate in the nation's task of defense against
forces which threaten the American way of life. It is grati­
fying that Secretary Herbert B. Gerhart is now publishing
periodically a bulletin which gives a running, concise ac­
count of activities of members of the New Mexico Bar,
which will enable the future historian to write the record
of present day history of the New Mexico Bar Association.

Death, the inevitable consequence of living, has again
made inroads on our membership during the past year, and
as a tribute to those who have gone before, these brief
biographical sketches are attached:

GeoTge W. Hay

Death came to District Judge George W. Hay of Silver
City on the evening of January 7, this year, while he and
Mrs. Hay, were visiting in Pasadena, California. They
were crossing Colorado Street, just outside of the city limits,
near the auto-court where they were guests, when an auto­
mobile struck the judge and his dog, carrying them 94 feet
on the bumper before the car came to a stop. Sheriff's offi­
cers said the automobile was .driven by one Kenneth Slavin,
aged nineteen, of Pasadena, who testified that he was driv-
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ing at a lawful speed and had not seen Judge Hay cross­
ing the street.

George William Hay was born in Somerset, Pennsyl­
vania, on September 9, 1890, and there found his last rest­
ing place. He attended Valparaiso University, Indiana,
receiving the B.S. and LL.B. degrees. He practiced law in
Kokomo, Indiana, 1916-1917. The latter year he entered the
army, serving overseas with the 89th Infantry Division as
lieutenant, being cited for gallantry in action. Discharged
on April 12, 1919, he came as a patient to the Veterans'
Hospital at Fort Bayard, Grant County, in 1920.

Regaining his health, Judge Hay established himself
in Silver City in the practice of his profession in 1924.
Elected as a democrat to the bench of the Sixth Judicial
District in 1930, he was serving his second term at the time
of his death.

Judge Hay had no children, but is survived by his
widow, Cecilia T. Balch of O'Neill, Nebraska. He was a
member of the Presbyterian Church, the American Legion,
the Military Order of the World War, the Elks, the Thirty­
second Degree Masons, and the New Mexico Bar Associ­
ation.

Funeral services were conducted by the Reverend Fred
Darley in the District Court room at Silver City. Burial was
at Somerset, Pennsylvania.

Charles A. Reynolds

On the same day that death came to Judge George W.
Hay, another veteran member of the New Mexico Bar,
Colonel Charles A. Reynolds, answered the last summons at
the age of eight-five years. His had been an adventurous
career, which took him far afield and brought him fame. He
served during the Spanish American War and was cap­
tain in the 31st Infantry in the Philippines. There, he
became governor of the Province of Albay, where he inaugu­
rated a road building program. A large bridge constructed
on the Legaske-Ligao Road bears his name. He answered
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the call of the Colors again during the last World War,
attaining the rank of colonel. After the War, he took up
the practice of law in Roswell and later in Albuquerque.
There, Colonel Reynolds was a familiar figure at gatherings
of veterans. When seen on the streets, he was generally ac­
companied by his dog, Dixie, who when more than fifteen
years old, preceded his master in death by six months. Col­
onel Reynolds gave specific directions that the dog's collar
be buried with him and it was laid on the breast of the mili­
tary uniform in which he was buried.

ClaudeT. Smith

Another War veteran, member of the New Mexico Bar,
died at the Veteran's Hospital in Albuquerque on June 8 of
this year. Claude T. Smith, at one time assistant district
attorney for San Juan County, was in command of the 120th
Aero Squadron overseas after a tour of duty as first lieuten­
ant at the second Leon Springs Training Camp.

Smith was a graduate of Western Maryland College and
was admitted to practice in Maryland. He was city attorney
at Westminster, Maryland, and examiner of equity causes of
Carroll County, Maryland. Moving to Oklahoma, he served
as county attorney for Beaver County, Oklahoma, and as a
member of the democratic state committee from 1912 until
the War in 1917.

Broken in health, he homesteaded in San Juan County,
taught school, and then resumed practice of law, opening
an office over the Citizens' Bank at Aztec.

George C. Lougee

After a residence of thirty years in New Mexico,
George C. Lougee, a member of the New Mexico Bar for
twenty years, died at his home in Albuquerque, on Tuesday

Lougee was born in Hampden, Maine, fifty-five years
ago, where he prepared himself to teach school. While prin­
cipal of the public schools in Santa Fe, and later superin­
tendent of schools at Socorro, he read law, and while asso-
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elated with the state department of education, was admitted
to the New Mexico Bar. He served as assistant district at­
torney, being a law partner of A. A. Sedillo. Later, he be­
came an assistant attorney general of the State.

Mr. Lougee was a member of the Masonic Lodge at
Jefferson, Maine; of the Scottish Rite Consistory at Santa
Fe, and the Lawyers Club at Albuquerque. He was never
married. The only surviving relative is a cousin, Mrs. Eva
Fowler of Hampden, Maine.

Burial took place in Fairview Park Cemetery, Rever­
end C. Leslie Curtice and Temple Lodge of Masons officiat­
ing.

Harry Lee Patton

Death came to Judge Harry Lee Patton at his home in
Clovis, New Mexico, in the early morning of Sunday, June
29, 1941, the result of a stroke suffered thirty minutes be­
fore. He had been in ill health for several years, but had
heard cases in court and visited friends on the Friday and
Saturday preceding his passing.

Harry Lee Patton was bern at Pea Ridge in Benton
County, Arkansas, on June 19, 1875, the son of Captain
William F. Patton and Nannie C. Patton, nee Perkins. He
received his education in the common schools and in a college
in his home town of Bentonville, Arkansas. For his life
work, he chose the legal profession and was admitted to
the practice of law in the year 1896 at the age of twenty­
one years. In the same year, he was elected to the Arkan­
sas state legislature, serving two terms in that office.

He was married to Miss Lillian H. Carnahan on Novem­
ber 2, 1899. To this marriage were born three children,
Perkins LeFevre, Lillian Elizabeth, now Mrs. Edwin Hobbs,
and William Henry. His son Perkins LeFevre Patton died
in 1934.

In 1906 he moved from Arkansas to Texico, New Mex­
ico, where he practiced his profession for several years,
removing to Clovis, New Mexico, in 1911, where he has
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since resided. He was elected to the office of attorney gen­
eral of the State of New Mexico in 1916, and served his state
in that capacity for one term, thereafter returning to the
dty of Clovis. In the practice of his profession, he was
associated at various times with U. S. Circuit Judge Sam­
uel G. Bratton, U. S. Senator Carl A. Hatch, and his son
Perkins L. Patton. He was appointed to the office of district
judge in 1929 to fill out an unexpired term of Judge Carl
A. Hatch, and was elected to the office in 1930 and again in
1936. He was serving in that capacity at the time of his
death.

In addition to his son, William Henry Patton of Wash­
ington, D. C., and his daughter, Mrs. Edwin Hobbs of Mel­
rose, New Mexico, he is survived by five grandchildren,
Nancy Jane Hobbs, Harry Lee Patton, James Winton Pat­
ton, Perkins LeFevre Patton, and Peter Carnahan Patton;
one brother, W. E. Patton and one sister, Miss Anna Pat­
ton, both of Bentonville, Arkansas; and his widow Mrs.
Harry L. Patton of Clovis.

Judge Patton in early boyhood united with the Presby­
terian Church and was subsequently ordained a ruling elder,
surving as such for many years.

Funeral services were held at the Charles V. Steed
Memorial Chapel at Clovis by the Reverend A. J. Luck of
the Tucumcari Presbyterian Church, assisted by the Rev­
erend Clyde Barton of the First Presbyterian Church of
Clovis. Burial was in the Clovis cemetery beside the grave
of his late son, Perkins L. Patton.

Charles C. Gilbert
After long illness, Attorney Charles C. Gilbert died

at Hot Springs, Sierra County, on Wednesday, March 26,
1941, at the age of sixty-two years. Born at Hackett, Sebas­
tian County, Arkansas, on January 14, 1879, the son of
Franklin M.Gilbert, a Civil War veteran, and his wife,
Mary Frances Inman Gilbert, he attended the public schools
before moving to Oklahoma and thence to Roswell, New
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Mexico, in 1897, where he was employed by the El Capitan
Land and Cattle Company. Later he engaged in well drill­
ing, putting down a deep well for the Santa Fe Central
Railroad, which employed him thereafter as a brakeman on
the run from Torrance to Santa Fe.

Gilbert had read law in the office of James S. Arnett of
Oklahoma, and resumed his study in the offices of Judge
W. W. Gatewood, Judge G. A. Richardson, and Attorney U.
S. Bateman at Roswell, being admitted to the New Mexico
Bar in 1912, at the age of thirty-three. That year he entered
into a partnership with Attorney O. O. Askren, this partner­
ship being dissolved in 1915. Active as a democrat, he be­
came a member of the state central committee and served
as an alderman on the Roswell City Council.

In 1938, Gilbert moved to Hot Springs, New Mexico,
continuing in the practice of law. He was a member of
the Fraternal Order of Eagles, and Woodmen of the World.
On September 3, 1910, he was married to Kate G. Moffitt, a
daughter of John Moffitt, and contracted a second marriage
with Elma Fresquez, both surviving him, together with the
children of the first marriage, J. Charles Gilbert of Roswell,
Gatewood Gilbert of Kansas City, and Mrs. R. D. Haire of
Denver. Reverend Father Dold of the Hot Springs Catho­
lic Church conducted the funeral service.

Respectfully submitted,

PAUL A. F. WALTER, Chairman
Committee on History and Necrol­
ogy of the New Mexico Bar Associa­
tion.
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Enoch L. Enloe

Dr. Enloe, former president of Silver City Teachers
College (1914-19), died on January 20 last, at his home in
Socorro. He was 74 years old and had been retired for the
last six years.

The educator was born Nov. 23, 1865, at Hickory Hill,
Mo. He was educated in the public schools of Missouri
and was graduated from the Kansas State Normal School
at Emporia. For four years he was superintendent of
schools at Columbus, Kan., and was president of the South­
eastern Kansas Teachers Association. Later he moved to
Colorado and became principal of the Columbian School at
Trinidad.

Dr. Enloe came to New Mexico in 1904 as principal of
the new normal training school at Silver City. For ten
years he was teacher in that institution and for five years
president. In the Normal in 1906 he started the first summer
school in New Mexico, beginning with an enrollment of
eighteen students. In 1912 he was named member of the
State Board of Education and served more than twelve
years, being chairman of the board for six years. He was
the authbr of the teacher certification system of the state.

In 1920 he was elected superintendent of the Socorro
schools and served there until 1928. He taught in the Berna­
lillo schools seven years ago. Dr. Endoe lived in Albuquer­
que several times, in 1920, and while he was teaching at
Bernalillo. At one time he served as justice of the peace in
Albuquerque. His wife died in 1934, and he had lived in
Socorro since 1936.

Funeral services were held in Socorro and burial was
in Sunset Memorial Park in Albuquerque.- Albuquerque
Morning Journal.



NOTES AND COMMENTS

Meaning of "Jicara."-Under date of August 15, our always
interested and interesting fellow member, Mrs. Barbara
Aitken, writes from Broughton, England:

I have just been enjoying a particularly good num­
ber of the REVIEW. In Mr. Kelly's concluding in­
stallment a trifling correction might be made-po
158, where como una jicara is translated as "a cup­
fuL" Altho' jicara in Spain and in Mexico is used
of a gourd mounted as a chocolate-cup, and by ex­
tension, of other cups (so that dar una jicara
means "to give poison to someone in a cup of choc­
olate"), in New Mexico Spanish it has also the
meaning "basket." The shallow Apache baskets
are always called jicaras by the Santa Clara In­
dians, and I always understood that the Jicarilla
Apaches were so called from their basket making.
"A basketful of corn" makes sense.

It was Mrs. Aitken who, a few years ago, secured for our
Society from the Blackmore estate in England our impor­
tant "Blackmore Papers" which relate to New Mexico land
grants.

September m.eeting.-At the regular meeting of the Society
on September 16, the following constitutional amendment
was recommended by the executive council for adoption at
the October meeting:

That Article IV of the constitution be amended so
as to read:

Article IV. Officers. The elective officers of the
Society shall be a president, a vice-president, a
corresponding secretary, a treasurer, and a re­
cording secretary; and these five officers shall con­
stitute the Executive Council with full administra­
tive powers.

The program for the evening was the showing of four
sound movies which had been sent to Mr. Bloom by Miss
Irene Wright of the division of cultural relations, in the

446
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department of state, Washington. Miss Wright and her
mother were living in Sevilla, Spain, when Mr. and Mrs.
Bloom were there in 1928-29, and Miss Wright visited the
University campus in May while on a good-will tour for the
state department.

The films were of Brazil, Peru, Chile, and the Argen­
tine, each fifteen minutes in length, and were exceptionally
well planned to give a portrayal of typical scenes: land­
scape, occupations, population types, and family home life.
The meeting was held in the Women's Board Room of the
Art Museum which was packed with a capacity crowd of
about two hundred.
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Abeita, Pablo, necrology, 120-122
Abel, Annie Heloise, (ed.), "Indian Affairs

in New Mexico under the Administration
of William Carr Lane, from the Journal
of John Ward," 206-232, 328-358.

Abiquin. See Abiquiu
Abiquiu, gen£saros at, (1747), 69; raided

(1747), 180; (1852-3), 224, 225, 332, 334,
349, 351; an old Spanish trail, 372, 373,
375

Abo pueblo, mention, 9; abandoned, 13
Abra (the opening) of Fray Marcos was

perhaps Chinipas Valley, 237-8
Acambaro, town of, encomienda of Boca­

negra, 418-9, 424
Acoma Indians, forced to work (1749) ,

62-63
Acoma pueblo, (1598), 4
Adaea mission (1719), mention, 257
Aguatubi pueblo, shown on 1778 map, 46

(note)
Aguila Negra, Navaho chief. mention

(1858), 348-4
Aguilar, Lie.. Marcos de, acting governor

of New Spain (1526), 415 (note)
Aguilera, Dona Teresa de, mention (1662),

192, 193, 202
Aitken, Mrs. Barbara, comment by, 446
Aiton, A. S., cited, 404, note; 427-8, note
Alameda pueblo, abandoned (1680), 42, 44
Albuquerque, troops at, 133
Alburquerque, mention (1748), 48
Alcaldes mal/ores, eharges against, 165, 316
Algodones, Town of, mention (1853), 350
Alvarado, Jorge de, son-in-law of Estrada,

402
Alvarado, Fray Tomas de, mention (1668),

29-30
Amador, Martin, "of Carlsbad," 392, 394-7
Amsden, Charles, cited, 8
Anaya, Cristobal, mention of his encomi­

enda (1664), 191-2
Anaya, Franci8~o 'de, "the younger,"

mention (1664), 192
Anaya Almazan, Francisco de, mention

of encomienda, 36; suspect of Holy Of­
fice (1665), 314-5

Ancheta, J. A., of Silver City, data; against
statehood (1895), 101-2

Anderson, Clinton P., mention, 115
Angostura, mention (1753), 171
Anton Chico, mention (1852), 231

Apache, orIgIn of name, 1; early contacts,
1-14; lived in pueblos (1599), 4; failure
of mission efforts (1630), 8; Faraones,
49; in Texas (1848), 128; 18th century,
172-3, 180; a servant flayed (1661), 190;
planned league (lR52), 215 ; attacks
(1667-80), 322. See slaves.

"Apache Menace of the Southwest, Begin­
nings of," Donald D. Worcester, 1-14

Apal.'eo, the Bocanegra estate of, 422, 423,
424

Arizona, first entry by whites, 233
Armijo, Jr., Isidoro, quoted (1900), 388,

392 (note)
Arny, W. F. M., agent at Fort Defiance,

(1873), 276
Arrapahoes, mention (1852), 215
Arroyo Hondo (near Santa Fe), mention

(1853), 856
Ashley, Sir William H., mention, 367, 871
Austin, troops at, 131 (note)
Autos de fe, relation of secular authority

to, 188; that of Feb. 3, 1668, in Mexico
City, 198-9

Axtell, Samuel B., mention (1890), 71
Ayeta, Fray Francisco de, quoted (1679),

13; commissary of Inquisition, 314

Baca, VlIlentin C. de, of Bernalillo county,
mention (1895), 99

Baeza, Francisco de, quoted (1639), 9;
estimate as governor, 325

Bailey, George, special Indian agent, 135
Bailey, Jessie B., Diego de Vargas and

the Reconquest of New Me"'ico, 189t­
1704, rev'd, 108-111

Baird, S. M. Indian agent (1852), 219
(note), 232, 328, 335, 347, 349

Baker, Judge Grafton, mention (1853), 833
Baker, Lieut. Lawrence S., mention (1853),

376
Bancroft, H. H., quoted, 1; cited, 41-69

passim
Bandelier, A. F. A., quoted on hostile In­

dians, 172-3; on site of Vacapa (1539),
246

Barclay, --, license to trade with In­
dians (1852), 222

Barclay's Fort (on the Mora), 339
Barra, Jr., Luis L. de h. mention, 423

(note)
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Barrida. Ignacio de la, alcalde mayor of
Zuni (1750), 64, 66 (note)

Bartlett, John N., mention (1852), 369, 370
Bartlett-Conde compromise on boundary,

207-8, 209
Bayecitos, Los, 217
Beale, Lieut. Ed. F., on way to Calif.

(1853), 346, 375-6. See Beall
Beale·s Crossing, 139
Beall, Lieut.-Col. Beni. L., mention (1853),

373, 374
Beaubien, Judge Carlos, 218, 224, 358, 368,

377, 378
Beck, Jr.. Preston, named appraiser

(1853), 334
Beckwith, Lieut. H. E., mention (1853),

376
Benavides, Fray Alonso de, quoted, 6-8
Bender, A. B., "Military Posts in the

Southwest, 1848-60," 12.5-147
Bennett, I. L., Indian trader (1880), 286
Bennett, Capt. [F. T.l, for Navaho agent,

280; mention, 284,·291, 292, 296 (note),
303, 304, 306-7

Bent, Charles, mention (1833), 368, 378
Bent's Fort, mention (1853), 373, 374, 376
Benton, Senator Thomas H., (1853), 370,

375
Berger, W. M., quoted (1894), 82
Bernal, Fray Juan, quoted (1669), 12-3;

custodian (1679), 313; 315, 320
Beveridge Committee, at Las Cruces

(1902), 394-7
Bibliography of the Navaho Indians by

Kluckhohn & Spencer, rev'd, 107-8
Bigler, Gov. [John], (Calif.), quoted

(1856), 139-40
Bishop of Durango, and New Mexico, 161-

2, 317-8
Blackmore Papers, mention, 446
Blanco, Maricopa chief (1827, 1852), 370
Blancpain, Joseph, French trader (1754),

271
Bloom, L. B., rev's, Bailey, Var.(1as and

the Reconquest, 108-111; Caughey, Cali­
fornia, 112-4; criticized by Sauer, 233 et
seq.; editorial ·'Was Fray Marcos a
Liar ?", 224-6; cited, 273; "The Coro­
nado-Bocanegra Family Alliance," 401­
31; rev. Colorado by Fritz, 433-5

Bloom, Maude McFie, "Childhood Memories
of the Rio Grande in Flood," 359-365

Bocanegra, Bernaldino de, son~in-law of
Coronado, 402, 405 (note), 406 et
seq.

Bocanegra, Hernan Perez de, 401-431 paB­

sim
Bolton, H. E., cited, 2, 3, 4, 5; quoted, 111,

266, 267, 270, 271
Bonneville, Col. [B. L. E.], mention, 135
Boyd, Dr. Nathan S., and Elephant Butte,

381
Bradley, Col. [Luther P.], commanding

Fort Wingate (1882), 288, 292; quoted
(1881), 308, 310

Buchanan, W. F .. mention, 247
Buell, Col. [G. P.l, quoted (1880), 292,

302, 304
Burke, W. S., of Pacific Coal Co. (1882),

291
Buffalo, 3, 4; hides (1539), 241
Burgos, Juan de, the encomienda of, 402
Bustamante, Gov. Juan Domingo de, edict

(1724) , 259-260
Bustamante, [Pedro del, cited (1582), 3
Bustamante y Tagle, Bernardo Antonio de,

mention (1748), 47-8; (1750), 63-4, 169,
182, 266, 269

Byrnes, Dr., of U. S. Army (1852), 206
(note)

Cabeza de Vaca, Alvar Nunez, differences
as to route, 233; mention, 240

Cabildo of Santa Fe, wrote letters vs.
Franciseans (1667), 317-9

Cachupin. See Velez Cnehupin
Cadillac, La Mothe, mention, 250, 253
Calhoun, James S., mention, 206
California, by J. W. Caughey, rev'd, 112-4
Camino real, mention (1659), 11
Camp Bragg (Calif.), 138
Camp Colorado (Texas 1856), 130
Camp Cooper (Texas 1856), 130
Camp Far West (Calif.), 137
Camp Gaston (Calif.), 138
Camp Hollenbush (Calif.), 138
Camp Hudson (Texar), 131 (note), 132
Camp Verde (Texas), 131 (note)
Camp Wood (Texas 1857), 131
Camp Wright (Calif.), 139
Camp Yuma, (1850), 137; Fort (1859),

139
Camp occupied in Texas, temporary. 132

(note)
Campaign (1747), great, 174
Canada, proximity to New Mexieo (1715),

256
Canada Alamosa, Navaho trouble at,

(1882), 288, 289
Cannon, mention (1663), 28
Canon de Chelly, mention, 283 (note). 285
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Cantonment Burgwin, 133
Carson, Kit, mention, 368, 369, 378
Casa Grande ruin. a watch tower, 2
Casa Grandes, mention, 17 (note)
Casa Real, in Santa Fe (1664), 192
Castaneda, Pedro de, cited, 2, 3
Castano de Sosa, cited, 3-4
Catron, Thomas B., delegate (1895-7), men­

tion, 70, 81; quoted 81-2; 85-6; 95, 97;
quoted (1893), 102-3; 380, 390

Cattle, with Castano (1590), 4; in 18th
century, 167

Catzinas, resumed at Sandia and Isleta, 316
Caughey, John W., California, rev'd, 112-4
Cayuela, Fray Miguel Gomez, at Taos

(1750), 69
Cebolleta, mission at La, (1746), 60-7
Chacon, chief of Jicarillas (1853), 333,

note, 340, 351
Chapuis, Jean, mention (1752), 270-1
Chaves, Amado, quoted on Navahos (1878),

284
Chaves, Francisco de, conquistador, men­

tion, 403, 413 (note), 417-8
Chaves, J. Francisco, mention, 385, 386,

387
Chaves, General [Manuel A. 7], at Abiquiu

(1852), 224
Chavez, Nuno de, second Bocanegra 50n-in-

law of Coronado, 402, 418, 420, 421, 423
Cheyennes, mention (1852), 215
Chichilticalli, mention, 236
Childers, [W. B.], mention (1891), 94

(note)
Cliilili pueblo, abandoned, 13
Chino, Rancho del, (Calif.) , 138
Chiquagua, (1739), 364. See Chihuahua
Chocolate, mention (1663), 25
Church-State crisis (1749), 148-171
Cia pueblo, mention (1852),219
Cibola, monograph by Sauer cited, 233 ; Fray

Marcos and, 235, 236, 241, 242; mention,
401, 426; "plains of Cibola," 428 (note)

Clancy, Frank W., letter to Catron (1895),
101; 387

Clarke, Gen. N. S., mention (1857), 138
Cleveland, Pres. Grover, as to New Mex­

ico statehood, (1894), 75-6
Coal miners, at Gallup, killed a Navaho

(1882), 288

Cochetopa Pass, (Colorado), 371-5
Cochiti Indians, paid tithe (1852) to vicar,

215
Codallos y Rabal, Gov. Joaquin, 46, 47, 57,

58, 151; decree (1744), 174; great cam-

paign (1747), 174; 180; quoted (1748),
265

Collier, Capt. T. W., Raton editor, quoted
(1894),90; 391

Colorado, the Centennial State, by P. S.
Fritz, rev'd, 433-5

Comanches, Franciscans and, 67-8; in
1848, 128; 18th century, 171-183 pas.im;
(1852),215,225,229,231; (1748),265,
267, 269, 270

Compostela, 100 leagues south of Culiacan,
236, 237, 245

Comprehensive Index for Vols. I-XV of
the Review announced, 114

Conkling, Judge Alfred, of N. Y., in Mex­
ico, 210

Connelly, Henry, had sheep stolen (1882)
by Navaho, 288; "Dr." and freighter
(1853), 336

Conrad, Secy. of War Charles M., (1851),
129, 139, 142

"Contraband Trade between Louisiana and
New Mexico in the 18th century," by
Folmer, 249-274

Cooke, Col. Philip St. George, mcntion
(1846), 369; 375

Coolidge (Ariz.), ruin at, 2
Copper mines agency (1852), 224, 232
Cordova. Fernando de, son of Bocanegra,

mention, 415, 420, 421 (note)
Coronado, Francisco Vazquez de. evidence

from his letters (1539), 244-6; "Coro­
uado-Bocanegra Family Alliance," 401­
431 passim; date of death, 408; place of
burial, 423 (note)

Coronado, Juan VazqueZ de, a brother of
Don Francisco, 429

Coronado, Dona Marina Vazquez de, sec-
ond daughter of Coronado, 425, 431

Coronado expedition, and the Apache, 2-3
Coronado Library, mention, 401 (note)
Cortez, Hernan, mention (1539), 240; 402
Cortes, Martin, oldest son of Hernan. See

Valle, Marques del
Cortinas, Mexican bandit, mention, 132
Corwin, Thomas, of Ohio, interest· in New

Mexico, 215 (note)
Cotton, 18th century, 159, 176
Crespo, Bishop, 161, 162
Covarrubias, Fray Bernardo Lopez de, wit­

ness vSP Peiialosa, 20
Crawford, William S., detective, killed in

Albuquerque (1881),293 (note)
Crist, J. H., criticized (1901), 390-1
Cruzate y Gongora, Gov. Gervasio, men­

tion (1734). 55
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Cuarac pueblo. abandoned, 13
Cuartelejo. El, mention (1727). 260
CulJero, mention (1750), 63-5
Culberson-Stephens bill (1a01), 382
Culiacan. mention (153a). 235, 244, 245
Cushing. Frank H .• mention (1882), 290
Custodian. Franciscan; authority discussed

(1663). 25-27. 28; succession, 313. See
Bernal; Mirabal; Paz; Posada; Tala­
ban; Velasco; Varo

Damon. Anson C.. Indian tradcr (1880),
236

Dargan. Marion. "New Mexico's Fight for
Statehood. 1895-1aI2." 70-103; 379-400

Davenport, Judge J. J., mention (1853),
356

Davis, Sec'y of War Jeff., cited. 140
Davidson, Charles, Indian trader (1880),

286
De Bourgmond. Etienne Veniard, (1724),

260, 261, 273
D'Eglise, Jacques, mention, 273
De la Harpe, Bernard, cited,. 254, 257
Delgado, Fray Carlos. to Moqui (1742). 43-

7, 52; to Navaho (1744-5), 56-9; at Isleta,
59; (1740), 69; wrote denunciation
(1750), 150-170 passim

Delgado, Simon, of Santa Fe (1853), 352
Depew, E. N., (of Taos ?), mention (1853),

357
DorM, Theodore H., Indian agent, (died

1869), 306, note
Dodge, Henry, agency butcher (1880), 298,

311
Dodge, Capt. Hellry L., agent killed by

Apaches (1856). 135, 306. note; earlier
false report of killing (1853), 346. 347,
348, 349, 357

Dogs, mention, 3
Dominguez, Francisco. mention. 17 (note)
Dominguez de Mendoza, Francisco. 189, 191
Dcm:ing~ez de Mendoza, Juan. campaigns.

9-10, 32; escudero', 33, 34; suspect of
Holy Office (1666).·315-7, 319; former
alcalde mayor of Sandia and Isleta, 316

Dominguez de Mendoza. Tome. 15, 20, 32,
34, 35, 185. 187

Donnelly, T. C., necrology "Arthur S.
White," 122-4

Dorantes de Carranza. cited, 403 (note),
413 (note), 424

Downs, Francis, mention (1892), 97
Doyle. --, license with Barclay to trade

with Indians (1852), 222
Drew, William, in Indian trade (1853), 354

Dunham. Harold H., Government Handout:
~ Study in the Administration of the
Public Lands. 1875-1891, rev'd, 435-8

Dunne, S. J., Rev. Peter M., Pioneer Black
Robes on the West Coast, rev'd, 111·2

Du Pratz, Le Page, quoted, 250-3
Duran de Armijo, Fray Antonio, letter

( 1748) to governor from Taos, 265-6
Duran y Chavez, Cristobal, arrest (1663).

22, 27; made escudero, 33
Duran y Chavez. Pedro, arrested (1663),

22, 27, 30, 34

Earle, Inspector A. L., quoted (1878), 281
Eastman, Galen. Navaho agent (1879),

282-312 passim
Elephant Butte project, (190l) , 381
Elizacochea, Bishop, 162
Elkins, Stephen B., 97, 437
Ellison. Samuel, ranch in Galisteo (1852).

230, 328, 334; 339, 352
Ellison, William H., cited 137 (note)
El Paso, early jurisdiction discussed, 17

(note)
Encinal. mission (1749) for Navaho, 60-7
Encomenderos. mention (1638), 8; and

escuderos (1664), 191-2; illegal holdings
(1563), 401-3

Encomicndos, two seized (1662), 33; 3
mentioned, 36, 191-2; Burgos to Coro­
nado, 402; Acambaro. 419

Enloe, E. L., necrology, 445
Enriquez, Fray Nicolas de, guardian of

Santa Fe convent (1663), 28; wrote
satire on civil authorities (1667), 318,
319

Escohar y Llamas. Father Cristobal, Jesuit
provincial (1745), quoted, 52-4

Escuderos, appointed (1663), 33, 191-2
Espejo, Antonio, cited, 3
Espeleta, Fray Joseph de, at Isleta (1663),

29-31; estimate of, 324
Estevanico, the negro, 236, 241, 242, 243,

244
Estrada. Alonso de, mention, 402, 408, 415
Estrada. Dona Beatriz, wife of Coronado.

402, 406, 408, 421
Eulate, Gov. Juan de. estimate of, 325
Ewell, Capt. [R. S.), mention (1853), 348
Exponi nobis. papal bull, mention, 28

Fair, at Taos (1749), 266
Fall, Albert B., mention (1895), 88
Famine, (1659?), 11; (1668). 13
Fauntleroy, Col. Thomas T., 136
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Febvre, Louis, at Santa Fe (1749), tailor
and barber, 266, 267, 270

Federal land laws, divergent views on ad­
ministration of, 436 et seq.

Fergusson, H. B., delegate (1897-9), men-
tion, 70, 74, 88

Fernandez Duro, Cesareo, cited, 204
Feuilli, Louis, mention (1752), 270-1
Fitzpatrick, Maj. Thomas, mention (1852),

215
Florida, Coronado "discovered" the land

of, 428
Floyd, Sec'y of War John, mention (1859),

141
Folmer. Henri, HContraband Trade between

Louisiana and New Mexico in the 18th
century," 249-274

Fore~an, Grant, "'Antoine Leroux," 367-
878

Fort. See Camp
Fort Apache, mention (1882), 290 (note)
Fort Arbuckle (1834), 130
Fort Belknap (Texas), mention (1854),

128, 129, 132
Fort Bent. See Bent's Fort
Fort Bliss, 132
Fort Breckenridge, 135
Fort Brown (Texas, 1846), 126, 131, 132
Fort Buchanan, 135
Fort Chadbourne (Texas 1852), 129
Fort Clark (Texas 1852), 129, 132
Fort Cobb (Indian territory), 130
Fort Conrad, 133, 134
Fort Craig, 134
Fort Croghan (Texas, 1849), 128
Fort Crook (California), 138
Fort Davis (Texas), 132
Fort Defiance, 133 (note); (1852), 219;

(1878), 275, 279, 282-3, 296; three
teachers fled (1880), 800-2

Fort Duncan (Texas 1849), 131, 132
Fort Ewell (Texas), 131 (note), 132
Fort Fillmore, 133, 185
Fort Garland (Colorado, 1858), 135
Fort Gates (Texas, 1849), 128
Fort Graham, (Texas 1849), 128, 132
Fort Humboldt (California), 138 (note)
Fort lnge (Texas), 131 (note)
Fort Jones (California), 138
Fort Lancaster (Texas 1855), 131
Fort Lane (California), 138
Fort Laramie, mention (1852), 214 ;

treaty (1851),215 (note)
Fort Lincoln (Texas), 131 (note), 132
Fort Mann (Kansas 1847), 126

Fort Marcy (1846), 126-7, 133
Fort Martin Scott (Texas 1848), 131,

132
Fort Mason (Texas 1851), 128, 132
Fort Massachusetts, 133, 135, 217; (1853),

373, 376
Fort McIntosh (Texas 1850), 131
Fort McKavett (Texas 1852), 129, 132
Fort Merrell (Texas), 131 (not<')
Fort Miller (California), 138
Fort Mojave (California), 139
Fort Phantom (Texas 1851), 129
Fort Polk, (Texas 1846), 126, 131
Fort Quitman (Texas), 132
Fort Reading (California), 138
Fort Selden (1884), 361
Fort Stanton, 134
Fort Stockton .( Texas), 132
Fort Tejon (California), 138 (note)
Fort Terrett (Texas), 131 (note)
Fort Terwaw (California), 139
Fort Thorn, 134, 135; washed away (1884),

861
Fort Umpqua (California), 138
Fort Union, 133, 206 (note)
Fort Washita (1834), 130
Fort Webster, 133, 134, 135; (1853), 208

(note), 342, 345, 847
Fort Wingate, mention (1878), 278, 279,

288, 302
Fort Worth, (Texas 1849), 128, 132
Franciscan Missions, °of New Mexico.

1740-60," by H. W. Kelly, 41-69, 148­
183; summary by Scholes on 17th cen­
tury, 323-7

Freeman, A. A., of Carlsbad, 389, 393
(notes)

Freeman Report (1853), cited, 131 (note)
Freitas, Fray Nicohis de, chaplain of Pena­

losa, 18-20, 24-5, 36, 193, 195, 197, 204;
at Acoma (1666), 815, 316-7

Fremont, John C., mention (1853), 370,
373, 374

French, in 18th century trade, 177, 250
et seq.

Frenger, Numa, mention (1880's), 364-5
Fritz, Percy S., Colorado, rev'd, 433-5
Frost, Max, mention (1892), 80, 437
Fuerte river (Mexico, 1539), 240-1

Gadsden, James, appointed to Mexico
(1853), 210-11

Gadsden Purchase, and defense problem,
134

Galisteo, raided (1751), 174-5; (1750),
180; pedreros dismantled, 181
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Gallegos, Jose Manuel, elected delegate
(1853), 212

Galloway, Tod B., edited Greiner letters,
207 (note)

Gallup, a killing in (1882), 288; a tent
saloon destroyed, 293-4

Ganado Mucho, Navaho chief (1878), 279,
283 (note), 291, 294, 311

Ga:rcia, Fray Andres, in Navaho missions
(1749), 61; 150, 170

Gardesky, Martin, necrology, 119-120
Garland, Gen. [John], 353 (note), 356, 357
Genfzar08, about 1300 (1749), 68; at Tome,

Abiquiu, Taos, San Juan, 69
Gerhart, Herbert B., mention, 439
Gila River, visited by Gov. Lane (1853),

208; crossing of (1539), 236
Gilbert, Charles C., necrology, 443-4
Glorieta, mention (1853), 355, note
Gold mining, (1853), 333
Gomes, Gon~alo, witness (1562) for Boca­

negra, 414, 415
G6mez Robledo, Francisco, mention (1663),

33, 36, 189, 191-2
Gonzalez Lob6n, Diego, mention (1663), 35
Gorman, Rev. Samuel, at Laguna ( 1852) ,

219
"Government and the Navaho, 1878-83,"

by Reeve, 275-313
Government Handout: a Study in the Ad­

ministration of the Pubtie Land8, 1875­
1891, by H. H. Dunham, rev'd, 435-8'

Governors, severe .charges against, 165,
176, 178-9

Gracia. See L6pez de Gracia
Grants: Ledoux, 367 (note); Antoine Le­

roux, 368, 377; Maxwell, 436
Graves, Indian agent C. A., 356, 357
Greiner, John, journal cited, 206 (note);

207, 215 (note), 222, 336 (note), 343
(note)

Grier, Maj. William N., mention (1849),
369

Griffin, W. W., 437
Gruber, Bernardo, Inquisition case (1668),

320-1
Guadalupe Hidalgo, Treaty of, mention,

207
Guaiabe, folded wafer-bread, 158
Guerra, Fray Salvador de, mention (1662),

17, 21, 196; (1665), 314
Guevara, Fray Miguel de, quoted (1662),

16-20; 36, 195
Gunnison, Capt. J. W., mention (1853),

376, 377

Hackett, Charles W., cited, 41-69 pa88im,
204

Hadley, Hiram, father of Walter, 100
Hadley, Walter C., worked against s13te­

hood, 99-102
Hafen, LeRoy R., (with C. C. Rister),

Western America, rev'd, 432-3
Hallenbeck, Cleve, cited, 233
Hammond. Geo. P., rev's, Western Anwr­

iea by Hafen and Rister, 432-3
Hammond and Rey, Narrative8 of the Cor­

onado Expedition, cited, 421 (note), 427­
8 (note), 430

Hammond, Inspector J. H., cited (1878),
283; 286

Haring, C. H., cited, 249
Harrison, Pres. William H., ignored New

Mexico (1891), 75
Hatch, Senator Carl A., mention, 115
Hatch, General Edward, mention (1877),

276; (1880), 292-3; quoted 306
Hatch's Ranch on Gallinas river, soldier.

posted at, 135
Hawikuh pueblo, abandoned (1670), 13
Hay, George W., necrology, 439-40
Head, Lafayette, Indian agent (1853),

345, 351
Hemes. See Jemez
Heredia, Capt. Crist6bal de, mention
(1590), 4
Hernandez, Mrs. B. C., "Death of Dr. J.

W. Whitlock," 104-6
Hernandez, Fray Juan Joseph, at Sandia

(1748), 48
Herrera, Fray Bias de, lay brother (l663) ,

23-4, 28 (note); quoted. 36-7
Hersch, Joseph, warned not to sell an

Indian (1852), 223
Hill, W. W., rev's, Kluckhohn & Spen­

cer, Bibliography of the ,Navaho Indians,
107-8; cited on Naval 0, 296 (note)

Hodge, F. W., cited 2-3
Hoffman, Col. William, mention (l859),

139
Holman, James W., mention. 104
Hopkins, Jr., L. N., of Santa Fe (1880),

lost ranch in Navaho country, 287
(note) ; post trader at Wingate (l882),
297

Horses, taken in raids (l600), 5-6; (1659),
11; value to Apaches, 13-14; strange to
Pawnees ( 1720), 258

Houck, Louis, cited, 273
Houghton, J oab, mention (l857) , 368
Hovey, O. P., in Indian trade (l853), 354,

358
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Howard, Henry Hammond, influential ed­
itor (1901), 385, note

Hubbell, Charles, agency interpreter
(1880), 298

Huerta; Toribio de la, messenger (1661),
189, 190

Hughes, Anne, cited, 17 (note)
Huning, Louis, of Albuquerque, breached

contract (1880), 296, 300
Hurdaide, Capt., mention, 111

Ibargaray. Fray Antonio de, estimate of,
324

Icaza, F. A., cited, 403 (note), 407 (note),
418 (note)

IJIiteracy (in 1890), 76
HIndian Affairs in New Mexico under the

Administration of William Carr Lane.
From the Journal of John Ward," by
Annie H. Abel. 206-232, 328-358

Indian agents, 213 (note), 224. See Arny,
Baird. Dodd. Dodge, Greiner. Head, Ir­
vine, Kearn, Keithly, Miller, Overman,
Pyle, Steck, Ward, Whiting, Wingfield

HIndian Ring," 298. See HSanta Fe Ring"
Inquisition in New Mexico, 14-40 passim;

commissaries of, 313 et seq.
Irigoyen, Fray J DSe Trigo, at Jemez "&

missionary labor (1744), 46, 56-7
Irvine. Alexander, Indian agent (1877),

275
Isleta pueblo, mention (1742), 43, 44;

complaint (1852) vs. their governor, 228
Ivers, William. in Indian trade (1853), 351

Jackson, Rev. Sheldon, quoted (1880). 301.
note; 304

Jail, at' Santa Fe (1661) in the casa de
Cabildo, 190

Jaramillo, Geronimo, witness (1750), 160-1
Jefferson Barracks (Mo.), mention (1851),

129
Jemez Indiana, mention (1622), 6; 9, 11,

44; Fray Irigoyen (1744),57; (1852)
215; Navaho agency at pueblo (1852),
219 (note); object to new road through
their fields (1853), 346

J enneret, J., of Santa Fe (1853), 352
Jesuits, rivals of Franciscans, 50-4; book

by Dunne, rev'd, 111-2
Jesup. Q. M. Gen'l T. S., cited, 140
Jicarilla Apaches, mission (1733) on Rio

Trampas, 55; visit Santa Fe (1852),
213; home at Las Truchas, 216; 221, 222,
231; at Anton Chico (185&), 328, 329,
340, 345, 348

Jicara. meaning, 158,- 446
Johnston; Col. Joseph E., mention, 135
Johnston, J. L., of Santa Fe, alleged head

of "Ring" (1882), 297
Jones. Henry Bert, necrology by Walter,

247-8
J ones, Paul A., cited, 421, 423
Joseph, Antonio, delegate to Congress

(1885-95), 70, 72, 74, 85, 102, 380
Juarez, Fray Andres, estimate of, 324
Julian, Surveyor General Geo. W.. 436
Jumano pueblo. See Humauas
Jumanos Indians, (1748), 267, 268-9
Junta de los Rios, presidio needed (1749),

149
Jurupa. Rancho del, California. mention,

137

Kearn, Thomas V., 275-7, 280, 286, 289
(note), 297, 302, 304, 305, 306, 309, 311­
312

Keithly. [Levy J.], Indian agent, mention
(1853), 349

Kelly. Henry W., "Franciscan Missions of
New Mexico, 1740-60," 41-69, 148-183,447

Kern, R. H., artist, mention (1853), 372
Kiowas, in Texas (1848), 128, 215
Kluckhohn, Clyde, A Bibliography of the

Navaho Indians, rev'd, 107-8

Lacome, Auguste, of Taos, mention (1853),
214 (note), 328

Lacorne, John, Frenchman of Taos, men­
tion (1852), 214, 216, 218

Ladd, H. 0., quoted (1887), on Navaho di­
visions, 283 (note)

Lane, William Carr, Indian affairs under,
(1852-3), 206-232, 328-358; proclamation
on boundary, 209. 386 (note); supported
by Pierce administration, 210; candi­
date for congress (1853), 211 ; to Socorro,
218; 331, 334, 338-356 passim

Larrazolo, O. A., mention, 387
La Sane expedition. and Peiialosa, 204
Las Salinas, pueblos of, 11; pueblo aban­

doned, 13
Las Vegas de Santa Clara (Nevada), men­

tion (1853), 373, 374

La Toma del Rio del Norte, end of New
Mexico, 17 (note)

Ledoux, Antonio, facts about, 367 (note),
368, 378

Leonard, William B., trader's clerk at Ft.
Defiance (1882), 297, 308

Lepanto, battle of, mention, 429 (note)
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Leroux. Antoine, paper by Grant Fore­
man on, 367-378

Lezaun, Padre Juan Sanz de, cited, 44
(note), 49 (note); at Encinal (1749).
60; ejected (1750), 64; 150; at Santa
Ana, 157-160

Llewellyn, W. H. H., quoted (1895), 101-2
Logan, Gen'l. John G., mention, 360
L6pez de Gracia, Capt. Andres, first al­

calde may.". of EI Paso. 17
L6pez de Mendizabal, Gov. Bernardo, 10,

12, 17 (note); 184, 189; estimate of, 325
L6pez Zambrano, Capt. Andres, an alcalde

mayor (1663), 37
Los Humana., pueblo, 9, 13
Lougee, George C., necrology, 441-2
Louisiana. contraband trade between N.

Mex. and, 249-274
Lucero, Jose and Pedro, of Mora (1852),

220
Lucero de Godoy, Juan, mention (1663),

22, 189
Lucero de Godoy, Pedro, mention (1663).

35
Luna, Solomon, mention, 385, 386, 387
Luxan, Dona Ysabel de, oldest daughter

of Coronado, 406, 408. 421
Lyons, Dr., at Fort Selden (1884), 361.

364
McClellan, Capt. Geo. B., cited, 142
MeFie, Judge and Mrs. ,John R., in the

1880'., 359-365
Mackenzie, Col. R. S., mention (1882), 288,

309
McNeil, Inspector John, quot~d (1880),

305-6
McNett, Dr. J. B., at Fort Defiance (1879.

80), 298, note; 300-1, 305 (note)

Majors, Alexander, mention (1853), 356
Mallet expedition (1739), 261-3
Mangas Coloradas, Apache chief. mention

(1853), 342
Mansfield, Col. J. K. F., inspection of

Dept. of Texas (1856), cited, 133 (note)
Manso de Contreras, Gov. Juan, mention.

10. 12 ,15, 17 (note); officer of Inquisi­
tion, 188-9, 192, 195

Manso de Valdez, Pedro, lieut.-gov. (1663),
24-5

Manuelito, Navaho chief (1878), 281, 283
(note). 284, 285, 291, 294, 310-1

Manypenny. George W., Indian commis­
sioner and author, 343. note

Manzanares. J ase Antonio, prefect of Rio
Arriba county (1853), 224, 329

Map (1941) of military posto in South­
west 1848-60, facing 125

Margil de J eSlls, Fray Antonio, in Texas
(1719), 257

Maricopa Indians, fight with trapper.
(1827), 370

Marin del Valle, Gov. Francisco Antonio,
mention, 149

Marsillo, Father. See Margil de Jesus
Martin, [W. E.], of Socorro county (1895),

mention. 98~9

Martinez. Father Antonio Jose, mention,
368, 378

Martinez, R6mulo. post trader at Defiance
(1882), 297

Massey, Dr., of Santa Fe (1852), 206
(note), 331

Matheson, the Rev. Mr., at Las Cruce.
(1880'.), 364

Maxwell, Lucien B., took .heep from Taos
to Salt Lake (1852), 374; 437

Maxwell Land Grant, litigation discussed,
436 et seq.

Mayo River (1539), mention, 236
Mayorazgo, the Bocanegra, 408 et seq.
Mayors, Alexander. See Major.
Medal., silver, .ent by President Fillmore

(1852), 230
Medrano y Mesia, Gov. Juan de, (1668-71), .

allusion to, 322
Menaul, Dr. John, mention (1877), 276
Menchero, Fray Juan Miguel. mention

(1748), 47, 55, 60, 62, 65-7, 69 (note)
Mendizabal. See Lopez de Mendizabal
Mendoza, Viceroy Antonio de, mention

(1539), 239, 241; 402, 403, 412, 424,480,
431

Mendoza, Don Francisco de. Bon of Viceroy
(Don Antonio), mention, 412

Mendoza. Gov. Gaspar Domingo de, men...
tion (1742),43-6; (1740),68; decree of,
174

Mendoza, Gov. Mateo Antonio. mention 149
Merchandise, scarcity of, 249
Meriwether, Gov. David W., appointed

(1853), 348-9, 353, 355, 356-8
Merritt, E. S., acting agent of Moqui.,

quoted (1880), 299, note; 305
Me.calero Apaches, mention (1852), 216;

at Anton Chico (1853). 328
Mesilla, old plaza (1884), 362
Me.iIIa Valley, Apaches' and, 134; wanted

(1848), 208; (1853), 209, 337
Messervy. Wm. S., territorial secretary

(1853), 341, 354
Mestizos, mention (1639). 9
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Miera y Pacheco, Bernardo, 1778 map
cited, 46 (note); at Paso del Norte
(1751), 269

Miles, Col. [D. S.l, mention, 135
Military Departments, (1848), 127 (note);

New Mexico, 133; California, 136, 139;
Pacific, 138, 139

"Military Posts in the Southwest, 1848-60,"
by Bender, 125-147

Miller, James H., Navaho agent, killed
(1872), 281 (note), 306 (note)

Miller, Lorion, sec'y of territory (1894),
87, 90, 91

Mills, M. W., of Springer, 391
Minguez, Fray Juan, data on, 258 (note)
Mirabal, Fray Juan [Joseph Perez de], at

J icarilla mission (1734) , 55; at San
Juan (1750),69; custodian (1747), 180

Miranda, Gov. Juan Duran de, mention
(1664), 35, 40; allusion to (1671-5), 322

Missions, Franciscan, use of gifts, 57. 64-7 ;
work criticized, 151-171. See Scholes,
Kelly

Moquis, in 1740, 41-54; in 1852, 219 (note)
Mora, [Vidal], of Bernalillo Co., mention

(1895), 99
Morales. Francisco, discussed encomendero8

(1563), 401-3
Mormon War, mention, 135; Mormons

crowded Navaho (1878), 285; in railroad
camps (1880), 292; "tampering with
Navaho," 301 (note), 303, 304; at Ojo
San Jose (1853), 374

Morton, Andrew, banker, 391-2
Moya, Pedro Martinez de, 19 (and note)
Mules, mention (1659), 11, 12
Murphy, Nathan Oaks, Arizona delegate

to Congress (1895-7), .102

Nangle, Dr., at Santa Fe (1853), 352
Natchitoches, mention, 253, 255, 256, 264
Navaho, mention, 1, 2, 3, 6; Franciscans

and, 54-67; 18th century, 172; league
planned (1852), 215; federal government
and (1878-83), 275-313; five divisions
(1887), 283 (note)

Necrology: Mrs. Henry Woodruff, 116-7;
James Leon Seligman, 117-9; Martin
Gardesky, 119-120; Pablo Abeita, 120-2;
Arthur S. White, 122-4; report (1941) to
the State Bar Association, 439-444

Newspapers, various Territorial, quoted,
70-103 passim, 379-400 passim

Niza, Fray Marcos de, the Vienna Manu­
script described by Hammond, 115 ;
paper on his credibility by Sauer, 238-43;

editorial by Bloom, "Was Fray Marcos A
Liar 1", 244·6

Nomad Indians, New Mexico and, 171-188
"Northern Mystery," revived (1745), 59
Nunez, Pero, witness (1562) for Boca-

negra, 414
Nutria Valley, mention (1882), 290

O'Brien, James, chief justice, mention
(1892), 97; 389

Ojo San Jose, Mormons at (1853), 874
Onate, Crist6bal de, as witness for Boca­

negra (1562), 414; 420 (note); house in
Mexico, 422

Onate "el joven," Crist6bal de, executed
(1568) for conspiracy, 420 (note)

Onate, Juan de, quoted, 4-5
Onate, Juan de, uncle of New Mexico's

governor, mention, 420 (note)
Opata settlements, on Fray Marcos' route

( 1539), 233.4, 236, 241-2
Orcoquisac, EI, mention (1755), 272
O'Reilly, Henry, quoted (1857), 140
Ornedal y Maza, Juan Antonio de, inspec-

tor (1749), 149-170 pa88im; 181
Oronsoro, Fray Juan Jose, mention, 150
Ortiz, Tomas, prefect of Santa Fe county

(1852), 212 (note)
Ortero, A. J. (Judge Antonio Jose Otero),

sent to Isleta (1852), to investigate
trouble, 228; 331

Otero, Antonio Jase. See Ortero
Otero, Gov. Miguel A., quoted (1903), 96;

381 (note), 387
Our Lady of Victory. Feast of, established

(1770), 173
Overman, Charles, Indian agent, (1852),

221, 232

Pacheco, Dona Beatriz, wife of Hernan
Perez de Bocanegra, 403, 409, 413

Pacheco. Francisco. son of Bocanegra, men­
tion, 415, 420, 421 (note)

Pacheco, Juan, cattle ranch of, gotten by
Bocanegra, 422

Pacheco, Don Juan, a Bocanegra Bon who
died young, 417 (note)

Pacheco de C6rdova y Bocanegra, Don
Francisco, Bon of Nuno de Chaves and
grandson of Coronado, petition to King
(1605), 424-31

Pacheco y Cardenas, errors in their Docu-
mentoB inedito8 disc1Jssed, 233

Painting, Pueblo practice (1630), 7
Pajarito pueblo, abandoned (1680), 42, 44
Paraje, town now submerged by dam, 865
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Parke, Lieutenant, mention (1853), 372
Parraga, Fray Diego de, mention (1663),

23-4
Parral, town (1659), 10, 12, 15, 16, 17

(note), 34; Penalosa at (1664), 184, 196
Patton, Harry Lee, necrology, 442-3
Pawnee Indians massacre Spaniards

(1720), and unfamiliar with the horse,
258

Paz, Fray Juan de, custodian (1665), 40,
313-321 passim

Pecos Indians, hostile (1608), 6 ; Co­
manche ambush (1750), 181-3

Pecos pueblo, mention (1663\, 22, 25 ;
raided (1746, 1748), 174; French trader
at (1744), 264-5

Pedraza, Fray Jeronimo de, estimate of, 324
pedreros (stone mortars), at Galisteo

(1749),181
Penalosa, Diego de, quoted (1665?), 12;

vs. Posada, 15-40 ; Inquisition trial
(1665), 184 et seq.; in England and
France (1669-87), 203-5

Perea, Fray Estevan de, estimate of, 324
Perea, Pedro, delegate (1899-1901), men­

tion, 70, 102
Perez de Bocanegra. See Bocanegra
Perez Hernandez, Diccionario geogrdfieo,

quoted, 424, note
Perkins, Mrs. J. D., at Fort Defiance,

against Eastman (1882). 311
Perrillo, Apaches del, 7
Petatlan, mention, 240
Picur!es, hostile (1608), 6
Piedra lumbre, used (1630), 7
Pima Village, mention (1852), 217; vil­

lages (1539), 234
Pimerla Alta, mention (1741), 51, 53
Pino, Fray Ignacio Pedro, mention (1742),

44; 170
Pino (Pinito), of Dona Ana county, men­

tion (1895), 99
Pinon nuts, in trade (1749), 176
Pioneer Black Robes on the West Coast,

by Dunne, rev'd, 111-2
Piros, discontent (1660's), 12
Pizarro, Gonzalo de, in Peru, mention. 412,

416
Placer gold mines, mention (1853), 333
Pojoaque pueblo, mention (1852), 215
Ponce de Leon, Juan, conquistador, men-

tion, 407
Ponce de Le6n, Dona Leonor, daughter of

Bocanegra, 407, 418, 421 (note)
Ponce de Le6n, Luis, governor of New

Spain, 403, 412, 414, 415

Ponce de Le6n, Luis, tbird Bocanegra Bon­
in-law of Coronado, 402, 418, 420, 421
(note)

Pope, Capt. John, quoted (1859), 140-1.
142, 144-5

.Pope, General [John], mention (1880),
302-3, 306-7

Posada, Fray Alonso, against Penalosa, 15­
40; arrested (1663), 25-31, 187-8, 191,
313, 314

Prada, Fray Juan de, quoted (1638), 8
Presidio del Norte, mention (1717),255
Prichard, Col. Geo. W., data on, and men-

tion (1892), 97
Priestley, H. I., error noted, 420 (note)
Frince, L. Bradford, mention (1890), 71;

(1893), 92; quoted (1880), 301-2; 437
Prudo, Nicolas. of San Miguel, license

(1852) to trade with Comanches, 232
Pueblo Indians, community land, 213, 217,

220; marriage customs, 213; citizenship,
213; tabulated (1941), 214 ; effect of 17th
century church-state controversy on,
326-7; pueblo officers installed (1853) by
Supt. of Indian Affairs, 329-30; first con­
tact with white men, 401

Purdy, J. H., lawyer of Santa Fe (1902),
394

Pyle, John E., Indian agent (1878), 275,
278-285, 295

Querechos, 3, 4
Quinn, James H., mention (1853), 358
Quir6s, Fray Crist6bal de, estimate of, 324
Quivira, mention (1662). 204

Ram!rez, Francisco, mention, 17 (note)
RamIrez, Fray Juan (founder of Acoma

mission), estimate of, 324
Ramirez, Fray Juan (the custodian),

quoted (1659). 10-12; claim vs. Pena­
losa, 202

Ransom, Lieutenant, mention (1853) at
Taos, 357

Raynolds, Jefferson, mention, 247; (1901).
391, 393 (note)

Real provisi6n, explained, 404 (note), 427·
8 (note), 430 (note)

Reed, Rev., mention (1852), 219
Reeve, Frank D., "The Government and

the Navaho, 1878-83," 275-312
Renehan, A. B., paper at conference (1923)

cited, 220 (note)
Re.idencio. See L6pez de Mendizabal;

Miranda; Penalosa
Revolts, Indians, 9, 12-3
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Reynolds, Chas. A., necrology, 440-1
Rincon, junction for the EI Paso branch

(1884), 359
Ringgold Barracks (1848), 126, 131, 132

(note)
"Rio Grande in Flood, Childhood Memor­

ies of the," bY Maude M. Bloom, 359-365
Rister, Carl C., (with L. R. Hafen), West­

ern A merica, rev'd. 432-3
Robertson, James, in Indian trade (1853),

351
Robinson, John, sheriff of Mora county,

104
Robinson, J osefita Whitlock, wife of John,

104
Robledo Pass, near Fort Selden, 362
Rodey, Bernard S.,. delegate (1901-5), men­

tion, 70, 381, 387, 390
Rollins, John H., special U. S. Indian "gent,

quoted (1850), 143 (note)
Romero, Diego, mention (1663), 33, 36, 191
Romero, Pedro, a witness at Cebolleta

(1750), 66 (note)
Rosas, Gov. Luis de, estimate of, 325
Ross, Edmund G., editor Deming Headlight.

(1891), quoted, 79; 84, 94 (note)
Roybal, Fray Santiago, at Santa Fe (1739),

262-4
Rubio, Fray Joseph, in Navaho missions

(1749), 61
Russell, Dr. Carl P., mention. 115
Russians of Pacific coast, nL~ntion. 113·4
Ruyamor. Capt. Fernando. alcalde may01'

of Acoma and Laguna (1750), 64, 66
(note)

Sabine, James E., appraiser (1853), 334
St. Bernard, mission on Rio Grande (1717),

255
St. Denis, Juchereau de, mention, 250,

253-5
St. Vrain, Ceran. mention, 368, 373
Salas, Fray Juan de, estimate of, 324
Salazar. Gon~alo de, house in Mexico, 422
Salazar, L., of San Miguel (1852), 225,

231

Samaniego, Gov. Juan de, mention, 9
San Antonio, troops at, 131 (note)
Sanchez, Pedro, quoted (1893), 103
"Sanctuary" right of, violated (1663), 22,

30

Sandia pueblo, abandoned (1680), 42, 44;
resettled (1748), 47-9; church mentioned
(1665), 314

Sandoval, Navaho chief (1852), 219-220

Sandoval, Felipe de, Spanish refugee
(1750), 268-9

San Felipe, mention (1659), 11
San Francisco, Fray Garcia de, mention, 17

(note) ; estimate of, 324
San Francisco presidio, 127
San Gabriel river (Calif.), fort on the, 137
San Ildefonso, mention (1659), 11; (1852),

220
San Isidro, mention (1878), 284
San Juan Bautista (on lower Rio Grande),

253, 255
San Juan de los Caballeros pueblo,

genizaros at (1750), 69; (1852), 220
San Luis Valley, described (1853), 372
Santa Clara pueblo, mention (1630), 7;

43, note; 216, 217, 220
Santa Cruz, Francisco de, regidor who re·

signed office for Coronado, 403, 404
"Santa Fe Gang," mention (1~9l), 79;

alleged members of "Ring," (1882), 297
"Santa Fe Ring," assailed by Agent East..

man (1882), 297; 307, 309, 312, 437. See
"Indian Ring"

Santander, Fray Diego <Ie, mention (1663),
25; at Acoma (1666), 315-6

Santo Domingo pueblo, mention (1663),
22-3

Sauer, CarlO., "The Credibility of the
Fray Marcos Account," 233-243

Scholes, France V., HTroublous Times in
New Mexico, 1658-70," 15-40, 184-205,
313-327

Seaburg, Hugo, of Raton, 391
Secular priests, proposed (1750) for EI

Paso and Santa Fe, 152-3, 161
Seligman. James Leon, necrology, 117-9
Semameros, Pueblo Indians in weekly Berv·

ice, 166-8
Senecli pueblo, abandoned, 13
Seward, William H., mention (1853), 375
Shaw, Rev., chaplain at Fort Defiance

(1852), 219; reported killed near Fort
Defiance (1853); false, 346, 347

Sheldon, Gov. L. A., quoted (1882), 288
Sherman, General, [Wm. T.], visited Fort

Defiance (1878), 280, 285 ; quoted (1881),
289; mention (1880), 303, 305 (note)

Sierra Blanca (Colorado), 371, 374
Sierra Moganos, Mescaleros at (1852), 220
Silver, bullion (1660), 184-5
Simpson, Harry, clerk at Navaho agencY

(1879), 298
Sinclair, Harry, agency clerk (1880), 305
Sitgreaves, Capt. Lorenzo, mention (1851),

369, 375
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Slaves, Apaches seized, 4; Navaho, 10,
illegal, 10-12; 38; 106

Smith, Claude T., necrology, 441
Smith, Supt. F. W., of Atlantic and Pacific

R. R., mention (1882), 288
Smith, Rev. Geo. G., Presbyterian at Santa

Fe (1878), quoted, 280-1
Smith, Hugh N., mention (1857), 368

(note)
Smith, James M., Indian agent (1853),349,

356
Soldiers, mistreatment of the 80, (1750),

179
Sonora, trade (16657), 12
Soto, Hernando de, mention, 428, (note)
Spiess, Charles, mention (1895), 390
Springer, Frank, criticized by Dunham, 438
"Statehood, 1895-1912, New Mexico's Fight

for," Marion Dargan, 70-103, 379-400
Steck, Michael, Indian agent (1852), ?27,

229, 231, 328, 332, 335; to Fort Webster,
345, 348, 350, 352, 358

Steen, Maj. [Enoch], commanding Fort
Webster (1853), 347

Stover & Co. (Albuquerque), contract
(1880) for windmills, 294
Sulzbacher, Luis, quoted (1894), 82; men­

tioned (1892) for chief justice, 97
Sumner, Col. E. V., 207, 210, 211; contro­

versy (1853) wtih Gov. Lane, 343-5; 349,
353 (note)

Sutherland, James R., quoted (1882) vs.
J. L. Johnston & Co. of Santa Fe, 297,
298; 302, 305

Talaban, Fray Juan, custodian (1667), 313
Tamuche, war captain, of Capote Utahs
(1852), 224 .
Taos, troops at, 133; Indian annuities dis­

tributed (1852), 216-7, 224; in Mexican
times, 367-378 passim

Taos Indians, hostile (1608), 6
Taos pueblo, gen{saros at, (1750), 69
Taos fair, annual, 176-7, 178
Tapia, Father Gonzalo de, Jesuit proto­

martyr, mention, 111
Tarver, B. E., quoted (1857), 140
Taylor, Rev. Charles A., Presbyterian mis-

sionary among Moqui (1880), 304
Teguay6, El Gran, described (1745), 58-9
Teller, (U. S.) Senator, criticized, 436, 437
Tewa Indians, refugees in Hopiland, 43,

note
Texans (Asinay Indians), 256, 257
Texas (1848), 8th Military Department, 127

Thomas, A. B., quoted, 259; cited, 270
(note)

Thomas, B. M., Pueblo Indian agent,
quoted (1882), 290

Thornton, Gov. Wm. T., called convention
(1893) on statehood, 72-3; quoted (1894)
82; (1895), 88

Tigua Indians, fled (1680) to the Moqui, 42
Tithes, paid (1852) by Pueblos to vicar in

Santa Fe, 215
Tlapa, the repartimento called, 402, 403

(note)
Toledo, Fray Juan Jose, 46; at Pecos

(1752), 270
Toma. See La Toma
Tome, founded with gen{zaros (1740),68-9
Torija, Fray Gabriel de, quoted (1662), 16,

25
Torre, Fray Rodriguez de la, visited Moqui

(1775), 49
Townsend, Inspector E. B., quoted (1880)

296, 297, 300. 302, 304, 305
Trade, between Louisiana and New Mexico,

249-274
Trail, Louisiana to Santa Fe, 263-4, 272-4;

Santa Fe to California (1853), 37~, 373
Trampas river (1733), 55
Tremiiio, Francisco, Inquisition csse

(1670), 321
Trevino, Gov. Juan Francisco de. (1675­

77), supported friars with· force, 322
Trias, Gov., of Chihuahua (1853), 209

(note), 210, 337
Trigo, Fray Cayetano, in Navaho missions

(1749), 61
Trigo, Fray Manuel de San Juan Nepo­

meceno y. mention (1749), 61; vice-cus­
todian (1750), 63-4; 150

"Troublous Times in N. Mex., 1650-70,"
by F. V. Scholes, 15-40; 184-205, 313-327

Trujillo, Diego de, alcalde mayor of EI
Paso, 17 (note)

Turquoise, seen in Sonora (1539), 241
Twitchell, R. E., quoted, 1; cited, 44-8, 69

206; quoted 264-6, 382, 436-7

Ugarte, Gov. Hernando de, cited (1653), 9
Utes, fighting Navaho (1748), 60; 18th

century, 172, 174; (1852), 215, 216;
waiting for Indian supt. in "Los Baye­
citos," 217, 218, 222 (note) 224; (in
1880),301 (note), 303, 304; (1853), 329,
345, 348, 351, 357, 369

Vacapa, Sauer's locating of, questioned,
245-6
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Ximenez. Fray Llizaro. quoted. 5

(Barnie). Indian
trader's agent at
297. 299, 300. 308.

Vales (notes in hand), mention (1664), 35
Valle. Alexander. Frenchman in Pecos

Valley (1853), 354-8 passim
Valley Ranch (Pecos). origin, 354
Valle. Marques del. conspiracy (1566). 419­

420. 423
Vaquero Apaches. mention 2, 3, 6. 8
Vargas and the Reconquest of New Mexico.

1692-1701,. Diego de. by Bailey. rev·d.
108-111

Varo. Fray Andres, mention, 41; cited
(1749), 61; 149-150, 154. 155, 156-7. 160.
164-5; report cited. 175-6, 178

Velasco, Fray Francisco de, quoted (1608).
6

Velasco, Fray JDee Ortiz de, custodian
(1733), 55

Velez Cachupln, Gov. Tomas, 60; shot a
neophyte at Cebolleta (1749). 61-3; 149,
160, 168-9. 170. 171; campaign (1751),
174-5; 179. 180, 181

Velo (Belleau?). Jacques. (1744).264-5
Vermejo, Fray Manuel, at Cebolleta mis­

sion (1749),60; ejected (1750).64; 150;
at Zia. 157-160

Vetancurt. Fray Agustin de. quoted 322-3
V ial. Pierre. trailmaker, 272-4
Vicar, at Santa Fe (1740). 262; one

wanted (1667). 318-9
Villanueva. Gov. Fernando de, rnt-ntian. 12,

40. 314, 319
Villazur expedition (1720), mention. 258

Waco Indians. 128
Wagner. Henry R .• cited by Sauer. 233. 239
Wagons. mention (1659), 11; (1677). 13
Wallace, Governor Lew. mention, 436
Walpi. mention. 43 (note), 48 (note)
Walter, P. A. F., rev's. Dunne. Pioneer

Black Robes on the West Coast, 111-2;
necrologies on Woodruff, J. L. Seligman.
Gardesky, '116-120; "Henry Bert Jones."
247-8; rev's, Dunham. GO"J<rnment Hand­
out. 435-8; necrologies on G. W. Hay,
C. A. Reynolds. Claude T. Smith. Geo. C.
Lougee, H. L. Patton, Chas. C. Gilbert.
439-444

Ward. John, journal (1852-3). 206-232,
328-358; his census of Pueblo Indians
cited. 207

Warner. Capt. Wm. H .• murder of. 137
Warner's Ranch (Calif.), fort at. 137
Watts. J"dge John S., arrival (1852). 221
Weaving. by Indians. 159. 161. 163
Webb. James J., named appraiser (1853).

334; 347

Western America. by Hafen and Rister,
rev'd. 432-3

Wethered. Geo. W .• at Santa Fe (1853),
352

Wharton. S. M.• editor (1901), 389-90. 393
(note)

Whipple, Lieut, A. W.. and Leroux. 376,
377

White. Arthur S., necrology, 122-4
White, Mrs. J. M.• Indian cavtive (18.19),

333. 369
White party massacre (1849), Indian side.

333. note; 369
Whiting. David V .• sec'y of J. S. Calhoun

(1852). 227 (note). 229. 230. 232, 334
"Whitlock. Death of Dr. J. W .... by Mrs.

B. C. Hernandez, 104-6
Whitlock. Mrs. Josefita Lucero. wife of Dr.

Whitlock. 104
Whitlock. Jr.• the Rev. J. M., facts about,

104. 105
Whitney. Dr. Walter. at Fort Defiance

(1878), 275 (note). 298
Whittlesey, Lieut. Joseph H.. mention

(1849). 369
Wilbar. A. P., U. S. surveyor general,

(1861), 368, note
Williams. George M.

trader (1880). 286;
Pueblo. Colo. (1882).
309

Windmills (in 1880). 294
Wingfield. Edward H.. Indian agent, 213

(note), 221. 224; report from Copper
mines (1852). 232; (1853), 339, 349

Woodruff. Mrs. Henry. necrology. 116-7
Woolen mantas. in trade (1749), 176
Worcester. Donald E .• "Beginnings of the

Apache Menace of the Southwest," 1-14
Wright. Irene A., mention. 447

Yniesta. Fray Agustin de, chaplain (1750).
182

Yrigoyen, Fray Jose. See Irigoyen
Yraeta. Fray Crist6bal, quoted, 45

Zacatecas. mention (1661), 189
Zofre, Martin, ranch acquired by Boca­

negra. 422
Zubiria. Jose Antonio Laureano. bishop of

Durango, mention. 378
Zuni, 235, 236, 242-3. 290. See Hawikuh
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CONSTITUTION
OF THE

HISTORICAL SOCIETY OF NEW MEXICO

(As amended Nov. 19, 1929)

Article 1. Name. This Society shall be called the Historical Society
of New Mexico.

Article 2. Objects and Operation. The objects of the Society shall be,
in general, the promotion of historical studies; and in particular, the
discovery, collection, preservation, and publication of historical ma­
terial, especially such as relates to New Mexico.

Article 3. Membership. The Society shall consist of Members, Fel­
lows, Life Members and Honorary Life Members.

(a) Members. Persons recommended by the Executive Council
and elected by the Society may become members.

(b) Fellows. Members who show, by published work, special
aptitude for historical investigation may become Fellows. Immedi­
ately following the adoption of this Constitution, the Executive
Council shall elect five Fellows, and the body thus created may there­
after elect additional Fellows on the nomination of the Executive
Council. The number of Fellows shall never exceed twenty-five.

(c) Life Members. In addition to life members of the Historical
Society of New Mexico at the date of the adoption hereof, such other
benefactors of the Society as shall pay into its treasury at one time
the sum of fifty dollars, or shall present to the Society an equivalent
in books, manuscripts, portraits, or other acceptable material of an
historic nature, may upon recommendation by the Executive Council
and election by the Society, be classed as Life Members.

(d) Honorary Life Members. Persons who have rendered emi­
nent service to New Mexico and others who have, by published work,
contributed to the historical literature of New Mexico or the South­
west, may become Honorary Life Members upon being recommended
by the Executive Council and elected by the Society.

Article 4. Officers. The elective officers of the Society shall be a
president, two vice-presidents, a corresponding secretary and treas­
urer, and a recording secretary; and these five officers shall constitute
the Executive Council with full administrative powers.

Officers shall qualify on January 1st following their election, and
shall hold office for the term of two years and until their successors
shall have been elected and qualified.



Article 5. Elections. At the October meeting of each odd-numbered
year, a nominating committee shall be named by the president of the
Society and such committee shall make its report to the Society at
the November meeting. Nominations may be made from the floor
and the Society shall, in open meeting, proceed to elect its officers by
ballot, those nominees receiving a majority of the votes cast for the
respective offices to be declared elected.

Article 6. Dues. Dues shall be $3.00 for each calendar year, and
shall entitle members to receive bulletins as published and also the
Historical Review.

Article 7. Publications. All publications of the Society and the selec­
tion and editing of matter for publication shall be under the direction
and control of the Executive Council.

Article 8. Meetings. Monthly meetings of the Society shall be held at
the rooms of the Society on the third Tuesday of each month at
eight P. M. The Executive Council shall meet at any time upon call
of the President or of three of its members.

Article 9. Quorums. Seven members of the Society and three mem­
bers of the Executive Council, shall constitute quorums.

Article 10. Amendments. Amendments to this constitution shall be­
come operative after being recommended by the Executive Council
and approved by two-thirds of the members present and voting at
any regular monthly meeting; provided, that notice of the proposed
amendment shall have been given at a regular meeting of the Society,
at least four weeks prior to the meeting when such proposed amend­
ment is passed upon by the Society.

Students and friends of Southwestern History are cordially in­
vited to become members. Applications should be addressed to the
corresponding secretary, Lansing B. Bloom, University of New Mexico.
Albuquerque, New Mexico.
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